Doctoral theses at NTNU, 2023:189

Apsana Lamsal

Autophagy in tissues and solid tumors controlled by infiltrating immune cells

NTNU

Norwegian University of Science and Technology Thesis for the Degree of Philosophiae Doctor Faculty of Natural Sciences Department of Biomedical Laboratory Science



Norwegian University of Science and Technology

Apsana Lamsal

Autophagy in tissues and solid tumors controlled by infiltrating immune cells

Thesis for the Degree of Philosophiae Doctor

Trondheim, June 2023

Norwegian University of Science and Technology Faculty of Natural Sciences Department of Biomedical Laboratory Science



Norwegian University of Science and Technology

NTNU

Norwegian University of Science and Technology

Thesis for the Degree of Philosophiae Doctor

Faculty of Natural Sciences Department of Biomedical Laboratory Science

© Apsana Lamsal

ISBN 978-82-326-7080-2 (printed ver.) ISBN 978-82-326-7079-6 (electronic ver.) ISSN 1503-8181 (printed ver.) ISSN 2703-8084 (online ver.)

Doctoral theses at NTNU, 2023:189

Printed by NTNU Grafisk senter

Nye angrepspunkter for målrettet behandling av aggressiv kreft

Brystkreft er en av de mest utbredte kreftformene og vi har i dag gode behandlingsformer. Hos noen brystkreftpasienter vil likevel kreftceller sprer seg fra den opprinnelige svulsten og etablere seg nye steder i kroppen. Brystkreft med spredning er vanskelig å behandle og gir dårlig prognose for pasienten.

Målet med prosjektet var å bidra til økt kunnskap om de underliggende mekanismene for aggressiv kreftutvikling. Håpet er at dette skal bidra til forbedret prognose for pasienter med aggressiv kreftutvikling.

Immunsystemet vårt er viktig for å bekjempe kreft. Noen kreftceller evner imidlertid å unnslippe immunresponsen og dermed overleve og spre seg. De nøyaktige mekanismene for hvordan kreftcellene samsnakker med immunsystemet og fremmer egen overlevelse er imidlertid uklare.

I dette prosjektet fant vi at en spesifikk immunrespons, som er viktige i kroppens forsvar mot kreft, er undertrykt i aggressive kreftsvulster. Vi fant også at et enzym kalt arginase-1 (ARG1) var sentralt i undertrykkelsen av denne responsen. ARG1 bryter ned en viktig næringskilde for kreftcellene og setter dermed i gang en næringsmobiliserende prosess, kalt autofagi inni kreftcellene. I dette prosjektet viser vi hvordan autofagi er svært viktig for å undertrykke immunresponsen og fremme aggressiv kreftutvikling.

Ved kreft er det en spesiell type immunceller som lager ARG1. Det er interessant at den samme typen immunceller og enzymaktivitet også er foreslått å spille en viktig rolle for utvikling av muskeltap hos kreftpasienter. Vi fant tegn på at immuncellene som lager ARG1 var anriket og begrenset næringstilgangen i muskel ved kreftrelatert muskeltap. Vi så at muskelceller som opplever denne næringssulten både satte i gang autofagiprosessen og fikk ytterligere skader som vil kunne redusere muskelmasse og funksjon.

Dette prosjektet gir ny innsikt i mekanismene som driver frem en aggressiv kreftutvikling og kreftrelatert muskeltap. Resultatene danner grunnlag for å vurdere ARG1-enzymet og autofagiprosessen som mulige angrepspunkter for ny, målrettet kreftbehandling.

Kandidat: Apsana Lamsal

Institutt: Institutt for bioingeniørfag (IBF), NTNU Veiledere: Professor Geir Bjørkøy, Forsker Kristine Pettersen, Forsker Miriam S. Giambelluca og Forsker Marina Vietri Finansieringskilder: NTNU

Ovennevnte avhandling er funnet verdig til å forsvares offentlig for graden PhD i medisinsk teknologi. Disputas finner sted onsdag 7. juni på Laboratoriesenteret: LA21

I would like to dedicate my work to my parents, my husband, and my kids to all their sacrifices. To the mountains, smell of the soil, food, and life of Nepal... To everything that were left behind.... And my brother who sent me energy from heaven....

म मेरो काम मेरो आमा बुवा, मेरो श्रीमान् र मेरा बच्चाहरूलाई वहाँहरुको सबै त्यागमा समर्पित गर्न चाहन्छु। हिमाल, पहाड, माटोको सुगन्ध, खानेकुरा, नेपालको जीवन, पछाडी छोडिएका सबै कुराहरुलाई सम्झन चाहन्छु। र मेरो भाइ जसले मलाई स्वर्गबाट ऊर्जा पठाइरह्यो......

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	I
List of Papers	III
Abbreviations	V
Abstract	IX
1 Introduction	1
1.1 Epithelial cancers	1
1.2 Breast Cancer	1
1.2.1 Classification	1
1.2.2 Metastasis and current treatment strategy in breast cancer	2
1.3 Tumor microenvironment	4
1.3.1 Tumor-infiltrating immune cells	5
1.3.2 Hot and cold tumors in immunotherapy	
1.3.3 Tumor-promoting inflammation	9
1.4 Innate immune signaling	
1.4.1 Interferons in innate immune response	
1.4.2 Type I IFN and cGAS-STING signaling	
1.4.3 IFN-I dysregulation in cancer	15
1.5 Autophagy	15
1.5.1 The core autophagy machinery and the autophagic process	16
1.5.2 Selective Autophagy and Sequestosome Like Receptors (SLRs)	
1.5.3 Context dependent role of autophagy in cancer	19
1.5.4 Autophagy and metabolic reprogramming in cancer cells	
1.5.5 Interplay between autophagy and immune responses	26
1.6 Cancer cachexia	
1.6.1 Mechanisms of muscle loss in cancer cachexia	
1.6.2 Potential mediators of muscle loss in cancer cachexia	
1.6.3 Immune cells in cachexia	29
1.6.4 Autophagy and muscle loss in cancer cachexia	
1.7 Models used in study	
2 Aims of Study	35
3 Summary of papers	
4 Discussion	
4.1 Choosing "an appropriate" model	44
4.2 Amino acid metabolism: a key player in innate immune response	45
4.3 Arginine restriction as a signal for autophagy induction	47

4.4 Crosstalk between immune suppressive cell, autophagy, and innate immune response	
4.5 MDSCS: An emerging player in cancer Cachexia	
4.6 The future of Arginase and autophagy inhibitors	51
5 Future Perspectives	55
6 Conclusion	57
7 References	

Acknowledgements

This work was carried out at the Centre of Molecular Inflammation Research (CEMIR), at the Department of Biomedical Laboratory Science at the Faculty of Natural Sciences, Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU), Trondheim. I am truly grateful for the funding from NTNU that has allowed me to do this work.

First, I would like to extend my sincere gratitude to my main supervisor Geir Bjørkøy not only for his continuous support and guidance throughout my PhD but also for his patience, motivation, enthusiasm, and immense knowledge. Your encouragement over the last years is something I sincerely appreciate.

My deepest gratitude to my co-supervisors, Kristine Pettersen, Miriam Giambelluca, and Marina Vietri for your continuous supervision. I had the opportunity to strengthen my troubleshooting and analytical thinking skills, essential for my research career. I could not have imagined having a better advisor and mentor for my thesis. Kristine, I really appreciate working together with you and I'm thankful for all the discussions over the last years. Miriam, for always guiding me and checking in on me, I appreciate it a lot. To Marina, that I met in middle of the project. I really appreciate the opportunity that you gave me to perform experiments in your lab. I admire your enthusiasm and ready to perform everything that is interesting. You are a great scientist.

I would like to mention a huge thanks to Sonja in assisting in my procedures, all the analytics, readings, corrections, and encouragement. I must say without you I would have not been able to succeed. Ida for being involved in the project specially during my absence, always having time to read and giving valuable feedbacks. To my office friend Camilla "our google queen", I value you very much, thank you for being as amazing as you are and especially for your support during the hard times, listening to me when I was stressed. Also, for reading the thesis and helping with technicalities during submission. To all past and present members of the "Autophagy group", thank you for creating a fun, inspiring and great work environment.

Special thanks to Nikolai Engedal for allowing to perform experiments in your lab. I appreciate your interest in my project and helping me with the autophagy assays and even looking into raw data closely, answering my long emails. I should say you have amazing lab members. Julia, Natalie, Christina, thank you for making me feel that I was the part of your lab. The longer lab days were much easier having so lovely people around. Nordic autophagy Society for providing the Lab exchange grant.

I would like to extend my gratitude to all my coauthors, without whom this would not have been possible. To my colleagues at CEMIR, I appreciate being part of such a diverse and inspiring research environment.

I am grateful to my family in Nepal for enduring my absence the last years and for always supporting me. To my husband Pushpa, thank you for encouraging me to always do my best. Your love and support have been very much appreciated and indispensable through this time. Thank you for always being interested in my work and at the same time delivering and bringing kids from kindergarten, making dinner every day when I was working early and late. To my little kids Prazna and Aarnav who constantly tolerated my absence.

Apsana Lamsal, February 2023

List of Papers Paper I:

Lamsal Apsana, Andersen Sonja Benedikte, Johansson Ida, Vietri Marina, Bokil Ansooya Avinash, Kurganovs Natalie Jayne, Rylander Felicia, Bjørkøy Geir, Pettersen Kristine*, Giambelluca Miriam S*

Opposite and dynamic regulation of the Interferon response in metastatic and non-metastatic breast cancer. *Cell Commun Signal 2023 Mar 7;21(1):50*

Paper II:

Lamsal Apsana, Andersen Sonja Benedikte, Vietri Marina, Johansson Ida, Engedal Nikolai, Bjørkøy Geir, Giambelluca Miriam S*, Pettersen Kristine*

Local arginine restriction dampens IFN-I response via autophagy in breast cancer *Manuscript*

Paper III:

Lamsal Apsana, Andersen Sonja Benedikte, Nonstad Unni, Bjørkøy Geir, Pettersen Kristine

A role of Arginase-1 expressing myeloid cells in cachexia

Manuscript

Paper not included in the thesis:

Bokil Ansooya A, Børkja Mathieu Le Boulvais, Wolowczyk Camilla, **Lamsal Apsana**, Prestvik Wenche S, Nonstad Unni, Pettersen Kristine, Andersen Sonja Benedikte, Bofin Anna M., Bjørkøy Geir, Hak Sjoerd*, Giambelluca Miriam S*

Discovery of new markers to identify pro-metastatic myeloid cells in breast cancer

(Submitted: NPJ Breast Cancer)

Abbreviations

AKT	Protein kinase B
ALRs	AIM2 (absent in melanoma 2) like receptors
АМРК	Adenosine monophosphate -activated protein kinase
ARG1	Arginase 1
ARG2	Arginase 2
ASL	Argininosuccinate lyase
ASS1	Argininosuccinate synthase 1
ATG	Autophagy related gene
BECN1	Beclin-1
BNIP3	BCL2/adenovirus E1B 19kDa interacting protein 3
BNIP3L	BCL2/adenovirus E1B 19kDa interacting protein 3-like
CAF	Cancer-associated fibroblast
CAR	Chimeric antigen receptor
CASTOR1	Cytosolic arginine sensor for mTORC1 subunit 1
CAT	Cationic amino acid transporters
CCL	C-C motif chemokine ligand
CCLE	Cancer cell line encyclopedia
CCR	C-C motif chemokine receptor
CD	Cluster of differentiation
cGAMP	Cyclic guanosine monophosphate adenosine monophosphate
cGAS	Cyclic GMP-AMP synthase
CLR	C-type lectin receptors
COX2	Cyclooxygenase 2
CQ	Choloroquine
CXCL	C-X-C motif chemokine ligand
CXCR	C-X-C motif chemokine receptor
cytDNA	Cytosolic deoxyribonucleic acid
DAMP	Damage associated molecular pattern
DFCP1	Zinc finger FYVE-type containing 1
dsDNA	Double-stranded deoxyribonucleic acid
ECM	Extracellular matrix

EGF	Epidermal growth factor
EMT	Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition
ER	Estrogen receptor
ERK	Extracellular regulated MAP kinase
ESCRT	Endosomal sorting complex required for transport
FIP200	Focal adhesion kinase family interacting protein of 200 kDa
GABARAP	$\gamma\text{-aminobutyric}$ acid (GABA)-receptor associated protein
GAS	γ-activated sequences
GATOR2	GTPase-activating protein (GAP) activity toward RAGs 2
GM-CSF	Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor
HCQ	Hydroxycholoroquine
HER2	Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2
HIF1A	Hypoxia inducible factor 1 subunit alpha
ICI	immune checkpoint inhibitor
IDO1	Indoleamine-pyrrole 2,3-dioxygenase 1
IFIT3	Interferon-induced protein with tetratricopeptide repeats 3
IFN	Interferon
IFNAR	Interferon-alpha/beta receptor
IFNLR1	IFN-λ receptor 1
IL	Interleukin
iNOS	Inducible Nitric oxide synthase
IRF3	Interferon regulatory factor 3
ISGs	Interferon-simulated genes
ISREs	IFN-stimulated response element
JAK	Janus kinase
JAK/STAT	Janus kinase signal transducer and activator of transcription
LIR	LC3 interacting region
LLC	Lewis lung carcinoma
MAP1LC3	Microtubule-associated protein light chain 3
МАРК	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MARCO	Macrophage receptor with collagenous structure
MDSC	Myeloid deriver suppressor cells

MHC	Major histocompability complex
MMP	Matrix metalloproteinase
mtDNA	Mitochondrial deoxyribonucleic acid
mTOR	Mechanistic target of rapamycin kinase
mTORC1/2	mTOR complex 1/2
NBR1	Neighbor of BRCA1 gene 1
NDP52	Nuclear dot protein 52 kDa
NFE2L2	Nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (also called NRF2)
NF-κB	Nuclear factor kappa-light chain enhancer of activated B cells
NK	Natural killer
NLRs	Nucleotide-binding and oligomerization domain (NOD)-like receptors
NO	Nitric oxide
NOS	Nitric oxide synthase
NRF2	Nuclear factor erythroid-derived 2-like 2
O2	Oxygen
OXPHOS	Oxidative phosphorylation
PAMP	Pathogen-associated molecular pattern
Parp	polyadenosine diphosphate-ribose polymerase
PD-1	PD-1 Programmed cell death 1
PD-L1	PD ligand 1
PE	Phosphatidylethanolamine
PI3K	Phosphoinositide 3-kinase
PMN	Polymorphonuclear
PR	Progesterone receptor
PRRs	Pattern-recognition receptors
RAS	Rat sarcoma viral oncogene homolog
RLRs	Retinoic acid-inducible gene-I (RIG-I)-like receptors
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
S100A	S100 calcium binding protein A
SLC	Solute carrier family
SLRs	Sequestosome 1-like receptors
SQSTM1	Sequestosome 1

STAT	Signal transducers and activators of transcription
STING	Stimulator of interferon genes
TAM	Tumor-associated macrophage
TAX1BP1	Tax1-binding protein 1
TCR	T cell receptor
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TME	Tumor microenvironment
TNBC	Triple negative breast cancer
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
Treg	Regulatory T cell
TREX	Three Prime Repair Exonuclease
TYK2	Tyrosine kinase 2
UBA	Ubiquitin-associated domain
ULK1/2	Unc-51-like kinase1/2
UPS	Ubiquitin-proteasome system
WIPI	WD-repeat protein interacting with phosphoinositide

Abstract

To maintain homeostasis, cells need to adjust to exogenous and endogenous damage signals. Cancer cells are prone to release endogenous damage signals due to dysregulation of cell division or cell death. Both extracellular and, importantly, intracellular damage is reported to the immune system. The innate immune system responds to this damage by production of interferons and induction of autophagy. Autophagy, a "recycling station" in a cell, removes and recycles damaged proteins and organelles and delivers essential nutrients back to the cells. This process, which is important for cellular defenses, can also unfortunately cause harm. This is because autophagy can regulate inflammatory responses inside a cell, and an important example is that autophagy can suppress the IFN response by clearing these damage signals. It is acknowledged that IFNs are beneficial for cancer patients, and accordingly IFNs are usually suppressed in aggressive tumors. It is therefore interesting to gain a depth knowledge on why some tumors are difficult to treat and appear as "never healing wounds". At the same time, an array of cells like immune cells, epithelial cells, fibroblast, and extracellular matrix collectively forms a tumor niche. This plays a crucial role in shaping a tumor. Tumors with immuno-suppressing ability are favorable for the cancer itself, while tumors with immune-enhancing traits are beneficial for the patient. The objective of this work was to provide more knowledge about the interplay between the cancer cells and the immune system in facilitating tumorigenesis as well as promoting cancer related muscle loss in cachexia.

In paper I, using transcriptomics in a model of aggressive, triple negative breast cancer (TNBC), we found that 11 IFN-I related genes (IFN-I signature) were constitutively active in the metastatic breast cancer cells when grown in culture. In contrast, this IFN-I signature was significantly dampened when these cells formed a primary mammary tumor in immunocompetent mice. This IFN-I gene signature was validated in TNBC patients using meta-analysis in a publicly available database. We observed that a lower IFN-I signature correlated with poor overall and relapse free survival in TNBC patients, supporting the importance of the IFN-I response in breast cancer prognosis. These data led us to hypothesize that immunosuppressive cells present in an aggressive tumor might be key players in suppressing the IFN-I response in the tumor. In paper II, we found that metastatic-competent primary tumors have elevated arginase-1 (ARG1) levels compared to non-metastatic primary tumors. It is known that ARG1 is produced by myeloid cells and that it exerts an immunosuppressive role in multiple cancer types by limiting arginine availability. Restricting the metastatic breast cancer cells with the essential amino acid arginine, dampened the IFN-I response and induced the autophagy process. Thus, we have showed that induction of autophagy upon arginine restriction regulates the IFN-I signaling in aggressive breast cancer cells. We also identified that autophagy targets the upstream signals of the cGAS-STING pathway involved in IFN-I production.

We have also provided data supporting that these immunosuppressive cells are not only confined to the tumors, but also have a role outside the tumor in the severe, systemic muscle wasting condition called cachexia. The role of autophagy and immunosuppressive cells is emerging in the ongoing process of understanding the mechanisms of cachexia development. In paper III, we found that weight loss in cancer patients positively correlated with ARG1 levels in the plasma, indicating ARG1 as an important prognostic marker. Arginine restriction in skeletal muscle cells and cardiomyocytes severely impaired mitochondrial functions and induced the autophagy process. These three studies and our unpublished data identify ARG1 and autophagy both as potential therapeutic targets for treatment of aggressive breast cancer and reversal of muscle loss in cachexia.

1.1 Epithelial cancers

Epithelial tissues that serve as a barrier between the body and outer surroundings are an important site for cancer development. Around 90% of human cancers emerge from the epithelial tissue and are termed carcinomas [1]. The most common carcinomas include skin, breast, kidney, liver, lungs, pancreas, prostate gland, head, and neck carcinoma. In breast tissues, the cancer especially arises from the luminal epithelial cells lining both the milk-producing lobules and ducts. Occasionally, breast cancer can also form sarcomas rising from the stromal components of the breast [2]. Here, only epithelial breast cancer will be discussed further.

1.2 Breast Cancer

Female breast cancer is estimated to be the most diagnosed cancer worldwide with approximately 2.3 million new cases annually and 685,000 deaths, thus being the leading cause of death in women and a true global health challenge [3]. The incidence and mortality rate of female breast cancer is higher in western parts of the world with higher human development index. This is partly due to high prevalence of reproductive, hormonal and lifestyle associated risk factors along with higher mammographic screening [4]. In Norway, 4023 new cases were registered in 2021, being the highest number registered to date [5, 6]. The Norwegian cancer registry was established in 1951 and the screening program "BreastScreen" was started in 1996 [5]. In this breast cancer screening program, all women between the ages of 50 and 69 are offered screening mammography every other year. The overall 5-year survival rate for breast cancer patients in Norway increased from 91.4% to 92.3% from 2016 to 2021. Despite this, 591 women and 10 men died of breast cancer in 2021 in Norway [5, 6].

1.2.1 Classification

Before the launching of the 8th edition of the American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) staging manual, breast cancer was commonly classified by an anatomical staging method [7]. Based on clinical and pathological examinations, tumors were classified by primary tumor size (T), nodal involvement (N), and metastasis (M), also known as TNM classification. Later, advancement in the understanding of gene expression patterns and prognostic biomarkers allowed oncologists and clinicians to realize that patients with similarly staged cancers can have different outcomes [8]. Based on the expression of estrogen receptor (ER), progesterone receptor (PR), human epidermal growth factor receptor2 (HER2) and the proliferation marker Ki-67, five intrinsic molecular subtypes have been classified [9, 10]. These include triple-negative/basal-like, HER2 enriched, luminal A, luminal B, and normal-like (Figure 1). Even if there are apparent overlap between the Luminal A and the Normal-like subtypes, extensive expression profile analyses confirm that these are indeed separate subtypes and should not be integrated for treatment[11, 12].



Figure 1. Breast cancer molecular subtypes. The five main molecular subtypes of breast cancer (ER: estrogen receptor, PR: progesterone receptor, HER2: human epidermal growth factor receptor 2, Ki-67: proliferation index marker). This figure is created in biorender.com. with modifications from [13].

High throughput gene expression studies using patient biopsies emerged in the past few years have identified distinct gene expression signatures. These signatures provide improved classification of the patient groups, beyond the distinction between the five subtypes listed above, and assist in developing specific treatment strategies. Several gene expression signatures like Mammaprint, Oncotype DX, Nanostring producing Prosigna (PAM50), Breast Cancer Index and Curebest are already in use in clinics [14-18].

1.2.2 Metastasis and current treatment strategy in breast cancer

Metastasis is a primary cause of death in all cancer patients including breast cancer [19]. Metastasis is an inefficient process where most cancer cells released from the primary tumor die, and only very few cells form distant metastases [20]. During metastasis, cancerous cells of the primary tumor acquire an epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) phenotype, enabling them to break through the basal membrane, invade neighboring tissues, reach the bloodstream or lymphatic system, and disseminate into other organs [21]. Primary breast cancer cells tend to metastasize to lymph nodes, lungs, liver, bones, brain, and pleura [22, 23]. It is also known that primary breast cancer cells establish a premetastatic niche pivotal for metastasis development, aiding support for the "seed and soil" theory introduced by Sir Stephen Paget in 1889 [24]. Metastases can stay dormant for several years, making them clinically undetectable until they are reactivated and difficult to treat.

For the last 150 years and until 1980s, most women with breast cancer underwent complete removal of the breast tissue. Surgery is still a common practice, but other treatments such as adjuvant chemotherapy, radiotherapy and immunotherapy are all used in the clinic today [25, 26]. The German Society of Radiation Oncology (DEGRO) published guidelines for breast cancer treatment using radiotherapy. The panel recommends that surgery should be followed up by radiotherapy to wipe out the remaining cancer cells within the tissue. Systemic neoadiuvant therapy should be given to primarily unresectable and inflammatory breast cancer, followed by surgery and radiotherapy [27]. Systemic therapy, including hormone therapy, chemotherapy, immunotherapy, and molecular target therapy is important for improving disease-free survival, overall survival, and risk of metastasis. Adjuvant systemic therapy is associated with prolonged survival by treating latent micro-metastases [16]. Hormone therapy is exclusively given to the patient based on the hormone receptor expression according to the breast cancer subtypes (Figure 1). For example, Trastuzumab, an anti-HER2 target therapy, in combination with adjuvant chemotherapy is recommended for patients with HER2-positive tumors [28]. Adjuvant therapy using aromatase inhibitor that blocks production of estrogen or blocks action of estrogen on the receptors is mostly used in post-menopausal women [29-31]. Neoadiuvant chemotherapy is used in early and locally advanced breast cancer patients [32]. Randomized control trials in patients have shown that chemotherapy can also be administered prior to surgery to attain beneficial effects [33].

Since tumors can escape immune surveillance and resist the cytotoxic effect of host T cells, immunotherapy using checkpoint inhibitors have now emerged, allowing proper immune recognition and execution of cancer cells [34]. Patients with triple negative breast cancer do not respond to conventional hormone therapy, but a fraction of these patients benefit from immune checkpoint inhibitors targeting the programmed cell death-1 (PD-1) receptor or PD ligand 1(PD-L1) [35, 36]. Recent studies have highlighted the combination therapy of anti-PD-L1 and polyadenosine diphosphate-ribose polymerase (PARP) inhibitor, an enzyme involved in DNA repair, as a novel therapeutic approach in breast cancer treatment [37]. Chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cell therapy is a new form of immunotherapy with promising results. This involves isolating T cells from the patient and further engineering them *ex vivo* to express synthetic receptors that recognize tumor-associated antigens, and then infuse these back into the patients to provide a strong immune response. There are several ongoing and completed clinical trials of CART cell therapy in multiple breast cancer subtypes [38, 39]. Despite the clear advances in both diagnosis and treatment of breast cancer, for the tumors that have metastasized or for specific breast cancer subtypes there are still limited efficient treatment options. This strongly emphasizes the demand for further research.

1.3 Tumor microenvironment

Tumorigenesis requires the cancer cells to obtain different functional capabilities to form malignant tumors, as described in the recent update of the classical "Hallmarks of Cancer" by Hanahan [40]. A total of ten hallmarks have been defined, and in addition two "emerging" hallmarks and two "enabling characteristics" have been described [40, 41] (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Hallmarks of cancer and the tumor microenvironment. The illustration shows several cell types along with cancer cell inside a tumor, together forming a tumor microenvironment (TME). The complex process of tumor formation involves multiple changes in the cancer cells, enabling them to obtain a plethora of functional capabilities needed to form a malignant tumor. The hallmarks of cancer currently include ten hallmarks (in black) plus two "emerging" hallmarks (in green) and two "enabling characteristics" (in red). Created with biorender.com with adaptations from [40-43].

In a solid tumor, transformed cancer cells collaborate with multiple players, including fibroblasts, endothelial cells, infiltrating immune cells, blood vessels, signaling molecules, dendritic cells, secreted factors, and extracellular matrix collectively comprising the tumor microenvironment (TME) (Figure 2). All the cells within the TME are embedded into the extracellular matrix that assists in the attachment and communication of different cells [44]. The TME also contributes with physiological components such as oxygen, metabolic products, growth factors and nutrients that the cancer cells can utilize [45]. The intercommunication between cancer cells and the other TME constituents, greatly impacts tumor development by influencing processes that can lead to either tumor eradication or tumor progression and metastasis [46-48]. The TME is an essential determinant for cancer cell survival and metastasis, as

it influences response to therapies, development of local resistance and immune escape [49]. Thus, developing TME-targeting therapies that can be combined with conventional cancer therapy will be an important strategy to achieve better clinical outcomes.

1.3.1 Tumor-infiltrating immune cells

The immune infiltration of tumors is closely linked to patient prognosis and clinical outcome [50]. This depends on both the type and number of immune cells found in the tumor. The immune cells are recruited and polarized by secreted factors in the TME, resulting in a diverse cell population with both anti-tumorigenic and pro-tumorigenic properties [51]. Thus, the immune cells that could recognize the transformed cancer cells are edited to support tumor progression and survival. Avoiding immune destruction is now considered a core hallmark of cancer [40]. The secretion of immunomodulatory compounds from cancer cells and other cells in the TME influence the function of the recruited immune cells, and the dynamic composition allows the TME to shift between an immunosuppressive and an immune-promoting state [52]. Due to the plasticity of immune cells in response to the shifting TME, it is challenging to classify the different immune cell types as either tumor-promoting or tumorsuppressive [52]. However, numerous studies have shown that it is favorable to have a high lymphocyteto-myeloid cell ratio [53, 54]. The good prognosis is predominantly seen in tumors highly infiltrated by cytotoxic and/or memory T cells, while infiltration of regulatory T cells correlates with a poorer prognosis [55]. In addition to the T cell infiltration, the cancer cells themselves also exploit the natural regulation of T cells by upregulating receptors to inhibit their activation and survival [56, 57]. This led to the discovery and use of immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs). ICIs block the immunosuppressive receptors and revive the exhausted T cells, including CD8+T cells [58, 59].

The impact of B cells in tumorigenesis has long been underestimated, but recent studies have revealed a prominent role for this population [60]. B cells are found in smaller quantities than T cells in tumors, but the number of antibodies and cytokines they produce can have a large impact on the TME. B cells can produce specific cytokines like TNF, CCL3, GM-CSF, IL-6, IL-17, and IL-2 that can boost effector and memory T cell functions. At the same time, B cells can also suppress inflammatory immune response via IL-10 and IL-35 production [61, 62]. B cells can further have regulatory function via PD-1 or PD-L1 expression and suppress the T cell function by CD39 and CD73 expression [63-65]. NK cells, on the other hand, are quite known for their anti-tumor properties. Through release of cytotoxic granules, NK cells are involved in a prompt intervention against cancer cells and thus correlate with a good prognosis [66, 67]. However, NK cells can also adopt pro-tumorigenic traits in response to the TME's attempt to evade the immunosurveillance of these immune cells [68].

Also innate immune cells such as neutrophils, dendritic cells and macrophages are essential components in the TME. Due to their heterogeneity and plasticity, these cells can polarize into different phenotypes.

Macrophages are classified as M1 (classically activated) when they exert anti-tumorigenic properties, and M2 (alternatively activated) when they act pro-tumorigenic [69, 70]. However, this reductionistic view of polarization does not grasp the complexity of the acquired phenotypes of these cells. In cancer, increased neutrophil expression is usually associated with poor prognosis, and neutrophils are thought as a potential target in cancer treatment [71]. However, the intratumoral neutrophils have shown different patient outcome; positive correlation in gastric cancer [72], negative in renal cancer and melanoma or no correlation in lung cancer [73-75].

1.3.1.1 Myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs)

Another immunosuppressive cell population, myeloid derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), is the heterogenous population of immature myeloid cells infiltrating the tumor [76]. In healthy individuals, MDSCs are present at low levels but their number increases during cancer development and other chronic inflammations [77-79]. MDSCs are recruited from bone marrow to peripheral lymphoid organs and tumor sites by chemokines and inflammatory proteins such as C-C motif chemokine ligand (CCL) 2 and 3, chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand (CXCL) 1, 2 and 5, and S100 calcium binding protein A (S100A) 8/9 [80-88]. MDSCs can be classified into polymorphonuclear (PMN-MDSC) and monocytic (Mo-MDSC), depending on the similarities to either recruited neutrophils or monocytes, respectively [89].

MDSCs exert immunosuppressive functions in tumors. This is mainly because MDSCs control T cell activity through several mechanisms including ROS production, elevated arginase (ARG) and inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) expression, IL-10 production etc. [90]. MDSCs metabolically target T cells by competing for specific amino acids. For example, cysteine is an essential amino acid for T cell function and proliferation, but it cannot be synthesized *de novo* by T cells. This is because T cells do not express the enzyme cystathionase needed for cysteine synthesis, and they also lack the xCT chain of a heterodimeric cysteine-glutamate antiporter making them unable to take up the oxidized cysteinedimer cystine, which normally is reduced back to cysteine intracellularly [91, 92]. Through the expression of ARG and iNOS, MDSCs can reduce the level of the semi-essential amino acid arginine, and arginine depletion is destructive for T cell function and survival [77, 93-97]. ARG depletes the arginine level by converting it to ornithine and urea. iNOS on the other hand, converts arginine to nitric oxide (NO) and citrulline [98]. The mechanism behind the biological effects of arginine depletion is that intracellular arginine levels regulate numerous metabolic pathways including glycolysis and oxidative phosphorylation. A mass spectrometry-based metabolomic and proteomic study in T cells showed that arginine was essential for both activated CD4+ and CD8+ T cells, but that the downstream metabolite NO had no effect on T cell survival [96]. However, several other studies have shown that elevated NO has a potential role in suppression of T cell proliferation, as well as a role in regulating differentiation and activation of T cells [99-101].

Various studies have shown the correlation between intratumoral MDSC frequency, tumor stage and metastasis, highlighting the clinical significance of these cells [95, 102, 103]. MDSCs are key constituents of the premetastatic niches in distant organs that mediate metastasis formation in combination with decreased NK cell cytotoxicity and T cell anergy [104-106]. In the 3LL lung metastasis mouse model, MDSC depletion was also associated with increased CD8+ T cell and effector NK cell population, increased interferon-gamma (IFN- γ) production and reduced IL-10 secretion [107, 108]. Alternative enzymes involved in MDSC-mediated immunosuppression include cyclooxygenase 2 (COX2) and indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) [109-111]. MDSCs are also known to produce matrix metalloproteinase 9 (MMP9) in premetastatic lungs for increased ECM remodeling to promote angiogenesis [104].

1.3.1.2 Arginase in TME

Arginase can be expressed as two isoforms, ARG1 and ARG2, and ARG1 is a cytosolic enzyme while ARG2 is located to mitochondria. While ARG2 has ubiquitous expression, the expression of ARG1 is limited to liver [112] and in cells of the myeloid lineage [113]. In mice, almost all myeloid cells express ARG1, but in humans ARG1 is mainly produced by neutrophils and MDSCs [114, 115]. Elevated ARG expression has been reported in many human cancers, and several studies have demonstrated that the presence of ARG in the TME can influence on tumorigenesis [116-118]. Many cancer cells can produce elevated levels of either ARG1 or ARG2, thus causing depletion of arginine in the TME [116]. Also, cancer cells can produce myeloid growth factors and inflammatory mediators dysregulating myeloid cell differentiation [119-124]. Thus, a heterogenous group of tumor-infiltrating myeloid cells, including monocytes, macrophages, neutrophils, dendritic cells and MDSCs, are recruited to the tumor [125]. The recruited cells can create a tumor-promoting, immunosuppressive TME, by producing a variety of factors like ROS, cytokines and PD-L1. Many of these cells, like the MDSCs, can produce ARG1, and this can be released either directly to the TME or in extracellular vesicles enabling ARG1 to exert effects more distally [126]. An interesting difference between human and mouse MDSCs is that in human they release ARG1 in the circulation and thus deplete arginine levels systemically, while murine MDSCs deplete arginine by increased uptake and intracellular degradation [127]. Also, macrophages, especially M2 macrophages in mice with pro-tumorigenic functions, are an important source of ARG1 in the TME, while there has yet not been reported that human macrophages can make ARG1 [125, 128, 129]. Human neutrophils are another important source for ARG1, and while they do not metabolize arginine themselves since ARG1 is localized in gelatinase granules, they can exocytose these granules together with azurophilic granules ensuring enzymatic activity[130-132].

ARG1/2 can influence on tumorigenesis in several ways. As described above, arginine depletion, initiated either by the cancer cells themselves or by cells in the TME, will profoundly influence on the function of T cells, thereby leading to impaired anti-tumor responses. It has also been shown that cancer

cells with increased ARG1/2 can have elevated activation of different central constituents of important signaling cascades, like AKT, ERK, mTORC1 and STAT3, which promote cancer cell viability, proliferation, adhesion, and migration [116]. Accordingly, overexpression of ARG1/2 is anticipated as an unfavorable prognostic factor in several cancer variants, including ovarian, colorectal, pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma, head, and neck cancer [126, 133-135]. Regarding breast cancer, several studies support that ARG1 and/or ARG2 is implicated in the pathogenesis and development of the disease, they demonstrate increased enzymatic activity in tissue and blood from breast cancer patients and this correlates with the severity of the disease [136-139].

1.3.2 Hot and cold tumors in immunotherapy

Tumor heterogeneity can cause difficulties in therapeutic interventions. The heterogeneity can exist at several levels; for instance, patients with tumors of the same histological type may have tumors that are very different (intertumoral heterogeneity), which could be due to variations in patient-specific factors like their genetic background, differences in the somatic mutation profile or environmental factors. Further, there will be heterogeneity within a tumor (intratumorally), which reflects the instability of tumor cells and the establishment of genetically different subpopulations of tumor cells, either within the primary tumor itself or in metastases or both [140]. Tumors can also be distinct based on frequency of different immune cell types within the TME [141]. Effector T cells are crucial in an immune response against cancer, and tumors can be classified as immunologically hot or cold, depending on the level of T cell infiltration (Figure 3). Hot tumors have high levels of infiltrating T cells, NK cells, TAMs, IFN signaling, PDL-1 expression and other components essential for anti-tumor immune function. Cold tumors on the other hand, also called "T cell excluded", do not exhibit cellular and gene expression characteristics which are favorable for anti-tumor action, primarily by T cells. The cold tumors are enriched with immunosuppressive cell populations like regulatory T cells, regulatory B cells, MDSCs including M2 macrophages and N2 neutrophils and low PD-L1 expression. Having a hot tumor is associated with improved prognosis in cancer patients, whereas patients with cold tumors are less responsive to conventional therapies and to ICIs [142-145]. ICIs, such as nivolumab and pembrolizumab, are used in some cancer types and have succeeded in clinical trials [146, 147]. However, large number of patients do not respond to ICIs due to lack of PD-L1 expression and infiltration of effector T cells essential for tumor cell killing [148]. Use of CART cells have been successful in some settings, raising the importance of effector T cells in immunotherapy [38, 149]. Since TAMs also have pro-tumor properties and correlate with poor prognosis in several cancer types, targeting TAMs is an attractive approach [150]. Using an antibody to target specifically the macrophage receptor with collagenous structure (MARCO) has been shown to reverse the immunosuppressive effects of TAMs. Silke et al. recently showed that anti-MARCO immunotherapy in melanoma models involved NK cell but not T cells. This therapy also showed a synergistic effect with PD-1 or PD-L1 to

increase tumor killing, adding to existing T cell-based immunotherapies [151]. Research is still ongoing to understand how cold tumors can be switched into hot tumors via T cell priming along with other immune cells, an important mechanism necessary to understand for increased patient survival.



Figure 3. Immune composition of cold tumors vs. hot tumors. Cold tumors are characterized by exclusion of effector T cells, infiltration of immunosuppressive cells including MDSCs, and tumor associated macrophages (TAMs). Hot tumors are characterized by infiltration of effector T cells, and natural killer cells (NK cells), and are responsive to immunotherapy. Created with biorender.com.

1.3.3 Tumor-promoting inflammation

In all tumors, there will be a recruitment of immune cells that could potentially attack the tumor, however, as described above it is now well established that this tumor-associated inflammatory response can enhance tumorigenesis and tumor progression. Thus, tumor-promoting inflammation is considered as one of the hallmarks of cancer, and as reviewed by Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011. It can contribute to several other hallmark capabilities by supplying for instance proangiogenic factors, growth factors, survival factors that limit cell death, and by increasing the genetic instability in the cancer cells via release of mutagenic ROS [43]. Genotoxic treatments including radiotherapy, chemotherapy and surgery commonly used in all cancer patients can induce both local and systemic inflammatory responses due to activation of stress inducing pathways [20]. Usually, this process is beneficial for antitumor responses, and immune system activation is also the keystone for current immunotherapies [152]. However, genotoxic treatments can also cause tumor cells to release damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs). This could trigger an anti-tumor response or immunosurveillance. It is also evident that DAMPs can act as double-edged sword that could trigger tumor-promoting inflammation and changes in the TME that will aid tumor progression [153]. For example, DAMPs like S100 proteins, especially \$100A8/9 and \$100A12, are upregulated in multiple tumor types [154]. The expression of S100A8/9 on myeloid cells in colon tumors can cause tumor promotion via activation of mitogen-

activated protein kinase (MAPK) and nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF- κ B) pathways [85, 155]. Interestingly, cytokines released in the TME via activation of downstream effectors like STAT, NF- κ B and caspases can have dual functions. For example, these cytokines can have either tumor suppressive roles via IFN- γ and IL-12 production or can promote tumor progression via IL-6 and IL-17 secretion [156].

1.4 Innate immune signaling

The innate immune system provides the rapid first line of host defense, classically sparked in response to detection of pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) or DAMPs released during cellular stress or tissue injury. PAMPs and DAMPs are recognized by various pattern recognition receptors (PPRs) that can be either membrane bound or cytosolic. Among the PAMPs we find bacterial carbohydrates (like lipopolysaccharide or mannose), nucleic acids (bacterial or viral DNA or RNA), bacterial peptides, peptidoglycans, and lipoproteins. The DAMPs include both proteins and non-protein component, as exemplified by the chromatin-associated protein high-mobility group box 1 (HMGB1), free DNA, S100 proteins, nucleotides (like ATP), nucleosides (like adenosine) and uric acid [157]. The membrane-bound PRRs include toll-like receptors (TLRs) and C-type lectin receptors (CLRs), while cytosolic PRRs include retinoic acid-inducible gene-I (RIG-I)-like receptors (RLRs), nucleotidebinding and oligomerization domain (NOD)-like receptors (NLRs) cyclic guanosine-monophosphate adenosine-monophosphate synthase (cGAS) and AIM2 (absent in melanoma 2) like receptors (ALRs) [157-161]. After recognition of PAMPs or DAMPs, a variety of downstream responses are triggered; for instance, autophagy, phagocytosis, processing, and activation of pro-forms of cytokines (like pro-IL-1) and production of soluble mediators like cytokines, including interferons (IFNs) [158, 162-164]. Recent advances in understanding the role of innate immune response in cancer, and vaccine design using PAMPs and DAMPs as adjuvants, have gathered great attention [165].

1.4.1 Interferons in innate immune response

Interferons (IFNs) were the first cytokine family to be discovered over 60 years ago by Isaacs and Lindenman in response to viral infection [166]. IFN production has been mostly associated in response to pathogenic infections since then. However, cells that accumulate intracellular damage also report to the immune system by activating the IFN response, inducing inflammation under sterile conditions [167]. Depending upon the unique receptor binding for signal transduction, IFNs are divided into three groups, type I, type II, and type III IFNs, as illustrated in Figure 4 [168, 169]. The type I IFNs, the largest family of IFNs, all bind to the cell surface interferon-alpha/beta receptor (IFNAR), consisting of the two transmembrane subunits IFNAR1 and IFNAR2. Type II IFN (IFN- γ) binds to IFN- γ receptors 1 (IFNGR1) and 2 (IFNGR2) heterodimers. It also induces genes that prime the type I IFN response, and similarly, type I IFN signaling also primes type II IFN signaling [170-174]. Type III IFNs (IFN-

11/2/3 and 4) share structural features with interleukin-10 (IL-10) cytokine family members, and signal through IL-10 receptor 2 (IL-10R2) and IFN- λ receptor 1 (IFNLR1) heterodimers [168, 175-179] (Figure 4). All three IFN types can initiate various signaling pathways via Janus kinase/signal transducer and activator of transcription (JAK/STAT), which together provide diverse immunological functions [180, 181]. In the canonical, linear kinase-dependent JAK/STAT signaling, binding of IFNs to the specific receptor complexes initiates the phosphorylation of the receptor-associated cytosolic kinases JAK1 and (for type I and III interferons) tyrosine kinase 2 (TYK2). This subsequently leads to phosphorylation of STAT1 and STAT2, which dimerize either as heterodimers (for type I and III IFNs) or as STAT1 homodimers (for type II IFNs). The heterodimers can recruit interferon regulatory factor 9 (IRF9) to form a STAT1-STAT2-IRF9 tri complex (ISGF3), which can translocate to the nucleus and bind to conserved sequences known as IFN-stimulated response elements (ISREs). The activated STAT1 homodimers can after translocation bind to γ -activated sequences (GAS), and binding of these STAT-complexes to either ISREs or GAS will result in induction of interferon-simulated genes (ISGs) (Figure 4) [168, 177, 182, 183].



Figure 4. IFN signaling pathways. A schematic view of the canonical, linear signal transduction pathways for the three IFN types. Type I, II and III IFNs signal via different receptors with signal transduction mediated via JAK/STAT for phosphorylation and subsequent STAT activation. STATs, upon activation by IFN-I and IFN-III receptors, can drive expression of interferon-simulated genes (ISGs) with IFN-stimulated response elements (ISRE) or γ -activated sequences (GAS) elements in their promoters, while the IFN-II receptor complex solely

drives the expression of genes with GAS promoter elements. Created with biorendor.com with minor adaptations from [168, 169]

1.4.2 Type I IFN and cGAS-STING signaling

Type I IFNs are the largest class of IFNs and have a vital function in various inflammatory diseases. In addition to anti-pathogenic function, they have a crucial role in cancer prevention, providing anti-tumor immunity [184]. IFN-I can activate immune cells like innate lymphoid cells, T cells, NK cells, and dendritic cells. IFN-I signaling involves both IFN-I production and downstream IFN-I response causing transcription of ISGs. Immune cells, tumor cells, fibroblasts, and epithelial cells within the TME can produce IFN-I. In the TME, IFNs are produced in response to DAMPs; damage response associated within the cells [185-187]. Several studies indicate that IFN-I induction in TME mainly occurs via the cGAS-STING axis.

The cGAS–STING signaling axis, comprising the cyclic guanosine monophosphate–adenosine monophosphate (GMP–AMP) synthase (cGAS; also known as MB21D1) and stimulator of interferon genes (STING) detects cytosolic DNA to activate an innate immune reaction involving a potent IFN-I response. Cytosolic DNA is a highly immune stimulatory and is a strong inducer of IFN-I response [188]. Upon DNA binding, cGAS undergoes a conformational change and produces a second messenger 2'3'cyclic GMP-AMP (cGAMP) from ATP to GTP [189-192]. cGAMP is then sensed by STING, a transmembrane protein that resides on ER [193-196]. Upon cGAMP binding, STING translocates to ER-Golgi intermediate compartment (ERGIC). STING then recruits TANK-binding kinase (TBK1) to initiate downstream signaling where TBK1 phosphorylates itself, STING, and subsequently the transcription factor, interferon regulatory factor 3 (IRF3) [197]. IRF3 undergoes dimerization and enters the nucleus causing transcription of the ISGs [197-199] (Figure 5). In addition, STING can undergo nuclear factor- κ B mediated (NF- κ B) transcriptional activation of IFN-I response. STING recruits NF- κ B, leading to IFN-I production and other cytokines [195, 200, 201].



Figure 5. The cGAS-STING signaling pathway. cGAS is activated by binding of self-DNA (mtDNA from damaged mitochondria and micronuclei) present in the cytosol. Activated cGAS uses ATP and GTP to catalyze the formation of second messenger 2'3'cGAMP, which forms a complex with STING, inducing its activation. Activated STING traffics from the endoplasmic reticulum to the Golgi where it recruits and activates TBK1, which in turn phosphorylates IRF3 and cause nuclear translocation of IRF3 and to a lesser extent NF-kB (activated by IKK). This leads to increased transcription of IFN-I genes in the nucleus. Created with biorendor.com with minor adaptations from [202].

1.4.2.1 cGAS-STING activation by self-DNA

Apart from cytosolic DNA sensing from the microbes, cGAS can be activated by the self-DNA emphasizing the importance of cGAS-STING pathway in sterile inflammation, cellular senescence, and cancer [203]. Damage in organelles like the nucleus, mitochondria, endoplasmic reticulum, ribosomes, lysosomes, and cytoskeleton can disrupt organelle homeostasis and activate innate immune sensors, including the cGAS-STING pathway [204].

1.4.2.2 Cytosolic DNA and micronuclei

DNA is usually restricted to the nucleus; however, upon DNA damage, if not properly managed, DNA can leak into the cytosol. In cancer cells, chromosomal material can also be found outside the nucleus. Error during mitosis, double-strand DNA breaks, and telomere erosion can accumulate aberrant DNA structures called micronuclei [205, 206]. For example, genotoxic treatments, including radiotherapy and chemotherapy commonly used in cancer patients, can cause DNA damage causing the formation of micronuclei. Micronuclei form when single chromosomes or fragments of chromosomes like acentric

chromosomes do not segregate with the rest of the chromosomes [207]. As a result, these chromosomes remain excluded from the primary nucleus and become enveloped by their own nuclear membrane [208, 209]. The nuclear envelope in micronuclei appears to be defective and, unlike the nuclear envelope surrounding the primary nucleus, ruptures at micronuclear envelope are never repaired [158]. Micronuclear catastrophe involving nuclear envelope collapse with substantial loss of micronucleus-cytoplasmic compartmentalization can activate the cGAS-STING signaling to induce proinflammatory signaling [210-212]. Nucleases like Three Prime Repair Exonuclease (TREX) are important for the clearance of damaged DNA in the cytosol. TREX1 is reported to inhibit cGAS activation at micronuclei by degrading micronuclear DNA [213]. Accordingly, mutations in TREX1 can cause accumulation of micronuclear DNA and trigger activation of cGAS-STING signaling [214].

Micronuclei frequently form in cancer cells, and increased micronuclei frequency is observed in breast cancer patients compared to healthy controls [210, 215]. Interestingly, some patients treated with focal radiotherapy in combination with immune-checkpoint inhibitors clearly benefit from the presence of ruptured micronuclei and accumulation of cytosolic DNA. This is because the cytosolic DNA sensor cGAS can access chromosomal DNA and initiate innate immunity and inflammatory pathways. Unfortunately, this is not always the case. Several preclinical and clinical reports show that focal radiotherapy can instead increase the occurrence of distant metastasis [216-218]. It has also become clear that micronuclei are not simple consequences of tumors, but instead are main contributors to tumorigenesis [219]. Presence of micronuclei is a sign of damage in a cell, and normally a cell tries to get rid of this damage. The mechanisms underlying the formation of micronuclei are well understood but not much is known about the potential fate of micronuclei and micronucleated cells.

1.4.2.3 Cytoplasmic detection of mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA)

Mitochondria and their DNA replicate autonomously from the nuclear genome. Since mtDNA proofreading does not occur during the replication, the mtDNA is extremely susceptible to errors. During cellular, local environmental stress, infection, and injury, the mitochondrial contents can leak into the cytosol and cause activation of several downstream pathways [220, 221]. Inside the cytosol, mtDNA is sensed by NLRP3 inflammasome, thereby promoting the activation of pro-inflammatory cytokines like Interleukin-1 beta and Interleukin-18. Additionally, Toll-like receptor 9 can also bind mtDNA in the endosome and cause the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines [222-224]. Importantly, mtDNA sensing by cGAS, causing activation of cGAS STING pathway-mediated IFN-I production has been described in multiple conditions [225]. The mechanism of mtDNA release in cytosol needs proper understood. However, during apoptosis, the formation of BAK-BAX macropores in the outer mitochondrial membrane is known to aid the inner mitochondrial membrane in protruding into the cytosol to initiate the cGAS STING pathway [226]. Studies in transgenic mouse models have shown that depletion of transcription factor A mitochondrial (TFAM) cause moderate mtDNA stress
and lead to release of mtDNA in the cytosol activating the cGAS- STING signaling to increase IFN-I production [227].

1.4.3 IFN-I dysregulation in cancer

In TME, stress conditions like hypoxia and secretion of cytokines like IL-1 can inactivate IFNAR and suppress downstream signaling and induction of ISGs, thereby blocking antitumor responses [228, 229]. Classical treatment strategies, including chemotherapy, radiotherapy, and immunotherapy, depend on IFN-mediated immune signaling [228, 230, 231]. Unfortunately, dysregulation of IFN-I signaling is observed in most tumor types and it is associated with resistance to classical treatment regimens, including immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs). For example, loss of IFNAR1 is an important resistance mechanism in cancers due to ubiquitination-mediated degradation of IFNAR1 due to ER stress, integrated stress response, and hypoxia [229, 232]. Loss of IFNAR1 is reported in melanoma patients, and overexpression of IFNAR1 mutant in melanoma mouse models showed delayed melanoma progression and increased responsiveness to PD-1 inhibitors [233]. In breast cancer models, downregulation of interferon regulatory factor (Irf7) target genes was associated with increased bone metastasis and reduced survival. At the same time, high expression of *IRF7* regulatory genes in patients correlated with increased metastasis-free survival [234]. Since IFN-I signaling is essential in cancer treatment, understanding the processes involved in regulating this response are crucial. Therefore, crosstalk between IFN-I signaling and cellular recycling processes like autophagy are thought to be important [235].

1.5 Autophagy

Eukaryotic cells continuously renew their components in a balanced interplay between catabolic and anabolic processes to maintain cellular homeostasis [236]. Autophagy, derived from the Greek meaning 'eating of self', is a self-degradative process involved in the sequestration and transport of cytosolic proteins or organelles for lysosomal degradation [237]. During autophagy, cytoplasmic substrate is sequestered into a double membrane vesicle known as an autophagosome, which fuses with a lysosome to form an autolysosome for the degradation and recycling of the cytoplasmic contents. Based on different mechanisms for directing the cytoplasmic content into the lysosomes, three different types of autophagy have been described as macro-autophagy, micro-autophagy, and chaperone-mediated autophagy respectively [238-240]. Only macro-autophagy (hereafter referred to as autophagy) will be discussed here.

Breakthrough genetic studies in yeast by Dr. Yoshinori Ohsumi and colleagues identified the core molecular machinery of autophagy [241]. Comparative studies in animals and other single celled organisms revealed that these genes are highly conserved during evolution of all eukaryotes. For this

outstanding work, Ohsumi was awarded the Nobel Prize in physiology or medicine in 2016 [241-243]. There is an exponential growth in autophagy research, and currently more than 42 autophagy-related (Atg) genes have been identified in yeast [244].

1.5.1 The core autophagy machinery and the autophagic process

Autophagy involves multistep complex processes including induction and nucleation, expansion and sealing, fusion, and degradation (Figure 6) [245, 246]. A subgroup of approximately 20 ATG proteins are essential for the autophagosome formation and constitute the autophagy core machinery [247]. This can be classified into six functional modules; (1) the unc-51 like autophagy activating kinase (ULK) complex; (2) the class III phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3-kinase) complex (VPS34); (3) the ATG9-positive vesicles; (4) a complex of ATG2/Atg18 homologs (WD-repeat protein interacting with phosphoinositides; WIPI proteins); (5) the ATG12 conjugation complex and (6) the ATG8/LC3 conjugation complex (Figure 6) [246, 247].

In addition to nutrient and growth factor deprivation, autophagy is also activated by a variety of stress conditions including endoplasmic reticulum stress, hypoxia, redox stress, mitochondrial damage, pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) [248]. The nutrient- and growth factor-sensitive kinase mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) and the energy-sensitive adenosine monophosphate (AMP)-activated protein kinase (AMPK) are major regulators of autophagy [249]. mTOR participates in two signaling complexes; mTORC1 and mTORC2, where mTORC1 is involved in regulation of autophagy whereas mTORC2 regulates cellular metabolism via phosphorylation of ATG proteins [250]. During nutrient rich conditions, mTORC1 phosphorylates ATG13 and ULK1 in the stable complex consisting of ULK1/2, ATG13, FIP200 and ATG101, leading to inhibition of autophagy. In contrast, in nutrient depleted conditions, the ability of mTORC1 to phosphorylate ATG13 and ULK1 is impaired, and thus the lack of the inhibiting phosphorylation causes increased autophagy. However, AMPK can also phosphorylate ULK1, but at different sites and this induces autophagy under nutrient depletion [251]. The initiation of autophagosome formation starts when the ULK1/2 complex assembles at the isolation membrane. ATG9, a transmembrane protein, mediates membrane addition to the phagophore during the nucleation process [252]. At the membrane nucleation site, phosphatidylinositol 3 phosphate (PtdIns(3)P) is formed by the PI3-kinase complex, coordinated by the interaction between its constituents including Beclin-1 (BECN1), ATG14L, vacuole protein sorting 34 (VPS34) and VPS15, and double FYVEcontaining protein 1 (DFCP1). The increased concentration of PtdIns(3)P due to the kinase activity of VPS34 is important for the recruitment of various proteins like WIPI/ATG18, ATG2, ATG9 and DFCP1 at the phagophore formation site [253]. The phagophore expansion is mediated by two ubiquitin-like conjugation systems. The ATG12 conjugation system is initiated when ATG12 and ATG5 are covalently conjugated via the E1-like enzyme ATG7 and the E2-like enzyme ATG10. The ATG12-ATG5 then binds ATG16L, generating a complex which localizes to the forming autophagosome via ATG16L's binding to FIP200 in the ULK1/2 complex. The ATG12-ATG5-ATG16L complex has E3 ligase activity that can act on the ATG8/LC3 conjugation system. There are many mammalian ATG8 homologues, including microtubule-associated protein light chain 3 (MAP1LC3) A/B/B2/C, and y-aminobutyric acid (GABA)-receptor associated protein (GABARAP). GABARAPL1 and GABARAPL2 [246, 254, 255]. The ATG8/LC3 is synthesized as a precursor and following cleavage by ATG4 a C-terminal glycine residue is exposed which is conjugated to phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) via the sequential action of ATG7, ATG3 and the ATG12-ATG5-ATG16L complex acting as E1-, E2- and E3-like enzymes, respectively. Since the ATG12-ATG5-ATG16L complex is located at the autophagosomal membrane, the conjugation takes place here and the lipidated product, ATG8/LC3-II, can be incorporated into the phagophore. The cargo for autophagy is recruited to the surface of the phagophore by cargo receptors (Figure 6) [246, 256, 257]. The sealing of the elongated phagophore requires endosomal sorting complex required for transport (ESCRT-III) and VPS4 [258, 259]. The expansion of the phagophore and enclosing of cargo forms the autophagosome, which fuses with the late endosomes/lysosomes to form autolysosomes where the cargo is degraded. The fusion of autophagosome to lysosome is governed by the autophagosomal SNARE (Syntaxin 17, soluble SNAp-29, lysosomal membrane protein Vamp7 and all six HOPS (homotypic fusion and VPS subunits (VPS11, VPS18, VPS16, VPS16A, VPS33A, VPS39 and VPS47)) [230, 260, 261].



Figure 6. Schematic overview of core autophagy machinery in autophagosome formation. Autophagy is regulated by nutrient and energy stress via mTORC1 and AMPK. During cellular stress, the inactivated mTORC1 dissociates from the ULK1/2 complex (ULK1/2, ATG13, FIP200 and ATG101). Activation of the ULK1/2 complex is required for the induction of autophagy. During nucleation, the ATG proteins and lipids are recruited to the phagophore. The cytosolic cargo is sequestered during the expansion and sealing process via ATG proteins for autophagosome formation. The autophagosome fuses with the lysosome making an autolysosome where the degradation of cargo occurs. Created with Biorender with adaptations from [245, 246, 262].

1.5.2 Selective Autophagy and Sequestosome Like Receptors (SLRs)

Autophagy was long considered as a non-selective process. However, in the last decades it is well accepted that the process can be a highly selective and tightly regulated process that requires cargo recognition and recruitment to the autophagosome [263]. Based on the type of substrate sequestration, different types of selective autophagy have been described; aggrephagy (protein aggregates), mitophagy (mitochondria), pexophagy (peroxisomes), ribophagy (ribosomes), reticulophagy (endoplasmic reticulum), nucleophagy (parts of nucleus), micronucleophagy (micronucleus), lipophagy (lipid droplets), glycophagy (glycogen delivery to lysosome), ferritinophagy (ferritin), lysophagy (lysosome) and xenophagy (intracellular pathogens) [264-272]. Polyubiquitination of targets is fundamental for the recognition and physical binding by the autophagy receptors that selectively link the cargos to the lipidated ATG8s located on the expanding autophagy receptor to be identified which links cargo to LC3B before the whole complex is degraded in the autophagy receptor gravely. SQSTM1 contains an N-terminal self-interacting Phox and Bem1 (PB1) domain, a ZZ-type zinc finger domain, an LC3

interacting region (LIR) motif and a C-terminal ubiquitin-associated (UBA) domain. The UBA domain of SQSTM1 interacts with polyubiquitinated cargo, SQSTM1 polymerizes via the PB1 domain and makes protein aggregates, followed by cargo connection to the autophagosome via the LIR motif. Hence, SQSTM1 plays a vital role in selective autophagy by recognizing the cytosolic cargo for the lysosomal degradation [275]. With the discoveries of selective autophagy, more than 20 autophagy receptors have been identified in human. These receptors are known as sequestosome-1 (SQSTM1) like receptors (SLRs) since they recognize cargo in a similar manner as SQSTM1 via the UBA domain. Additional receptors identified that recognize ubiquitinated substrates include neighbor of BRCA1 gene 1 protein (NBR1), nuclear dot protein 52 kDa (NDP52) /calcium-binding and coiled-coil domaincontaining protein 2 (CALCOCO2), optineurin (OPTN), Tax1-binding protein 1 (TAX1BP1), toll interacting protein (TOLLIP), FK506-binding protein 8 (FKBP8), nitrophenylphosphatase domain and non-neuronal SNAP25-like protein homolog (NIPSNAP)1/2, nip3-like protein X (NIX), prohibitin-2 (PHB2), autophagy and beclin-1 regulator 1 (AMBRA1), BCL2-Like 13 (BCL2L13) and tripartite motifs (TRIMs) [246, 276]. Like SQSTM1, all these undergo oligomerization, bind to ATG8 family proteins via a LIR interaction and guide the cargo to the autophagosome for later degradation of both the cargo and the receptors in the autolysosome [277].

1.5.3 Context dependent role of autophagy in cancer

Autophagy-based degradation is essential for normal development, differentiation, aging, and cellular remodeling [278]. Dysregulated autophagy has been implicated in neurological diseases such as Alzheimer's, Parkinson's, and Huntington's diseases [279, 280]. In cancer, autophagy is induced by hypoxia, metabolic stress, and therapeutic stress such as chemotherapy and radiation. Autophagy plays a context dependent role in cancer, either as a tumor suppressor or as a promoter [281]. Currently, the understanding of the context dependent role(s) of autophagy during tumor progression is incomplete. However, genetic alterations in autophagy genes have been implicated in cancer and we know that the process is under control of fundamental pathways for cellular regulation. (Figure 7).

1.5.3.1 Autophagy as a tumor suppressor

At the early stages of cancer development, basal autophagy prevents cancer progression by eliminating the oncogenic protein substrates, toxic unfolded proteins, and damaged organelles [262]. The first evidence showing the link between dysregulated autophagy and cancer was observed by Liang CH et al. in 1999, where they show that ATG6/(BECN1) disruption enhanced tumor proliferation and increased frequency of various cancers like lung, liver, and lymphomas [282]. *BECN1* is monoallelically lost in 40% to 75% of human prostate, breast, and ovarian cancers [282, 283]. However, a study by Laddha et al. in 2014 demonstrated that the deletion of *BECN1* in human tumors is accompanied by deletion of the proximal tumor suppressor breast cancer 1 gene (*BRCA-1*), thus making

the importance of *BECN1* unclear [284]. Studies using genetically engineered mouse models demonstrate the complexity, since loss of *Becn1* has been shown to promote p53 activation and reduce tumorigenesis in a Partner and localizer of BRCA2 (*Palb2*)-deficient hereditary breast cancer model, while others demonstrate that heterozygous disruption of *Becn1* increases the frequency of spontaneous malignancies [285-287]. Other autophagy genes like *ATG5* and *ATG7* are identified as tumor suppressors since hepatocytes lacking these genes cause hepatocellular cancer due to oxidative stress and damaged mitochondria [288]. Deficiency in other ATGs like *ATG3*, *ATG9* and *ATG16L1* are also associated with tumorigenesis [289-292]. In a *Drosophila* model of malignant rat sarcoma (RAS)-driven cancers, the tumor cells show large numbers of damaged mitochondria and increased ROS, indicating metabolic stress, and the cells can stimulate non-autonomous autophagy [293]. It is known that stress signals like ROS can potentially induce autophagy and subsequently eliminate these damage signals in the tumors.

Autophagy cargo receptors play a vital role in tumorigenesis. Autophagy also prevents tumor formation via regulation of ROS production. It is known that autophagy deficiency causes oxidative stress that activates the master regulator of antioxidant defense, Nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (NRF2), which also stimulates tumor growth and cancer cell survival [294, 295]. It has been shown that deficiency in SQSTM1 and NRF2 subsequently abolishes the progress of oncogenic RAS-driven non-small-cell lung cancer in mouse models, suggesting NRF2 deficiency might prevent tumorigenesis induced by SQSTM1 accumulation and limited autophagy [296]. Accumulation of SQSTM1 has been detected in various cancer types like prostate cancer, hepatocellular carcinoma, gastrointestinal cancers, breast cancer and lung adenocarcinoma, suggesting that SQSTM1 accumulation positively correlates with cancer progression [297-304]. Increased levels of SQSTM1 could be an indicator of either reduced autophagic flux, since SQSTM1 is degraded itself via autophagy, or it could be a result of the cells increasing the autophagic process by increasing the expression of central proteins, like SQSTM1. However, *in vivo* studies have shown that accumulation of SQSTM1, DNA damage and genomic instability that all have cancer promoting roles are due to inhibition of autophagy, thereby highlighting the role of autophagy in tumor suppression [305-307].

1.5.3.2 Autophagy as a tumor promoter

Although autophagy prevents cancer progression at the early stages, several studies have shown the opposing role of autophagy: as a tumor promoter in advanced cancers [308, 309]. In contrast to normal cells, most cancer cells have high basal autophagy since they experience extreme stress, demand more nutrient supply, are hypoxic, and fundamentally depend on autophagy for survival. During tumor progression, autophagy undergoes an anti-tumorigenic to pro-tumorigenic switch, enabling cancer cells to survive at the later times [310]. Autophagy can be beneficial for tumors and help them survive in a metabolically challenging and harsh tumor microenvironment by mobilizing nutrients to the cancer

cells through increased local recycling. Martinez-Outschoorn UE et al. proposed the autophagic tumor stroma model of cancer cell metabolism or "Battery-Operated Tumor Growth", highlighting that autophagy within the tumor microenvironment can provide fuel for tumor growth and metastasis [311, 312]. Kirsten RAS (KRAS)- and Harvey RAS (H RAS)-driven tumors that are common in many cancer types have been demonstrated to have increased autophagy where autophagy promotes the growth, survival, increased tumorigenesis, subsequently leading to invasion and metastasis [313, 314]. Since many RAS-driven cancers rely on autophagy for their survival, they are termed "autophagy addicted" [314-316]. The *TP53* gene encoding p53 is a major tumor suppressor and commonly mutated gene in many cancers. Autophagy is known to promote mammary tumor growth by suppressing p53 activation [316].

Recent evidence focuses on protective function of autophagy to tumor cells against immune-mediated destruction [317]. Deletion of FIP200 in mammary tumor cells suppresses tumor progression and increases survival in a breast cancer mouse model via increased immune surveillance. The tumors from FIP200 knockout mice have elevated expression of IFN response genes and chemokines like CXCL10 along with increased infiltration of effector T cells in the tumor microenvironment [318]. Baginska et al. show that hypoxia-mediated autophagy in MCF-7 breast cancer cells blocks natural killer (NK) cell-mediated lysis of tumor cells via sequestration of granzyme B and perforin granules inside the autophagosomes. The tumor growth is also reduced in autophagy deficient tumor cells in *in vivo* models of melanoma and breast cancer [319]. In pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) cells, autophagy promotes degradation of MHC-I molecules thereby reducing their surface expression. NBR1, a selective autophagy receptor, targets MHC-I molecules for selective degradation, a unique mechanism facilitating immune evasion by PDAC cells. Inhibition of autophagy via chloroquine (CQ) and mutant ATG4B increases the surface expression of MHC-I and cytotoxic lymphocytes, thus indicating a possible use of CQ in cancer treatment [320, 321].

These studies indicate the pivotal role of autophagy in promoting tumorigenesis, assisting immune evasion, and are thus pointing out autophagy as a therapeutic target in cancer treatments. Yet, even if it seems evident that autophagy plays an important role in cancer, whether it functions as a tumor promoter or a suppressor is still not fully understood, and the mechanisms for regulation of the process in a complex tumor microenvironment are still unclear [310, 317].



Figure 7. Dual role of autophagy in cancer. Autophagy plays a context dependent role in tumorigenesis by either suppressing or promoting cancer progression. The specific role of autophagy in cancer is individually mentioned under tumor suppressor and tumor promoter. Created with Biorender.com with adaptations from [322].

1.5.4 Autophagy and metabolic reprogramming in cancer cells

Cancer cells experience metabolic challenges and may rely on an elevated uptake of nutrients for their energy needs, growth, proliferation, and survival. Therefore, metabolic reprogramming is one of the hallmarks of cancer [40]. Already in the 1920s, it was acknowledged that cancer cells can reprogram the glucose metabolism from oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) to aerobic glycolysis, known as the Warburg effect [323, 324]. It was thought quite illogical since the cells end up with only two ATP molecules via glycolysis compared to 36 ATP molecule produced by OXPHOS, raising the question: "Do the cancer cells really benefit from this?" Glycolysis is the fastest way for cancer cells to obtain ATP from glucose in an oxygen independent manner, which is beneficial at hypoxic conditions like those that can arise in a fast growing, solid tumor [325, 326]. Also, cancer cells can choose glycolysis to preserve Krebs cycle metabolites for anaerobic process for tumor proliferation. The high glycolytic flux also provides sufficient glycolytic intermediates for fatty acid, lipids, and nucleotide synthesis [327-331].

A role of autophagy in cancer metabolism is highly expected because only cells that adapt their metabolism to the harsh conditions can sustain and contribute to tumor development. Autophagy plays a crucial role in regulating the shift to aerobic glycolysis in cancer cells. Studies have shown that Glucose transporter-1 (GLUT1), necessary for glucose transport, enhances autophagy in breast cancer cells [332]. FIP200 depletion leads to reduced glycolysis in mammary mouse tumor models [318]. In pancreatic tumors, with KRAS mutation, genetic and chemical inhibition of autophagy leads to suppressed proliferation and prolonged survival in mouse and xenograft models [315]. Glutamine, the most abundant amino acid in mammalian cells, is an important metabolic intermediate, along with glucose, and is essential for cancer cells. The tumor cells rely on glutamine to restore the TCA cycle intermediates and maintain ATP production [333]. During long-term amino acid starvation, glutamine that is converted to glutamate contributes to an autophagy-dependent mTORC1 reactivation, important for further growth and proliferation [334]. Autophagy is also linked to lipid metabolism in KRAS^{VI2}driven non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) mouse models, where deletion of Atg7 lead to development of predominantly benign tumors with accumulation of dysfunctional mitochondria and neutral lipids [335]. In a pancreatic cancer model, Yang et al. demonstrated that autophagy can promote tumor growth via both cell autonomous and non-autonomous mechanisms [336]. However, recent studies highlight the non-autonomous aspect of autophagy regulating the cell metabolism outside of the tumor cells [337-3391. Researchers have also shown that cancer cells just grow by stealing nutrients from the neighboring cells. A recent study by Katheder et al. using a Drosophila melanogaster malignant tumor model shows that transformed tumor cells benefit themselves by inducing non-autonomous autophagy in the neighboring epithelial cells and distal tissues, suggesting the importance of considering interactions in TME while studying the role of autophagy in cancer. They show that reduced tumor growth in autophagy deficient animals is reactivated when they are transplanted into autophagy competent hosts [293, 340]. It is also evident that autophagy in the host mediates nutrient mobilization via organ wasting that is used for tumor growth [341]. Laura Poillet-Perez et al. showed that conditional depletion of the autophagy genes Atg5 and Atg7 in mice with tumor allografts significantly suppresses tumor growth. They reported that the lack of autophagy is related to limited levels of the semi essential amino acid arginine in circulation, and this is partly restored by supplementation of dietary arginine [342]. Although we know that autophagy has an important role in altering metabolism in cancer, a deeper understanding on how autophagy affects metabolism inside the tumors may lead to better therapeutic approaches.

1.5.4.1 Arginine biosynthesis and uptake

Arginine is a semi-essential amino acid important for protein synthesis and cell growth, wound healing, ammonia disposal, hormone biosynthesis and the immune system [343]. The major sources for L-arginine in the body are via dietary intake, *de novo* production from citrulline by the intestinal-renal axis and from degradation of proteins. In the biosynthesis of arginine, argininosuccinate synthase 1

(ASS1) and argininosuccinate lyase (ASL) are central enzymes, with ASS1 being the rate-limiting enzyme. ASS1 converts the urea cycle component L-citrulline and aspartic acid to argininosuccinate, which is then converted by ASL to L-arginine and fumaric acid [344]. L-arginine is also the precursor of L-citrulline and nitric oxide via nitric oxide synthase (NOS) [345, 346]. Additionally, ARG1 enzyme also utilizes arginine, converting it to ornithine, which is a precursor of polyamines (Figure 8). Polyamines are essential for proper cell physiology, protein synthesis and function, and protection from oxidative damage, inflammation, and wound healing [347, 348]. Besides endogenous synthesis and dietary supplementation, arginine availability also relies on the action of arginine transporters located in the mitochondrial and plasma membranes [346]. Several cationic amino acid transporters (CATs) are involved in the uptake of L-arginine; CAT-1, also known as solute carrier family 7 A1 (SLC7A1), CAT-2A (SLC7A2A), CAT-2B (SLC7A2B) and CAT-3 (SLC7A3) in different cell types [349]. For example, CAT-1 mainly mediates the arginine transport in human T cells whereas CAT-2 has this function in myeloid cells [350, 351].

1.5.4.2 Arginine dependence in cancer cells

Downregulation of urea cycle components in cancer cells, directing metabolites away from arginine synthesis, is frequently occurring due to metabolic reprogramming [125]. Further, in many cancer cells, ASS1 abundance is either reduced or the cells are completely unable to synthesize arginine de novo [352]. The combination of metabolic reprogramming, deficient synthesis, and increased needs due to high growth rate, causes dietary arginine to become essential for the survival of many cancer cells. This condition is known as arginine auxotrophy, an under-recognized metabolic vulnerability in cancer [353, 354]. Many tumors including melanoma, hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), breast, and prostate carcinoma are deficient in ASS1 [355-357]. In ASS1 deficient cancer cells, Cheng et al. showed that arginine starvation damages the mitochondria, resulting in accumulation of excess ROS, which causes genome instability [358]. This could lead to a novel form of cell death induced by arginine starvation called chromatin-autophagy or chromatophagy [359]. Arginine-free diet also significantly retards tumor growth in orthotopically xenografted breast cancer cells, presenting dependence on extrinsic arginine as a possible target for therapies [358]. Several clinical trials have been performed using agents that will reduce arginine availability, such as pegylated versions of ARG1 or arginine deiminase (ADI) (ADI-PEG20), thus targeting arginine auxotrophic tumors. Phase I/II clinical studies using ADI-PEG20 and recombinant human Arginase (rhArg) have shown increased median progression-free survival and overall survival in patients with acute myeloid lymphoma, HCC and melanoma [360]. However, the phase III clinical trial of ADI-PEG20 in HCC failed with no difference in the median progression-free survival in control and treatment groups [361]. It is also evident that ARG1 expression positively correlates with poor prognosis in HCC. The high ARG1 activity seems to be important for increased expression of Vimentin, N-cadherin, and β -catenin, essential for EMT process suggesting oncogenic

function of ARG1 [362]. Therefore, the efficacy of therapeutic strategies involving depleting arginine levels may not be of general benefit for cancer patients, and for some even unfavorable.

1.5.4.3 Arginine levels influence immune responses

Arginine has many biological functions, including being an important regulator of immune responses [363]. Detrimental effects of arginine starvation on human T cells were already described in 1968 and it is well appreciated now that arginine is essential for antitumor T cell responses [364]. During tumor progression, there is a large recruitment and expansion of MDSCs that have immunosuppressive effects and thus help tumors avoid immune surveillance [97]. The inhibitory effect MDSC have on T cell responses is mediated partly by their ability to make ARG1, causing depletion of arginine, which the T cells need for their activity [365]. Arginine deficiency also leads to reduced IL-2 production in human T cells and reduced expression of CD25 and CD69 activation markers [366]. In accordance with this immune dampening effect of arginine deprivation, several studies have shown that cancers with high degree of MDSC infiltration are associated with poor prognosis. Fletcher et al. showed that arginine depletion using a pegylated form ARG1 increases tumor growth, blunts antitumor T cell response and increased activation of MDSCs, suggesting a need for co-targeting MDSC in these settings [97]. This approach could be beneficial in addressing problems associated with resistance in immunotherapy, where MDSCs are involved, and additional treatment to manipulate the effects of MDSCs on arginine levels and T cell function could be added to the treatment regime. This is because the immune therapy might be effective only for a limited time, and then recruitment of MDSCs can dampen the T cell response, subsequently causing development of resistance to therapy and increased tumor growth. Using drugs that counteract the effect of MDSCs, such as arginase inhibitors, might be a better approach in treating therapy resistant tumors. So, manipulating the arginine availability may be used in a therapeutic manner but it is still necessary to provide more detailed information about the interplay between various cancer cells and the TME, including the immune cells, to ensure that the therapeutic strategy results in reduced cancer growth and not the opposite.

1.5.4.4 Arginine sensing and autophagy

As mentioned above, arginine is an amino acid which can influence on a variety of physiological processes. One of the most central directors of cellular growth and metabolism is mTOR, and among the many regulators of mTOR activity we find amino acids. Activation of mTORC1 involves a complex interplay between many different proteins, and the first step where mTORC1 is recruited to the surface of lysosomes involves Ras-related GTP binding (Rag) GTPases and occurs when the Rag proteins are activated by sufficient amino acid levels. At the lysosomes, mTORC1 can be directly activated by ras homolog enriched in brain (RHEB), another small GTPase. For some amino acids there are other sensor systems upstream of the Rag GTPases than can cause activation of mTORC1, and for arginine this

includes the amino acid transporter solute carrier family 38 members 9 (SLC38A9), which is located in the lysosomal membrane, and also the cytosolic arginine sensors for mTORC1 subunit 1 (CASTOR1) and CASTOR2 [367-372]. Upon arginine depletion, mTORC1 will dissociate from the lysosomal surface and become inactivated. While active mTORC1 suppresses catabolism via inhibitory phosphorylation of the ULK1-complex, the inactivation of mTORC1 following arginine deprivation will lead to reduced inhibitory phosphorylation, and consequently this will enable initiation of autophagy to replenish the low arginine levels. Several reviews have highlighted the mechanism coupling autophagy and immunity [162, 163, 373, 374]. It is intriguing to further explore how arginine starvation in the tumors can control the signaling leading to immunosuppressive TME.



Figure 8: Arginine-related pathways in metabolism. L-arginine can be formed from L-citrulline by the enzymes argininosuccinate synthase 1 (ASS1) and argininosuccinate lyase (ASL) and recycled into L-citrulline and nitric oxide via nitric oxide synthase (NOS) or transformed to L-ornithine and urea via ARG1. Created with Biorender.com with minor modifications from [363].

1.5.5 Interplay between autophagy and immune responses

There is a comprehensive crosstalk between autophagy and innate immune responses [163, 235, 375]. Several studies have reported interplay between autophagy proteins in direct regulation of IFN-I signaling [376-379]. In response to bacterial and viral infections, autophagy receptors such as SQSTM1, NDP52, TAX1BP1 and TRIM23 can promote the degradation of RIG–like receptors, mitochondrial antiviral-signaling protein (MAVS) and TIR-domain-containing adapter-inducing interferon- β (TRIF), causing reduction in IFN-I signaling [376, 380, 381]. In mice deficient of ATG16L1, autophagy represses IFN-I in response to intestinal microbiota [382]. A pro-tumorigenic role of autophagy is also reported in *in vivo* models, where FIP200 conditional knock out mice have elevated IFN expression

along with increased infiltration of effector T cells, highlighting that autophagy proteins can be used as potential targets in cancer therapy [318].

The molecular link between autophagy and inflammation is also reported in a study by Jena et al. where they identify IRGM as a negative master regulator of IFN-I response in autoimmune diseases. IRGM mediates SQSTM1-dependent autophagic degradation of cGAS, RIG-I, and TLR3 thereby controlling IFN-I pathways [383]. Autophagy can also suppress protein complexes that initiate IFN-I production. For example, the cGAS-STING axis consists of several proteins that trigger IFN-I. ATG9A, the only multispanning membrane transport protein that generates autophagosomes, negatively regulates trafficking of the ER-associated STING and inhibits type I IFN activation [384, 385]. The ATG9Aknockout MEFs show increased phosphorylation of IRF3 and have increased transcription of IFN-I related genes like CXCL10 and IFN-B upon dsDNA stimulation [386]. cGAS and STING are also targeted by the autophagy machinery via SOSTM1 for subsequent degradation in the lysosome [387, 388]. SQSTM1 can recognize ubiquitinated cGAS and direct for autolysosomal degradation, thereby inhibiting the cGAS-STING signaling [388]. TBK1 is an essential component in the cGAS-STING pathway that causes phosphorylation of IRF3 and activation of IFN-I expression [200, 389]. Along with this, TBK1 is also crucial for autophagy where TBK1 is involved in multiple steps of autophagy. TBK1 is involved in autophagosome formation, and it phosphorylates as well as interacts with autophagy receptors [163, 390-393]. Prabakaran et al. 2018 show that SOSTM1 causes feedback inhibition of IFN-I by repressing STING-TBK1 activation. They show that the cGAS-STING pathway, upon recognition of cytosolic dsDNA, activates TBK1 to induce IFN-I expression. TBK1 also phosphorylates SQSTM1 which interacts with the ubiquitinated STING to promote autophagic degradation, thus mitigating IFN-I production [387]. Similarly, blocking the trafficking mediated STING degradation using autophagy inhibitor BafilomycinA1 has been shown to elevate the cGAS-STING activity in mouse embryonic fibroblasts [394]. In addition, it is well appreciated that autophagy can also mediate the degradation of IFN receptors [395-397].

The regulation between autophagy and IFN-I is a bilateral process. Autophagy as described above can regulate IFN-I response and IFNs can also mediate autophagy to eliminate damage responses in the cells [375]. Genome wide screen study by Orvedahl et al. showed that many genes involved in IFN-alpha signaling are essential for viral autophagy [398]. Several studies have shown that autophagy is induced by IFN-I via JAK/STAT pathway in numerous cancer cell lines [399-402]. For example, in chronic myeloid leukemia cells, JAK/STAT activation is essential for IFN-I induced expression of the autophagy-related protein BECN1 [399]. In glioma cells, IFN- β induces autophagy via the PI3K/Akt/mTOR and ERK 1/2 pathways [401]. In hepatoma cells, treatment with IFN α -2a has been shown to block autophagic degradation and accumulation of LC3 puncta and decrease phosphorylation of Akt/mTOR [403]. Similarly, interferon stimulated gene (ISG) products can regulate autophagy to deploy their innate immune response [404, 405]. A recent study demonstrates that IFN- β regulates

autophagy via microRNA *mir1* expression, where *mir1* lowers the levels of RAB GTPase protein TBC1D15, thereby inducing autophagy in HeLa cells [406]. Although, the mutual role of autophagy and IFN-I in response to infection and other stimuli is known, very little is known about how the TME alters autophagy and regulates IFN-I signaling in cancer. Therefore, improved understanding of the interplay between autophagy and the innate immune response in tumorigenesis can add unique target regimens to boost antitumor immunity and immunotherapy.

1.6 Cancer cachexia

As elaborated above, intratumor events greatly influence cancer development and patient prognosis. However, cancer patients may experience severe complications that extend far beyond the physical margins of solid tumors. Cachexia is derived from the Greek word, kakos and hexis, simply meaning "bad condition". This systemic condition affects up to 80% of advanced cancer patients and results in a life-threatening degradation of muscle tissue with or without loss of adipose mass [407, 408]. Cachexia can ultimately reach a severe condition where patients cannot even fulfil their basic daily needs due to reduced muscle strength that may lead to cardiac arrhythmias, respiratory syndromes and other problems resulting in premature death [408]. There is no strict correlation between cancer type, tumor size and cachexia. In addition, patients with similar diagnosis that undergo the same treatment approach might have different cachectic phenotypes underscoring the complexity of the disease [409, 410]. Cancer cachexia is also associated with reduced tolerance to anti-cancer therapies, so in addition to severely reducing the quality of life, cachexia as such is accountable for about 20% of all cancer deaths [411-413]. "Understanding and reversing cachexia and declining performance status in cancer patients" was considered one of the eight grand challenges in cancer research by The National Cancer Institute and Cancer Research UK in 2021 [414]. This emphasizes that both the cancer research community and people affected by cancer, consider cachexia a major unmet medical need.

1.6.1 Mechanisms of muscle loss in cancer cachexia

Cachexia is a systemic condition, involving multiple organs. Yet, muscle atrophy (of both heart and skeletal muscle) is a central limiting factor for survival and functionality for cachectic patients [415]. Therefore, understanding the mechanisms that lead to muscle atrophy is likely crucial for development of targeted treatment. Skeletal muscle is a major storage of amino acids, and proteolysis of muscle proteins provide energy to metabolically active organs [416, 417]. Under normal conditions, these processes are maintained under muscle homeostasis. However, during physiological response to starvation and other catabolic states accompanying cancer, such as inflammation and cachexia, the homeostasis is altered and shifts towards skeletal muscle wasting. This shift involves inhibition of muscle protein synthesis and allows degradation of muscle proteins. Patients with cachexia show hypermetabolism, hyper-catabolism, and hypo-anabolism simultaneously, causing impaired energy metabolism and muscle atrophy [418].

1.6.2 Potential mediators of muscle loss in cancer cachexia

The putative underlying mechanisms that drive the metabolic abnormality in cachectic muscles are greatly studied, and various systemic mediators have been suggested. Since the only successful approach to treat cachexia is curative cancer therapy, cancer cells must be key initiators of cancer cachexia. Therefore, many factors that are released from the tumor and distributed systemically have been suggested as mediators of muscle loss. For example, tumor-derived factors such as TGF- β family members myostatin and Activin A may directly affect muscle signaling cascades, and their elevated levels have implications for muscle loss in cancer patients [419-422]. Also, increased presence of circulatory inflammatory cytokines like interleukin (IL) IL-1, IL-2, IL-6, IL-11, TNF-α [407, 408, 423-425] is associated with cachexia and these factors have been suggested as possible mediators of muscle loss. Studies have shown the interplay between potential mediators in cachexia. For example, inhibition of activin signaling causes reduced IL-6 secretion in *in vitro* and *in vivo* cachexia models [426, 427]. However, clinical interventions that target such single factors have generally shown disappointing results in reversing cachexia, suggesting that the underlying mechanisms causing cachexia are more complex and not yet fully understood. Possibly, the interplay between distinct inflammatory and other mediators released from cancer cells can cause the patient to undergo muscle atrophy. Or alternatively, the atrophy-inducing factors are not derived directly from the cancer cells, but rather from other noncancerous cells whose presence and activities are altered in cancer patients. Given the massive implications tumor development has on immunity, immune cells may possibly have a greater impact on cachexia development, than currently acknowledged. Our current knowledge regarding the role of immune cells in cancer cachexia is addressed below.

1.6.3 Immune cells in cachexia

The skeletal muscle microenvironment is a mixture of myofibers, satellite cells, fibroblasts, endothelial cells, and immune cells [428]. It is known that muscle regeneration during growth, injury, exercise, and hypertrophy involves a strong interaction between multiple cell types inside skeletal muscle environment [429, 430]. There is also a keen interest in understanding how cancer alters skeletal muscle microenvironment and how tumor-derived factors can drive the skeletal muscle catabolism. Despite limited studies linking the function of immune cells and cachexia, recent studies suggest the involvement of numerous immune cell types in cachexia. Immune cells account for 2-6% of skeletal muscle cells that maintain muscle homeostasis [431, 432]. In skeletal muscle wasting in cachexia, a dynamic role of specific immune cells like neutrophils, monocytes, monocyte-derived macrophages, MDSCs and T cells, has been reported [428, 433]. The specific roles are discussed hereunder:

1.6.3.1 Monocytes and macrophages:

Myogenic cells, mesenchymal progenitors and macrophages are important cells needed for muscle regeneration indicating their potential role in skeletal muscle wasting [434]. Several muscle regeneration defects were observed in a C26 model of cancer cachexia along with reduced numbers of

myogenic cells, mesenchymal progenitors, and macrophages [435]. In a study in of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC)-associated cachexia by Burfeind et al. they showed that microglia (resident macrophages of the central nervous system) accumulate in the hypothalamus in brain [436]. Depletion of microglia by CSF1-R antagonists increased cachexia, anorexia, fatigue, and muscle catabolism suggesting a protective function of microglia [437]. In addition to this, increased microglial cells in the hypothalamus positively correlated with increased IL-1b and Arg1 secretion both in vivo and ex vivo. indicating the defensive function of macrophages. A similar protective function of macrophages was also observed in transgenic mouse model of hepatocellular carcinoma-associated cachexia. The myeloid cell specific Hifla knock out mouse, having defective myeloid cell activation, exhibited increased adipose tissue degradation and reduced macrophage infiltration in the adipose tissue [438]. It is known that macrophage function in the adipose tissue dependent on their polarization [439]. In contrast to the protective role of macrophages, another study showed that macrophages boosted pancreatic tumor cell induced myotube atrophy. The frequency of proinflammatory CD163+M2 macrophages negatively correlated with muscle fiber density in patients with pancreatic cancer, suggesting an important role of M2 macrophages in muscle wasting. Also, myotubes generated from the C2C12 cell lines cocultured with M2 macrophages exposed to conditioned media from cultured tumor cells showed significant reduction in myosin heavy chain (a core myofibrillar protein) and increase in proteins involved in ubiquitin mediated degradation [440].

1.6.3.2 Neutrophils

Studies showing a role of neutrophils in cachexia emerged with observations of increased neutrophil influx in response to ischemia/reperfusion-induced skeletal muscle damage [441-443]. Increased neutrophil infiltration is associated with delayed skeletal muscle repair, and increased neutrophil accumulation blunts the signs of skeletal muscle wasting in this model [444]. However, studies in cancer cachexia models have shown contradictory roles of neutrophils. In C26 cachexia mouse models, decreased numbers of neutrophils and a reduction in CXCL3 (a chemokine essential for neutrophil recruitment) were reported along with reduced macrophage populations [435]. However, in mouse models of PDAC, increased neutrophil infiltration expressing brain specific chemotactic receptor CCR2, were observed in the central nervous system. Blocking CCR2, both genetically and via chemical inhibitors, led to a reduction in infiltrating neutrophils as well as diminished cachexia in this model [445]. In addition, a high neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio in advanced cancer patients have shown to correlate with cachexia [446, 447]. More studies are needed and are ongoing to understand the role of neutrophils within the circulation and the TME.

1.6.3.3 MDSCs

MDSCs having immunosuppressive functions are frequently observed in tumors from gastric and pancreatic cancer patients, as well as in several mouse models of cancer associated cachexia: 4T1 breast cancer, C26 colon adenocarcinoma and Lewis lung carcinoma (LLC) [77, 448-450]. The levels of MDSCs in bone marrow and spleen also positively correlated with adipose tissue loss along with loss in total body weight indicating the potential role of MDSCs in cachexia [448, 449].

1.6.3.4 T cells:

The role of adaptive immune cells, especially T cells, remains elusive in cachexia. Like neutrophils, not much is understood about function of T cells in cancer-induced skeletal muscle wasting. In gastrointestinal cancer patients with signs of muscle impairment, the presence of effector CD8⁺T cells were associated with elevated muscle mass whereas the regulatory T cells and memory T cells showed negative correlation with the muscle mass, implying a protective function of CD8⁺T cells in cachexia [451, 452]. It is shown that the muscle microenvironment with reduced levels of cytokines like IL-12, IFN β and IFN γ , establish an environment where CD8⁺T cells can flourish. It is however unclear how these muscle environments form and how they interact with muscle atrophy. One could speculate that these CD8⁺T cells may consume muscle-derived amino acids for their growth and cytokine production [453].

With the current available studies, it is obvious that immune cells can have both anti- and pro-cachectic effects. Additional research is warranted to fill the significant gaps in exploring the role of specific immune cells, including how the local and infiltrating immune cells affect the tissue metabolism in cachexia.

1.6.4 Autophagy and muscle loss in cancer cachexia

Regardless of which atrophy-inducing signal(s) are involved, several metabolic pathways seem to be affected in cachectic muscles. Skeletal muscle accounts for almost 40% of the overall body mass and is the largest tissue in the human body [454]. Although both anabolic and catabolic pathways may be affected in cachexia [455, 456], the focus herein will be on catabolic pathways that may facilitate muscle loss. The degradation of muscle mass is mostly regulated by the ubiquitin proteasome system and autophagy, as well as caspases and calpains depending upon the stimulus [457-461]. Emerging studies have shown accelerated autophagy process in cachexia. Increased levels of autophagy markers like BECN1 and LC3B-II were observed in muscle samples from cachectic patients and in several mouse models of cachexia [457, 462, 463]. Since cachexia involves both skeletal and heart muscle wasting, studying the involvement of autophagy has gained particular interest in these tissues. In fact, muscles of both heart and skeleton showed upregulation of autophagy marker LC3 and SQSTM1 in rat cachexia

models. Treatment with appetite stimulant megestrol acetate reduced SQSTM1 protein as well as autophagy flux in the gastrocnemius and heart of the tumor-bearing rats and improved survival [464]. In muscles of C26 tumor bearing mice, autophagy proteins BECN1, SQSTM1 and LC3B-II levels were higher than in the control mice, indicating increased autophagy activity in cachectic muscles [462]. However, an increase in autophagy markers does not directly reflect increased autophagy if the animals are not treated with autophagic inhibitors.

Genetic studies showing autophagic activity *in vivo* that affects tumor growth or even organ wasting are limited. A study by Penna et al. showed BECN1 knock down slightly reduced muscle wasting in tibialis anterior muscle in C26 bearing mice but did not cause morphological changes [465]. A role of autophagy in systemic muscle wasting in cachexia was recently reported [245]. Khezri et al. reported an important role of autophagy (using *Atg13* knockouts) in promoting organ wasting and nutrient mobilization for tumor growth in malignant tumor model in *Drosophila melanogaster* [341]. Beyond muscle wasting via autophagy, mitochondrial impairment is also associated with onset of cachexia [465-467]. In LLC tumor bearing mice, mitochondrial degeneration and dysregulation occurred prior to cachexia development [468]. This indicates that the mitochondria are damaged and of poor quality in cachectic muscles. These studies pinpoint to a potential role of mitophagy in cachexia [469, 470]. However, studies involving selective autophagy in cachectic muscles are limited and will therefore be essential for a deeper understanding of how selective autophagy plays a role in cachexia development.

1.7 Models used in study

In this PhD research project, three different models were used (Figure 9). The mouse 4T1 breast cancer model is a syngeneic model of metastatic breast cancer that was established by Dexter et al. already in 1978. Originally, four cell lines were isolated from one, spontaneously arising mammary tumor of a BALB/cfC3H mouse [471] and since then, various cell lines and variants of the original cell lines have been developed. Here we used two of these cell lines; 67NR and 66cl4 [471, 472]. When injected back into the mammary fat pad of BALB/c mice, both form primary tumors, but they have different metastatic propensity; 67NR does not metastasize at all, while 66cl4 metastasizes to the lungs (Figure 9). Use of this immunocompetent model allows us to study the interplay between cancer cells and the full specter of immune cells and thus identify features associated with metastatic tumor development. In addition to the 4T1 model, two human breast cancer cell lines that are characterized as non-invasive (MDAMB453) and invasive (MDAMB231) were also used. The MDAMB cell lines both originate from metastases, yet the MDAMB453 is classified as non-invasive based on its expression of matrix metallopeptidase 14 (MMP14) [473, 474], and is considered as tumorigenic only in semi-solid medium (ATCC). For the cachexia model, we used a human cardiomyocyte cell line (AC16, Sigma Aldrich, Cat.no. SCC109) and a mouse myoblast cell line that can be differentiated into myotubes (C2C12, ATCC, nat.no. CRL-1772).



Figure 9. Mouse model and cell lines used in the study. Two cell lines from the mouse 4T1 breast cancer model, two human breast cancer cell lines with invasive and non-invasive propensity, one human cardiomyocyte and one mouse myoblast cell line were used in this study.

2 Aims of Study

Tumorigenesis involves a complex interplay between the transformed cancer cells and local immune cells. This interplay can be either pro-tumorigenic or anti-tumorigenic, depending on the context. Although our understanding of anti-cancer immune responses is increasing, it is still uncertain how immuno-suppressive TMEs, that facilitate tumorigenesis, are shaped and how some cancer cells survive, metastasize, and orchestrate systemic effects in their hosts. The aim of this thesis was to provide more knowledge about the interplay between cancer cells and the immune system that facilitates tumorigenesis and promotes cancer-related muscle loss. More specifically we aimed to:

- Identify biological processes that facilitate immune suppression in the TME and are associated with metastatic tumor development.
- Determine whether autophagy can regulate tumor immune-suppressive processes in metastatic and invasive tumors.
- Explore whether immune responses that are associated with tumorigenesis may have systemic effects on muscle wasting in cancer cachexia.

3 Summary of papers

Paper I:

Opposite and dynamic regulation of the Interferon response in metastatic and non-metastatic breast cancer

The synergy between cancer cells and stromal cells has a strong impact in tumor development and metastasis. In this study, we studied the distinct gene expression patterns altered in cancer cells when they are grown in culture compared to when they form a primary tumor in the 4T1 mammary carcinoma model. Using transcriptomics performed in the metastatic (66cl4) and non-metastatic (67NR) cells and their primary tumors, we found IFN-I response as a potentially altered biological process. We identified a gene signature of 11 IFN-I related genes that were "oppositely expressed" in cells in culture and tumors of the metastatic and non-metastatic cells. While this IFN-I gene signature was highly expressed in 66cl4 cells in vitro it was dampened in 66cl4 tumors, and while it had a low expression in 67NR cells in vitro it was increased in the 67NR tumors. The potential dampening of the IFN-I response in the 66cl4 tumors were also validated using proteomics and immunoblotting. The clinical relevance of our findings from the 4T1 model (a triple negative breast cancer (TNBC) model) is supported by the observation that lower mRNA levels of these 11 IFN-I gene signatures correlates with reduced relapsefree and overall survival exclusively in TNBC patients. We also identified mechanisms involved in the constitutive activation of IFN-I in the metastatic cancer cells. In these cells, when grown *in vitro*, the IFN-I response was activated via the cGAS-STING pathway due to elevated levels of cytosolic DNA, including micronuclei and mtDNA. Our study adds to increasing knowledge on the role of IFN-I response in cancer and highlights the importance of identifying the negative regulators of cGAS-STING in patients with aggressive breast cancer. These regulators may represent future therapeutic targets.



Figure 10. Summarizing illustration of paper I. Using open approach transcriptomics and proteomics we found that the IFN response is dynamic and is oppositely expressed in the metastatic (66cl4) and non-metastatic cells (67NR) in culture, and their respective primary tumors. The cytosolic DNA (damaged mitochondria and micronuclei) in the metastatic and invasive breast cancer cells can activate the IFN-I signaling and cause induction of IFN-I response. Lower IFN-I expression is associated with the reduced overall and relapse free survival in triple negative breast cancer patients.

Summary of paper II

Local arginine restriction dampens IFN-I response via autophagy in breast cancer

The anti-tumor innate immune reactions are often quenched in solid tumors, especially in the patients with an aggressive tumor phenotype. The fundamental interplay between cancer cells and infiltrating immune cells is important for the tumor tissue homeostasis. In this study, we aimed to make significant contributions to our understanding of how a suppressed immunity is established and maintained in some solid tumors and find novel ways to reprogram such a tumor supportive microenvironment. We recently identified that the arginine level in 66cl4 tumors can be depleted by the presence of myeloid cells that produce ARG1. Arginine restriction in the murine and human breast cancer cells led to significant reduction in the IFN-I response, indicating that arginine depletion could be a potential contributor to dampened IFN-I response in aggressive tumors. Amino acid starvation is a strong inducer of autophagy and autophagy has been shown to regulate IFN-responses following pathogenic infections. Still, very little is known about the role of autophagy that is not limited to pathogens, and if autophagy also regulates the DAMPs associated to the cytosolic components. We here found that arginine restriction induced selective autophagy receptors and the autophagy process. Autophagy negatively regulated the IFN-I response in the breast cancer cells by acting on upstream intracellular mediators of the cGAS-STING axis, like cGAS and micronuclei. Our data support that targeting ARG1 or the autophagy machinery in the cancer cells may reactivate inflammatory signaling in the tumor microenvironment and aid in treatment of aggressive tumors.

Summary of Papers



Figure 11. Summarizing illustration of paper II. The metastatic tumors contain higher ARG1 protein that have a potential to dampen local arginine availability in the tumor. Restricting arginine in metastatic cancer cells dampens the IFN-I response, induces several autophagy receptors, and accelerates the autophagy process. Arginine restriction reduces the mitochondrial function causing reduced respiratory capacity, and ATP production, accelerates mitophagy. Micronuclei also attracts autophagy machinery upon arginine restriction. Silencing a core autophagy gene *ATG13* by siRNA exerts a negative effect in both IFN-I signaling and IFN-I response in the metastatic breast cancer cell.

Summary of article paper III

A role of Arginase1- expressing myeloid cells in cachexia

Cachexia is a severe muscle loss condition that remains a global burden due to lack of specific treatments to reverse it. The muscle microenvironment, like TME, is a complex tissue with arrays of cell types, extracellular matrix, and immune components. In this study, we extended our knowledge from paper I and II to investigate if the myeloid cells that express ARG1 can infiltrate the muscle environment and be involved in the muscle degradation of cancer cachexia. Analyzing ARG1 protein in plasma derived from gastrointestinal and pancreatic cancer patients with and without muscle loss indicated significantly higher ARG1 protein level in the patients with weight loss compared to control and weight stable patients. Patients with gastric cancer often develop cachexia, and metanalyses in publicly available databases demonstrated a negative correlation between ARG1 expression and overall survival in gastric cancer patients. When analyzing the transcriptomics of muscle biopsies from three cachexia mouse models (4T1, LLC and C26), revealed upregulation of biological processes involved in myeloid, neutrophil or granulocyte migration in cachectic muscles compared to healthy muscles. We therefore expected that the myeloid cells expressing ARG1 can infiltrate the muscle tissue and reduce the local arginine availability. In line with reports linking autophagy in skeletal muscle wasting and mitochondrial dysfunction in cachexia, we demonstrated that arginine restriction induced selective autophagy reporters, activated the autophagy machinery, and reduced mitochondrial functions in skeletal muscle cells and myoblasts. This study introduces a novel mechanism for muscle atrophy and point out the importance in exploring the role of ARG1-harbouring myeloid cells in cachexia pathogenesis.



Figure 12. Summarizing illustration of paper III. Studies using cachexia mouse models indicate granulocyte population infiltrate the muscle tissue. Arginase-1 expressed by granulocytes have a potential to degrade arginine and cause local arginine availability in the muscle. Increased Arginase-1 correlates with weight loss in cancer patients and associates with reduced survival in gastric and lung cancer patients. Arginine restriction impairs mitochondrial function and induces autophagy in the muscle cells, an important characteristic observed in cachexia.

With around 2.3 million new cases and 685 000 deaths in 2020, breast cancer accounts for most diagnosed cancer and represents a global health burden [475]. The cancer stage and the tumor subtypes determine the patient survival [476, 477]. To opt in an appropriate treatment strategy, proper understanding of tumor type is critically important. As mentioned in the introduction, tumors can be immunologically hot or cold based on the presence of immune cells with either pro or anti-tumor function [142-145]. In accordance with this, IFN expression is also used to classify these tumors; cold tumors have less IFN expression than the hot tumors. Unfortunately, IFN-I signaling is suppressed in most aggressive tumor types and is associated with resistance to classical treatment regimens [229, 232] Thus, immunologically "cold" tumors correlate with poor prognosis. This corresponds to our findings that lower mRNA expression of IFN-I related genes, correlates with a reduced relapse free and overall survival in triple-negative breast cancer patients, underlining the importance of IFN-I response in aggressive tumors. Although different forms of immune therapy have revolutionized cancer treatment, only a small fraction of the patients are responsive. Further progress in this field likely depends on a need for a deeper understanding of the mechanisms that initiate and maintain immune suppression in immunologically cold tumors. The complex heterogeneity in breast cancer, interplay between the cancer cells, immune cells, and stroma in the TME are key factors in establishing an immunosuppressive TME [478, 479].

In this thesis, we focus on the distinct dampening of IFN-I response in tumors that are associated with metastatic propensity (**paper I**) and find that dampening of IFN-I response in these metastatic tumors is regulated through the immune-suppressive innate immune cells tuning the local arginine availability, thereby inducing selective autophagy (**paper II**). Moreover, we find that the presence of these immune suppressive immune cells potentially has systemic effect in cancer associated cachexia (**paper III**). This PhD project extends on previous findings on selective autophagy from the research group [273, 480-482] and explores how TME can be controlled by autophagy and regulated through immune suppressive innate immune cells. Together, this work contributes to exploring a novel concept of cancer immunity.

In search of understanding the mechanism underlying the metastatic tumor development, we utilized the immunocompetent mouse 4T1 breast cancer model. In **paper I**, we show that IFN-I response is a key differentially regulated pathway among metastatic and non-metastatic cell lines and their primary tumors. In a related work in the group (unpublished data), we have found that metastatic tumors in this model also have increased presence of ARG1-expressing myeloid cells. Based on this observation and the findings in paper I, we hypothesized that ARG1-expressing immune suppressive cells infiltrate in the metastatic tumors and induce autophagy, with dampened IFN-I response consequently. Although the role of autophagy in regulating IFN-I response during viral infections is understood, the mechanisms

for suppression of IFN-I response in solid tumors are still unclear [376, 380, 381, 387, 388]. In **paper II**, we found that ARG1 protein are present in the metastasis competent primary tumors and cause local arginine deficiency. We further identified that arginine restriction in breast cancer cells with metastatic ability accelerates the autophagy process and induction of selective autophagy receptors. Concurrently, arginine restriction also potently dampened the expression of IFN-I response related proteins. These findings indicate a novel role of arginine deprivation by downregulating IFN-I response and contribute to immune escape of aggressive cancer. Our results in the invasive human breast cancer cell lines support this notion. In **paper III**, we present experimental data that suggest that the expansion of these characteristics myeloid cells with high expression of Argl may also occur in cancer cachexia (**paper III**). We report an association among ARG1 expression, weight loss and survival in cancer patients, implying a role of ARG1-producing cells in cachexia. In line with this possibility, we find that arginine restriction in muscle cells, enhanced expression of autophagy-related proteins and stimulate the autophagy process, as observed in the breast cancer cells. With these findings that are linked together in a unique way, we have examined why some tumors appear as "never healing wounds" with suppressed immunity.

4.1 Choosing "an appropriate" model

Metastasis is a primary cause of (breast) cancer related mortality. It is therefore crucial to understand the molecular pathways that are altered during metastatic tumor development. Identifying these mechanisms facilitate the expansion of new treatment targets that help in personalized treatment. The IFN-I signature is an example of how our studies in the 4T1 breast cancer model can be extended to a clinical significance. Therefore, choosing an appropriate model is important to perform studies that allow understanding of tumor-host interactions that are clinically relevant. The first study in the thesis involves comparison of the cells in culture and primary tumors formed by the non-metastatic 67NR cell line and the metastatic 66cl4 cell line from the 4T1 breast cancer mouse model. The use of this model allowed to perform bulk transcriptome analysis of the cancer cells under controlled conditions in culture and their respective primary tumors, further validated by proteomics in 67NR and 66cl4 primary tumors.

To obtain an understanding of the tumor-host interactions that occur during cancer development and metastasis, it is crucial to use models with a complete immune system. We chose the 4T1 model because it is immunocompetent and represents a range of metastatic abilities, allowing us to study metastasis as it may occur when tumor-host interactions are operable. In addition, this is an orthotopic model making it more "disease relevant" in assessment of breast tumor growth that grows inside a breast tissue. To translate our findings from this murine model to humans, we first validated in invasive and noninvasive human breast cancer cell lines, before examining the clinical relevance by using publicly available databases, that provides data from thousands of patients. Nevertheless, all disease models, including this model, is restricted by certain limitations. For example, the lower transfection efficiency in the cells

in the model (especially 66cl4) led to difficulty in performing experiments involving transient transfection. We observed substantial heterogeneity between subclones generated from these cancer cells. This heterogeneity made it very difficult to conclude on putative phenotypic changes after different types of genetic manipulation. In addition, even though human and mice have similar risk for cancer development, huge differences in phenotype, karyotype and tumor origin are observed between human and mouse cancers. The inflammatory responses can also be totally different between mice and human tumors [483, 484]. Therefore, validation of data obtained in mouse models with human models are important.

4.2 Amino acid metabolism: a key player in innate immune response

Amino acid levels can control transcription, protein translation and organelle biogenesis since amino acid availability can be sensed by regulatory kinase like mTOR [485]. Recent reviews have focused on the metabolic regulation of various immune cells, role of mTOR signaling and autophagy in the immune system [374, 486]. Amino acid auxotrophy, a need for external supplementation of amino acid may have evolved as an immunoregulatory control mechanism [125, 487]. This is because amino acids not only provide building blocks and energy to fuel cells but also function as modulators of signaling pathways. Reprogramming energy metabolism, an established hallmark of cancer, is an important event in tumorigenesis and therefore have been extensively studied. Only cancer cells that withstand metabolically harsh conditions can survive and metastasize [40]. In tumor metabolism, where the cancer cells constantly demand high nutrient supply, even specific amino acid levels can have an important regulatory role. However, it is difficult to interpret the exact consequences of amino acid starvation within the TME, for cancer cells and the host. For example, tumors containing myeloid cells with suppressive function produce enzymes like arginases (ARG1 and ARG2), reduce arginine levels, and increased ARG1/ARG2 activity correlates with poor clinical outcomes [125, 363]. This could be because certain immune cells, specifically T cells are inhibited upon arginine deficiency, beneficial for the cancer cells but bad for the host. In such circumstances, amino acid supplementation therapy could have beneficial effects for the host. At the same time, in cancer cells with higher metabolic needs, supplying amino acids might help them to efficiently survive, leaving with poor consequences for the host. In our model, we find that reduced arginine levels have a positive function for cancer cells, as it results in dampened IFN-I response, and thus facilitates immune escape. Yet, it is also conceivable that the cancer cells experiencing this restriction face metabolic challenges like reduction in mitochondrial functions. Nonetheless, they still manage to survive, possibly since arginine is largely recycled in the cells because of increased autophagy activity. In these conditions, therapeutic interventions that lead to increased arginine levels can have both better and poor outcomes.

In **paper II**, we found that the primary tumors that can metastasize contain increased levels of ARG1 protein potentially produced by myeloid cells with an immune suppressive function. We also have

observations that the population of immature myeloid cells that are positive for ARG1 have functionally active ARG1, as reflected by an increased arginine/ornithine ratio (unpublished data). Arginine is a semi essential amino acid but becomes essential in the cells where ASS1 is silenced. Cells that lack ASS1 expression are unable to synthesize their own arginine from citrulline and aspartate [344]. The transcriptomics performed in murine breast cancer cells 66cl4 and 67NR showed very low Ass1 mRNA [488], Using data from The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA), Cheng et al. showed ASSI gene expression was downregulated across multiple cancer types including breast cancer. They also characterized the human breast cancer cell line MDAMB231 as ASS1 negative [358]. To confirm this, we investigated the CCLE database and noticed that MDAMB231 cells indeed express very low levels of ASS1 mRNA [489]. Thus, the minimal ASSI expression in such cancer cells likely make arginine to function as an essential amino acid in these cells, where they depend on external arginine supplementation, a mechanism called arginine autotrophy. However, we do not know if cells with minimal ASSI expression are truly arginine auxotrophs and are still sensitive to arginine restriction, or whether the limited ASS1 expression is sufficient to exert some arginine-generating function. We also do not know if ASSI expression can be activated in ASSI-negative cells under different circumstances, such as in argininedeprived conditions. This probably will depend on how they are silenced. We tried to mimic the *in vivo* tumor conditions by depleting the arginine levels in breast cancer (Paper II) and muscle cells (Paper **III**) in vitro and looked for potential pathways affected. We found that arginine restriction had a significant effect both mitochondrial functions, autophagy (Paper II and III) and IFN-I expression (Paper II) in these cells. This shows that, at least in our experimental settings, a putative ASS1 upregulation in response to arginine-deprivation is not sufficient to block the effects on these processes.

The cell culture conditions differ from the TME in many ways. In our study in breast cancer and muscle cells, we used varying concentrations of arginine ranging from the normal concentration in this culture medium; 400μ M or 700μ M (depending on cell line) as control, and 40μ M, 16μ M, 4μ M and 0μ M, respectively, for various degree of arginine restriction. In humans, it is reported that the normal arginine concentration in blood is in the range of $21-137\mu$ M [490, 491]. In fact, we do not know the local concentration of arginine in specific tissues or in tumors and if the concentration varies by blood supply and distance to the closest blood vessel. The control concentration selected here is possibly different than the actual concentration present *in vivo*. However, we do not know how rapid arginine is used up by the cells during culturing. Moreover, complete arginine depletion may not be physiologically relevant in tumors or any tissue. Instead, there may be limited arginine levels. But these limited arginine conditions may persist over long periods of time. In our experiments, we have tested for responses in short time frames, meaning up to 48 hours. In growing tumors, the cancer cells grow and develop in close interplay with its TME over weeks, months, and years. Even if the concentrations and time frames are difficult to compare, we found that the results obtained upon complete arginine restriction (0 μ M)

and limited arginine restriction $(4\mu M)$ were similar. This shows that complete arginine depletion is not necessary to observe the phenotype.

4.3 Arginine restriction as a signal for autophagy induction

Intracellular arginine levels are known to be sensed by the amino acid transporter SLC38A9, in the lysosome and CASTOR1 [368, 370]. In absence of arginine, CASTOR1 interacts with GAP Activity Towards Rags complex 1 (GATOR1) which inhibits mTORC1 possibly enabling activation of autophagy [492]. We therefore expected elevated autophagy upon arginine restriction. We started with an open question; do we find signs of any change in autophagy receptors? Indeed, we found that arginine restriction in the murine metastatic 66cl4 cells caused a striking induction in Sqstm1 mRNA and a slight, but significant, increase in Tax1bp1 (Paper II). The Sąstm1 mRNA was also slightly induced after lysine restriction and after complete amino acid restriction. However, compared to the responses to arginine restriction, the increase in Sqstm1 was minimal after lysine or complete amino acid restriction. Only amino acid degrading enzymes like IDO and ARG1 exclusively have emerged as key players in the regulation of tumor-induced immune tolerance [493]. Therefore, in cancers or normal tissues, lysine and complete amino acid restriction is not of physiological relevance. It is however quite striking that we observed a higher induction in Sąstm1 transcript with arginine restriction compared to complete amino acid restriction where arginine is deprived along with other amino acids in the medium. The absence of arginine is sensed via a sensor system that is specific for arginine opposite to what happens upon absence of all amino acids. It could very likely be that several other mechanisms are involved when the cells experience complete amino acid restriction. However, one could also expect arginine sensors are also activated upon complete amino acid restriction which needs further investigation.

Along with increased transcripts, we also identified SQSTM1 as an early protein to be induced upon arginine starvation. This was opposite of what might be expected, that when cells are starved for semiessential amino acids like arginine, the cells would normally degrade the proteins to overcome the nutrient stress. Intriguingly, SQSTM1 induction after arginine restriction imply that SQSTM1 is a priority protein to be made to mediate the autophagy process. With prolonged incubation in arginine free medium, other autophagy receptors and proteins were elevated highlighting the role of autophagy upon arginine restriction. The induction of autophagy in breast cancer cells in **paper II** were in line with autophagy induced by arginine restriction in the muscle cells in **paper III**. In muscle cells, both the autophagy process and autophagy receptors like, SQSTM1, TAX1BP1, starch binding domain-containing protein 1 (STBD1) and OPTN were induced upon arginine restriction, suggesting arginine-restriction in this tissue, we do not know if the arginine levels in the muscle cells are sensed in the same way as in cancer cells.

4.4 Crosstalk between immune suppressive cell, autophagy, and innate immune response

Several recent publications have defined mechanisms that link autophagy and immunity [376-379, 485]. In this context, it is interesting that immune cells control specific amino acid levels and establish an immunosuppressive TME. In the TME, suppression of T cell function by limiting arginine via ARG1 and NOS2 is a primary mechanism of MDSC-mediated suppression [90]. Cells that accumulate intracellular damage due to mutations, downregulated apoptosis or intracellular pathogens, report this to the immune system through activation of the IFN response [494]. In **Paper I**, we extended on understanding the mechanism of cGAS-STING mediated IFN-I regulation in cancer instead of an infection mediated response.

Cancer cells need to escape immune surveillance for their own benefit. This may be particularly challenging for cancer cells accumulating DNA and damaged proteins and organelles in their cytosol. In cancer cells displaying elevated IFN-I response, we focused on putative upstream activators of cGAS-STING pathway and how they are regulated. We (paper I) and others have shown that damaged mitochondria and micronuclei are responsible for activation of cGAS-STING axis [210, 227]. The role of autophagy in regulating the IFN-I response is extensively studied in response to pathogens [376, 380, 381, 387, 388]. Interestingly, Gui et al. showed that induction of autophagy via STING is a primordial function of the cGAS-STING pathway. They report that that autophagy induction occurs at earliest stage and is evolutionary conserved which is distinct from IFN induction. They also showed that cGAMP induced autophagy hence is important for clearance of cytosolic DNA and DNA viruses [495]. We also presume that this function of autophagy has evolved prior to the development of advanced, adaptive immune systems. The role of autophagy in removing intracellular pathogens is well appreciated [376, 380, 381, 387, 388, 496-498]. In this context, it is logical to consider autophagy as a central innate immune response since it is the fundamental system for clearing intracellular pathogens. Autophagy mediated protective innate immune system is functional in all cell types and can be anticipated that certain immune cells may have a crucial role in stimulating autophagy in the infected cells, potentially inducing a local nutrient depletion. In such a scenario it can be envisioned a role of autophagy could also be involved in clearing the endogenous DAMPs in the cancer cells. In agreement with this, we found increased autophagy correlated with the dampened cGAS-STING dependent IFN-I response in metastatic cancer cell lines (paper II). We also observed that cytosolic DNA containing micronuclei attracted the autophagy machinery as seen by presence of LC3+ vesicles and SQSTM1 puncta. Our observation supports earlier findings from Santiago et al. demonstrating that autophagy leads to the degradation of the micronuclei via LC3 and SQSTM1 [499]. In another study performed in ASS1 deficient prostate cancer cells, arginine depletion using arginine deiminase induced autophagy in two distinct phases. The conventional autophagy in the early 48 h treatment protected the cells from dying whereas prolonged incubation led to excessive autophagy and giant autophagosome formation

causing chromatin autophagy "chromatophagy" in dying cells [500]. In our experiments, we observed reduced numbers of micronuclei until 48 h arginine starvation where conventional autophagy could be involved in clearance of the micronuclei. However, we do not know what happens upon prolonged arginine restriction since the cells do not tolerate arginine restriction for longer time. It would be interesting to establish if autophagy also differs by the size of the micronuclei and if smaller micronuclei are cleared up more easily than the large micronuclei. Still, we do not know if micronuclei are completely turned over by autophagy. For this, one could generate stable cell lines expressing fluorescently tagged LC3 to monitor the autophagy activity at micronuclei and perform live cell imaging. To monitor and identify areas of micronucleus degradation, histone2B tagged with mKeima, could be used to determine if arginine restriction causes the degradation of micronuclei. It would also be interesting to study if autophagy regulates the upstream signaling proteins in cGAS-STING axis inside a solid tumor. To do so, one could study the turnover of upstream proteins like cGAS, markers of DNA damage, damaged mitochondria if they are altered upon autophagic activity inside the tumor. Unfortunately studying these processes *in vivo* comes with many limitations and challenges that needs to be addressed.

Using metastatic breast cancer cell lines, we have tried to mimic the conditions that might not completely reflect what exactly happens in the tumor tissue. It would be therefore important to measure autophagy activity in the tumor to determine if ARG1 expressing tumors have higher autophagic activity. This could be done by measuring the autophagy activity in vivo by using fluorescent proteins like GFP-mCherry fused to autophagy markers; SQSTM1 or LC3 in mouse models. Even though better strategies have been developed, technical limitations still exist during flux measurement in animal models. This is basically because variation exists, and autophagy is induced in different animals at different time points [501]. Therefore, this should be optimized depending upon the specific tumors to be tested. SQSTM1 is known to exert negative control in IFN-I regulation where SQSTM1 knockout induced IFN-I production in mouse embryonic fibroblasts [387]. However, we did not find involvement of SQSTM1 in the negative regulation of the IFN-I signaling in the human breast cancer cells. This could be explained by the inability of siRNAs to completely abolish the SQSTM1 in the cells, where the remaining SOSTM1 protein could exert sufficient function. In addition, other autophagy receptors might exert regulation and compensate when SQSTM1 is downregulated/lost. The shRNA SQSTM1 mediated knockdown studies in murine 66cl4 cells, were inconclusive because of heterogeneity between the different clones (data not shown). Clonal selection and generation of pool from a single clone would be better to perform knockdown/knock out studies in the difficult cells. In fact, it could also be true that SQSTM1 does not exert immunoregulatory function in all models. Study by Zach et al. showed that SOSTM1 knock out mice accelerated the osteoclastogenic process and lead to Paget's disease of bone like phenotype [502]. However, no autoimmune disease upon SQSTM1 knock down was addressed by the authors, suggesting that autophagy might not have immune regulatory function.

In our study, we indeed found that ATG13, an important protein in the core autophagy process, negatively regulated IFN-I production as well as signaling under both arginine rich and restricted condition supporting the role of autophagy in IFN-I regulation in cancer.

4.5 MDSCS: An emerging player in cancer Cachexia

Our findings from paper I and II, indicate that cancer is associated with a specific increase in immune cell population. We think that these immune cells also play a crucial role in cancer cachexia. These specific immune cells migrate from the bone marrow and are released in the bloodstream. With this ability, these cells can enter the muscles and reshape the muscle microenvironment. We also know that the arginine homeostasis that these immune cells affect can increase autophagy activity in cancer cells. A systemic increase in autophagy is also seen in cachexia [427]. In paper III, we therefore asked whether these immune cells also enter the muscle tissue of cancer patients who develop cachexia. Recent studies have suggested the involvement of arrays of immune cells including neutrophils, macrophages, MDSCs in cachexia patients and animal models [433]. Despite increasing reports about the role of immune cell involvement in maintaining muscle homeostasis, our knowledge regarding their function in cancer cachexia is limited. In paper III, datamining of the RNA sequencing performed in three cachexia mouse models (4T1, C26 and LLC) [503, 504], we found an increase in markers of neutrophil and MDSCs in cachectic muscles attributing an expansion of these cells in cachexia. ARG1 expression is characteristics of myeloid cells [125]. We therefore checked if ARG1 expression had any correlation with pathogenesis in patients with cancer cachexia. Our results from the ARG1 in plasma showed elevated levels of ARG1 in cancer patients with weight loss compared to the healthy control and weight stable cancer patients suggesting infiltration of ARG1 positive cells in cancer cachexia.

Despite extensive increase in several MDSC and neutrophil markers, we do not find elevated *Arg1* mRNA expression in cachectic muscles from any of the three cachexia mouse models studied here. Since ARG protein is formed early during neutrophil development and that we are therefore unsure how well the mRNA levels reflect the actual protein level in the muscle. As discussed in **paper III**, further studies are needed to perform proper assays like measurement of specific arginine levels in muscle or more specifically assessment of ARG1 activity in identifying the potentiality of MDSCs in muscle cells. Nevertheless, this is also not straight forward. Even so, if we expect increase in ARG protein, a protein extract from the muscle will probably be dominated by the proteins that arise from the muscle cells which might make detection even more difficult. In this case, performing immune staining to detect ARG protein in muscle would be a better approach. Quantifying arginine and ornithine could be also beneficial to identify the ARG activity. In fact, studies have been carried out that have analyzed arginine and ornithine levels in cachectic muscles. However, it must be remembered that what has been analyzed is a sum of extracellular and intracellular muscle content. It is also known that arginine levels in some cellular compartments can be very high and are probably buffered by autophagy. A measurement of the
amino acid level in the extracellular muscle environment therefore will be accurate that represents arginine availability in the tissue. Computed tomography-based approaches has been successful in identifying organ volume changes during cachexia in *Drosophila melanogaster* models [505]. Still, determining specific amino acid levels in extra cellular space in animal models have not been identified. This should be focused on further studies.

Linking the findings from paper II and III, we hypothesized that the circulating immune cells containing ARG1 with arginine degrading activity in the local muscle environment could also alter local arginine levels in the muscle. In cachexia, as described by extensive loss of lean muscle mass, the role of autophagy in cancer induced muscle wasting has been extensively studied. For example, skeletal muscle samples from cachectic cancer patients and cachexia mouse models have shown increased levels of autophagy markers like Beclin-1, LC3B-II, SQSTM1 etc. [457, 462, 463]. Our research group and others have well acknowledged the involvement of autophagy in degradation of muscle content in cachexia [426, 427, 465]. Together with our findings from paper II, this led us to ask if arginine restriction also induce autophagy of muscle cells. As in breast cancer cells, arginine restriction increased the expression of autophagy-related proteins and induced the autophagy process in muscle cells. In line with studies showing reduced mitochondrial functions and ATP production in cachectic muscles we found reduced mitochondrial function in muscle cells that are depleted for arginine [506]. In addition, we observed reduction of inner mitochondrial membrane protein suggesting that damaged dysfunctional mitochondrial are degraded via mitophagy. However, it is necessary to perform mitophagy flux assays to confirm this notion. One could generate reporter muscle cells with LDHB-mKeima and mt-mKeima as performed in **paper II**. Our results suggests that expansion in the number of ARG1 expressing immune cells may be causally involved in elevated catabolism and reduced mitochondrial function in muscle during cancer cachexia. To further confirm the potential effect of ARG1, studies using myeloidspecific knock out of ARG1 mouse model would be beneficial. With this, we could learn if ARG1 knock out mice can confer resistant to cachexia development. In parallel, the commercially available ARG1 inhibitors could also be used to see if ARG1 inhibition regulates cachexia progression in vivo.

4.6 The future of Arginase and autophagy inhibitors

To develop future therapeutic strategies, we need to uncover the mechanisms that can reactivate the inflammatory signaling in the TME and turn the immunologically "cold" tumor to "hot". IFN based therapies using recombinant type I IFNs and IFN inducers like TLR agonists, STING agonists, chemotherapeutic and targeted drugs have shown promising results in clinical trials [507-509]. Nevertheless, these strategies still have limitations, either associated with severe side effects or increased production of immunosuppressive cells. Studies have also shown that combining IFN-I and immune checkpoint-based therapies are not suitable for all cancer patients [508]. From our findings in **paper I, II and III** and unpublished data from the group, we argue that increasing arginine levels would

be beneficial in both breast cancer patients and cachexia. It is known that many cancer patients undergo immune suppression and have lower plasma arginine levels [127, 510, 511]. Increased ARG expression and activity is observed in many cancers, reporting its role in tumorigenesis [116-118]. In accordance with this, our observations demonstrate that infiltrating ARG1-positive myeloid cells were abundant in metastatic-competent tumors and higher ARG1 levels correlated with a large cohort of human breast cancer (unpublished data). This indicates that ARG1 could be used as a potential prognostic marker to predict patient outcomes.

In paper I, we identified that IFN-I is dampened in the tumors with metastatic ability and lower IFN expression correlates with poor patient outcome in TNBC breast cancer patients having aggressive tumors. Our findings presented in **paper II** with autophagy mediated dampening of IFN-I response in the cancer cells also highlight the benefits of raised arginine levels in the tumors. The presence of myeloid cells in cachexia mouse models and higher ARG1 levels in plasma of cachectic patients add to the prognostic value of ARG1 in systemic disease like cachexia. We therefore suggest targeting both ARG1 and autophagy to establish an anti-tumor immune response and counteract muscle wasting as an attractive approach for future treatment.

Both arginase and autophagy inhibitors have been used separately and have demonstrated beneficial effects [116, 512, 513]. In accordance with this, studies using mouse models where ARG1 is pharmaceutically targeted using nor-NOHA or CB-1158 have shown to reduce tumor growth in mice [511, 514]. Study by Steggerda et al. additionally showed blocking MDSC-mediated ARG1 with CB-1158 increased tumor and plasma arginine levels in syngeneic mouse models. In addition, it reversed the ARG1-mediated suppression of T cell proliferation, increased inflammatory cytokines and increased IFN responsive transcripts [511]. This was in full agreement with "turning an immunologically cold tumor to hot" by using ARG1 inhibitor. At the same time, targeting arginase systemically can be challenging due to importance of the urea cycle in maintaining the proper cellular functioning and wound healing properties. Despite this, arginase inhibitors in clinical trials have shown beneficial effects [516]. However, the arginase inhibitors in clinical trials are mostly in phase I and II, but phase III trials as monotherapy have not reached intended goals [361].

Like ARG1 inhibitors, recent studies have also shown the importance of autophagy in switching the cold TME to hot, hence increasing the response to immunotherapy [517, 518]. The US Food and Drug administration (FDA) accepted autophagy inhibitors chloroquine (CQ) and hydroxychloroquine (HCQ) have shown promising effect in some cancer patients [517]. Several Phase I/II trials are determining the safety and efficacy of CQ and HCQ as both monotherapy and a combination therapy. CQ and HCQ when combined with chemotherapeutic drugs and radiation enhanced the efficacy of tumor cell killing in patients with solid tumors [517, 519]. A recent study showed the beneficial effect of the combination

therapy both *in vivo* and *in vitro* using HCQ and 2-Deoxyglucose (2-DG), a glucose analogue that inhibits glycolysis [520, 521]. This potential combination therapy has also shown reduced tumor size and metastasis in liver and lungs in both the 4T1 mouse model and CMT-7364 canine model [519]. However, CQ and HCQ showed minimal effect as monotherapy in breast and pancreatic cancer patients [522, 523] but the long-term use in pre- and post-operative cancer patients showed better clinical outcomes [522, 524-526]. Since both arginase and autophagy inhibitors alone have not gained expected outcomes, we suggest combination therapies using ARG1 and autophagy inhibitors could aid to reprogram an aggressive tumor microenvironment. However, it is essential to note the timing of treatment to avoid severe side effects because of context dependent role of autophagy in cancer. For example, early administration of autophagy inhibitor can induce apoptosis whereas the late inhibition can activate a pro survival mechanisms thereby enabling cancer cells to rescue cell death [527]. Thus, future strategies to combine arginase and autophagy inhibitors demands improved mechanistic understanding.

Arginine supplementation therapy has also shown to have beneficial effect for cancer patients. In a study involving 96 breast cancer patients, arginine supplementation led to increased pathological response compared to the healthy controls indicating arginine supplementation might have an antitumor effect in cancer patients [528]. However, arginine supplementation also comes with some side effects. The oral arginine supplementation led to several gastrointestinal disorder and excess arginine metabolism by the intestinal mucosa [529-531]. Therefore, the use of ARG1 inhibitors has potential in maintaining arginine levels in patient without having gastrointestinal disorders compared to dietary supplementation. In addition, citrulline supplementation could be a better option because of its higher stability and is known to be more efficient at increasing arginine availability in mice [532]. But gastrointestinal and other side effects should be taken in account if there is any. Even if arginine or citrulline supplement were to be given, it is unknown whether this leads to an increased arginine level in tissues that are enriched with ARG-positive immune cells, which continuously degrade arginine.

In cachexia, the underlying mechanisms are incompletely understood, and no treatment regimen has been shown to successfully reverse cachexia, and no cachexia drugs are approved by the FDA. Oral treatment regimens like Anamorelin, a gherlin receptor agonist, that improves appetite were approved for certain cancers in Japan [533]. Anamorelin was not approved in Europe since it showed a marginal effect on lean body mass but no proven effect on strengthening the grip of patients and improved quality of life [534]. Cachexia therefore is still an unmet medical need, where no strategies targeting autophagy or immune cells for reduction of muscle mass are clinically tested. In fact, iron supplement in cachexia mouse models and patients have shown to prevent muscle loss, suggesting important mechanism to avoid cancer induced muscle atrophy [535]. It is therefore tempting to speculate that ARG and

autophagy inhibitors alone or in combination can achieve clinical efficacy in cancer patients with cachexia.

5 Future Perspectives

As a tumor progresses different cell types, including immune cells, infiltrate the tumor. Large clinical studies have shown that both the number and type of infiltrating immune cells have therapeutic and prognostic implications [536, 537]. Many studies have focused on interaction between the primary tumor and its microenvironment [538, 539]. The role of infiltrating immune cells, especially neutrophils in tumor progression, remains largely uncharacterized. Nevertheless, cancer associated neutrophilia and increased numbers of neutrophils in tumors have been associated with poor prognosis in many cancers, suggesting their potential function [446, 540]. A preclinical study has shown that neutrophils bodyguard circulating tumors cells (CTCs) in the bloodstream and expand their metastatic potential. The CTCs associated with neutrophils were highly proliferative and efficient in metastasis formation. RNA sequencing analysis in CTCs associated neutrophils from patients or orthologous mouse, showed elevated expression of ARG1, CXCR2 and several chemokines [446]. In line with this, unpublished data from our group show that metastatic cancer cells display elevated expression of CXCL3. CXCL3 is a chemoattractant for neutrophils that signals through the CXCR2 receptor, which subsequently drive mature neutrophils into circulation [541]. This pinpoints the unique capacity of the metastatic cancer cells is not only restricted to recruiting neutrophils but also utilizing neutrophils to efficiently establish metastasis. It has been shown that the neutrophils escort the CTCs into the distant organs where the MDSCs or neutrophils can establish a premetastatic niche [542]. Hence, it would be interesting to study what are the potential phenotypes of these recruited neutrophils and how they can aid in metastasis in addition to being established in the tumors. The presence of neutrophils and MDSCs in tumors have been known for years, but their functional role in tumor progression is still incompletely understood. Functional studies of these cells are limited by their fragility and by their tendency to be activated during sample preparation. Together, this might lead to misleading results not exactly mimicking the real situation inside a solid tumor or other areas in the body. In addition, after mature neutrophils leave the bone marrow, they have a short half-life and contain very low mRNA levels [541, 543]. This makes such cells challenging to characterize through gene expression-based studies. Therefore, new methods for sensitive proteome characterization will improve our understanding of the interplay between cancer cells and neutrophils. Identifying the putative roles of MDSCs and neutrophils in metastasis progression could also lead to development of new cancer therapies.

The results presented in this thesis indicate an interplay between cancer cells, infiltrating immune cells and autophagy in the TME. Recently, it was published that more than 60% of all breast cancers have a microbiome of intracellular bacteria that is richer and more diverse compared to normal breast tissues. This very surprising finding that may represent a new dogma for our understanding of peripheral immunity, but also indicate dampened immune reactions in the tumor [544]. It is likely that the infiltration and activity of the immune cells are a consequence of the acquired features of the cancer cells. Based on our recent observations, increased infiltration of ARG1 containing cells in the metastatic

Future Perspectives

tumors alter autophagy in the cancer cells which subsequently leads to suppression of local immunity. Our study identifies a unique ability of the infiltrating immune cells to tune local arginine availability, induce autophagy and negatively regulate the innate immune response. As discussed in **paper II**, SQSTM1 stands out as an important autophagy receptor to be affected upon arginine restriction. However, SQSTM1 was not crucial for regulating the IFN-I response in the metastatic cancer cells. Understanding the detailed mechanism involved in increased *Sqstm1* transcription upon arginine restriction would help to identify its potential role in regulating immune reactions inside a tumor, if any. A recent study in Zebrafish model show that certain bacteria may use neutrophils as a proliferative niche, and neutrophils can use Sqstm1 to target for bacteria's subsequent degradation [545]. Identifying if neutrophils and SQSTM1 are interrelated in solid tumors would also be interesting.

ASS1 silencing is a unique phenotype observed in many cancer cells [546]. The cells used in this study had minimal to negligible ASS1 expression, making them dependent on external arginine, and were sensitive to arginine restriction. It would therefore be interesting to overexpress ASS1 in these cells to see if this reduces the response to arginine restriction. Interestingly, a recent study in hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), demonstrated that ASS1 overexpression increased sensitivity in HCC spheroid cells to chemotherapeutic agents [547]. However, we would expect that the immune system would get overactivated and might have extreme consequences upon ASS1 overexpression.

6 Conclusion

Even with progress in the diagnosis and treatment of breast cancer, there is still little or no cure for metastatic cancers. This demands a new and more personalized therapy to improve survival and reduce side effects. Recent technological advances have finally opened for detailed characterization of the infiltrating immune cells and studies of how cancer cells control their presence and phenotype. Studying the TME closely is therefore needed to better understand cancer progression. It is also crucial to understand how patients with similar tumors, respond differently to treatment. The results of this project have added to our understanding of the mechanisms underlying aggressiveness in breast cancer to reduce over treatment of those with favorable prognosis and to indicate new therapeutic strategies for those with poor prognosis.

The three studies presented in this PhD thesis are well connected, suggesting a novel mechanism where the myeloid cells with immune suppressive function can infiltrate the tumor and muscle microenvironment and regulate arginine availability in the tumor and muscle. Targeting these cellular mechanisms may improve innate immune response in the aggressive breast cancer patients as well as reversing muscle atrophy in systemic cachexia. Our results add to the increasing knowledge of the interplay between immune cells, innate immune response, autophagy, and cachexia. Altogether, this work also adds to the understanding of mechanisms underlying tumor aggressiveness as well as provide new markers for targeting aggressive cancers and cancer cachexia.

- 1. Hinck, L. and I. Nathke, *Changes in cell and tissue organization in cancer of the breast and colon*. Curr Opin Cell Biol, 2014. **26**: p. 87-95.
- 2. Feng, Y., et al., Breast cancer development and progression: Risk factors, cancer stem cells, signaling pathways, genomics, and molecular pathogenesis. Genes Dis, 2018. **5**(2): p. 77-106.
- Sung, H., et al., Global Cancer Statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN Estimates of Incidence and Mortality Worldwide for 36 Cancers in 185 Countries. CA Cancer J Clin, 2021. 71(3): p. 209-249.
- 4. *Cancer Epidemiology and Prevention*, ed. D. Schottenfeld and J.F. Fraumeni. 2006: Oxford University Press.
- 5. Kreftregisteret. *Kreftstatistikk*. 2021; Available from: https://www.kreftregisteret.no/Generelt/Nyheter/2021/.
- Cancer Registry of Norway. *Cancer incidence, mortality, survival and prevalence in Norway*.
 2022; Available from: <u>https://www.kreftregisteret.no/globalassets/cancer-in-norway/2021/cin_report.pdf</u>.
- 7. Edge, S.B. and C.C. Compton, *The American Joint Committee on Cancer: the 7th edition of the AJCC cancer staging manual and the future of TNM*. Ann Surg Oncol, 2010. **17**(6): p. 1471-4.
- 8. Zhu, H. and B.E. Dogan, American Joint Committee on Cancer's Staging System for Breast Cancer, Eighth Edition: Summary for Clinicians. Eur J Breast Health, 2021. **17**(3): p. 234-238.
- 9. Parker, J.S., et al., *Supervised risk predictor of breast cancer based on intrinsic subtypes*. J Clin Oncol, 2009. **27**(8): p. 1160-7.
- 10. BREASTCANCER.ORG. Molecular Subtypes of Breast Cancer

2022; Available from: <u>https://www.breastcancer.org/types/molecular-subtypes</u>.

- 11. Bertucci, F., et al., *The therapeutic response of ER+/HER2- breast cancers differs according to the molecular Basal or Luminal subtype*. NPJ Breast Cancer, 2020. **6**: p. 8.
- 12. Cejalvo, J.M., et al., *Clinical implications of the non-luminal intrinsic subtypes in hormone receptor-positive breast cancer*. Cancer Treat Rev, 2018. **67**: p. 63-70.
- 13. Wawruszak, A., et al., *Valproic Acid and Breast Cancer: State of the Art in 2021*. Cancers (Basel), 2021. **13**(14).
- 14. Brandao, M., N. Ponde, and M. Piccart-Gebhart, *Mammaprint: a comprehensive review*. Future Oncol, 2019. **15**(2): p. 207-224.
- 15. Paik, S., et al., A multigene assay to predict recurrence of tamoxifen-treated, node-negative breast cancer. N Engl J Med, 2004. **351**(27): p. 2817-26.
- 16. Parrot, D., et al., [Use of the Cell Saver in heart surgery with extracorporeal circulation]. Cah Anesthesiol, 1988. **36**(6): p. 445-9.
- 17. Sun, L., et al., *Molecular Testing in Breast Cancer: Current Status and Future Directions*. J Mol Diagn, 2021. **23**(11): p. 1422-1432.
- 18. Wallden, B., et al., *Development and verification of the PAM50-based Prosigna breast cancer gene signature assay.* BMC Med Genomics, 2015. **8**: p. 54.
- 19. Park, M., et al., Breast Cancer Metastasis: Mechanisms and Therapeutic Implications. Int J Mol Sci, 2022. 23(12).
- 20. Greten, F.R. and S.I. Grivennikov, *Inflammation and Cancer: Triggers, Mechanisms, and Consequences*. Immunity, 2019. **51**(1): p. 27-41.
- Mittal, V., *Epithelial Mesenchymal Transition in Tumor Metastasis*. Annu Rev Pathol, 2018.
 13: p. 395-412.
- 22. Budczies, J., et al., *The landscape of metastatic progression patterns across major human cancers*. Oncotarget, 2015. **6**(1): p. 570-83.
- 23. Kim, M.Y., Breast Cancer Metastasis. Adv Exp Med Biol, 2021. 1187: p. 183-204.

- 24. Paget, S., *The distribution of secondary growths in cancer of the breast. 1889.* Cancer Metastasis Rev, 1989. **8**(2): p. 98-101.
- 25. Wyld, L., R.A. Audisio, and G.J. Poston, *The evolution of cancer surgery and future perspectives*. Nat Rev Clin Oncol, 2015. **12**(2): p. 115-24.
- 26. Breast Cancer Treatment (PDQ(R)): Health Professional Version, in PDQ Cancer Information Summaries. 2002: Bethesda (MD).
- 27. Budach, W., et al., *DEGRO practical guidelines for radiotherapy of breast cancer V: Therapy for locally advanced and inflammatory breast cancer, as well as local therapy in cases with synchronous distant metastases.* Strahlenther Onkol, 2015. **191**(8): p. 623-33.
- Slamon, D., et al., Adjuvant trastuzumab in HER2-positive breast cancer. N Engl J Med, 2011.
 365(14): p. 1273-83.
- 29. Howell, A., et al., *Results of the ATAC (Arimidex, Tamoxifen, Alone or in Combination) trial after completion of 5 years' adjuvant treatment for breast cancer.* Lancet, 2005. **365**(9453): p. 60-2.
- 30. Kharb, R., et al., *Aromatase inhibitors: Role in postmenopausal breast cancer*. Arch Pharm (Weinheim), 2020. **353**(8): p. e2000081.
- 31. Seruga, B. and I.F. Tannock, *Up-front use of aromatase inhibitors as adjuvant therapy for breast cancer: the emperor has no clothes.* J Clin Oncol, 2009. **27**(6): p. 840-2.
- 32. Kummel, S., J. Holtschmidt, and S. Loibl, *Surgical treatment of primary breast cancer in the neoadjuvant setting*. Br J Surg, 2014. **101**(8): p. 912-24.
- 33. Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative, G., *Long-term outcomes for neoadjuvant versus adjuvant chemotherapy in early breast cancer: meta-analysis of individual patient data from ten randomised trials.* Lancet Oncol, 2018. **19**(1): p. 27-39.
- 34. Kakimi, K., et al., *Advances in personalized cancer immunotherapy*. Breast Cancer, 2017. **24**(1): p. 16-24.
- 35. Vranic, S., et al., *PD-L1 status in breast cancer: Current view and perspectives.* Semin Cancer Biol, 2021. **72**: p. 146-154.
- 36. Won, K.A. and C. Spruck, *Triple-negative breast cancer therapy: Current and future perspectives (Review).* Int J Oncol, 2020. **57**(6): p. 1245-1261.
- 37. Jiao, S., et al., *PARP Inhibitor Upregulates PD-L1 Expression and Enhances Cancer-Associated Immunosuppression*. Clin Cancer Res, 2017. **23**(14): p. 3711-3720.
- 38. Feins, S., et al., *An introduction to chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T-cell immunotherapy for human cancer*. Am J Hematol, 2019. **94**(S1): p. S3-S9.
- 39. Yang, Y.H., et al., *CAR-T Cell Therapy for Breast Cancer: From Basic Research to Clinical Application.* Int J Biol Sci, 2022. **18**(6): p. 2609-2626.
- 40. Hanahan, D., Hallmarks of Cancer: New Dimensions. Cancer Discov, 2022. 12(1): p. 31-46.
- 41. Balkwill, F.R., M. Capasso, and T. Hagemann, *The tumor microenvironment at a glance*. J Cell Sci, 2012. **125**(Pt 23): p. 5591-6.
- 42. Baghban, R., et al., *Tumor microenvironment complexity and therapeutic implications at a glance.* Cell Commun Signal, 2020. **18**(1): p. 59.
- 43. Hanahan, D. and R.A. Weinberg, *Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation*. Cell, 2011. **144**(5): p. 646-74.
- 44. Poltavets, V., et al., *The Role of the Extracellular Matrix and Its Molecular and Cellular Regulators in Cancer Cell Plasticity*. Front Oncol, 2018. **8**: p. 431.
- 45. Perez-Tomas, R. and I. Perez-Guillen, *Lactate in the Tumor Microenvironment: An Essential Molecule in Cancer Progression and Treatment.* Cancers (Basel), 2020. **12**(11).
- 46. Janssen, L.M.E., et al., *The immune system in cancer metastasis: friend or foe?* J Immunother Cancer, 2017. **5**(1): p. 79.
- 47. Lan, H.R., et al., *Role of immune regulatory cells in breast cancer: Foe or friend*? Int Immunopharmacol, 2021. **96**: p. 107627.

- 48. Pernot, S., S. Evrard, and A.M. Khatib, *The Give-and-Take Interaction Between the Tumor Microenvironment and Immune Cells Regulating Tumor Progression and Repression*. Front Immunol, 2022. **13**: p. 850856.
- 49. Chen, F., et al., *New horizons in tumor microenvironment biology: challenges and opportunities.* BMC Med, 2015. **13**: p. 45.
- 50. Gonzalez, H., C. Hagerling, and Z. Werb, *Roles of the immune system in cancer: from tumor initiation to metastatic progression.* Genes Dev, 2018. **32**(19-20): p. 1267-1284.
- 51. Hinshaw, D.C. and L.A. Shevde, *The Tumor Microenvironment Innately Modulates Cancer Progression.* Cancer Res, 2019. **79**(18): p. 4557-4566.
- Pena-Romero, A.C. and E. Orenes-Pinero, *Dual Effect of Immune Cells within Tumour Microenvironment: Pro- and Anti-Tumour Effects and Their Triggers.* Cancers (Basel), 2022.
 14(7).
- 53. Zhang, Q., et al., *Neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio correlates with prognosis and response to chemotherapy in patients with non-M3 de novo acute myeloid leukemia.* Transl Cancer Res, 2021. **10**(2): p. 1013-1024.
- 54. Wang, Y., et al., *Emerging strategies in targeting tumor-resident myeloid cells for cancer immunotherapy.* J Hematol Oncol, 2022. **15**(1): p. 118.
- 55. Martinez, L.M., et al., *Regulatory T Cells Control the Switch From in situ to Invasive Breast Cancer*. Front Immunol, 2019. **10**: p. 1942.
- 56. Okazaki, T., et al., *A rheostat for immune responses: the unique properties of PD-1 and their advantages for clinical application.* Nat Immunol, 2013. **14**(12): p. 1212-8.
- 57. Leach, D.R., M.F. Krummel, and J.P. Allison, *Enhancement of antitumor immunity by CTLA-4 blockade*. Science, 1996. **271**(5256): p. 1734-6.
- 58. Stadtmauer, E.A., et al., *CRISPR-engineered T cells in patients with refractory cancer*. Science, 2020. **367**(6481).
- 59. Jiang, W., et al., *Exhausted CD8+T Cells in the Tumor Immune Microenvironment: New Pathways to Therapy.* Front Immunol, 2020. **11**: p. 622509.
- 60. Fridman, W.H., et al., *B cells and cancer: To B or not to B*? J Exp Med, 2021. 218(1).
- 61. LeBien, T.W. and T.F. Tedder, *B lymphocytes: how they develop and function*. Blood, 2008. **112**(5): p. 1570-80.
- 62. Shen, P. and S. Fillatreau, *Antibody-independent functions of B cells: a focus on cytokines.* Nat Rev Immunol, 2015. **15**(7): p. 441-51.
- 63. Khan, A.R., et al., *PD-L1hi B cells are critical regulators of humoral immunity*. Nat Commun, 2015. **6**: p. 5997.
- 64. Kaku, H., et al., A novel mechanism of B cell-mediated immune suppression through CD73 expression and adenosine production. J Immunol, 2014. **193**(12): p. 5904-13.
- 65. Deaglio, S., et al., Adenosine generation catalyzed by CD39 and CD73 expressed on regulatory T cells mediates immune suppression. J Exp Med, 2007. **204**(6): p. 1257-65.
- 66. Prager, I. and C. Watzl, *Mechanisms of natural killer cell-mediated cellular cytotoxicity*. J Leukoc Biol, 2019. **105**(6): p. 1319-1329.
- 67. Laskowski, T.J., A. Biederstadt, and K. Rezvani, *Natural killer cells in antitumour adoptive cell immunotherapy*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2022. **22**(10): p. 557-575.
- 68. Meza Guzman, L.G., N. Keating, and S.E. Nicholson, *Natural Killer Cells: Tumor Surveillance and Signaling.* Cancers (Basel), 2020. **12**(4).
- 69. Orecchioni, M., et al., *Corrigendum: Macrophage Polarization: Different Gene Signatures in M1(LPS+) vs. Classically and M2(LPS-) vs. Alternatively Activated Macrophages.* Front Immunol, 2020. **11**: p. 234.
- 70. Arora, S., et al., *Macrophages: Their role, activation and polarization in pulmonary diseases.* Immunobiology, 2018. **223**(4-5): p. 383-396.
- 71. Coffelt, S.B., M.D. Wellenstein, and K.E. de Visser, *Neutrophils in cancer: neutral no more.* Nat Rev Cancer, 2016. **16**(7): p. 431-46.

- 72. Caruso, R.A., et al., *Prognostic value of intratumoral neutrophils in advanced gastric carcinoma in a high-risk area in northern Italy*. Mod Pathol, 2002. **15**(8): p. 831-7.
- 73. Jensen, H.K., et al., *Presence of intratumoral neutrophils is an independent prognostic factor in localized renal cell carcinoma*. J Clin Oncol, 2009. **27**(28): p. 4709-17.
- 74. Jensen, T.O., et al., Intratumoral neutrophils and plasmacytoid dendritic cells indicate poor prognosis and are associated with pSTAT3 expression in AJCC stage I/II melanoma. Cancer, 2012. **118**(9): p. 2476-85.
- 75. Carus, A., et al., *Tumor-associated neutrophils and macrophages in non-small cell lung cancer: no immediate impact on patient outcome.* Lung Cancer, 2013. **81**(1): p. 130-7.
- 76. Li, K., et al., *Myeloid-derived suppressor cells as immunosuppressive regulators and therapeutic targets in cancer.* Signal Transduct Target Ther, 2021. **6**(1): p. 362.
- 77. Gabrilovich, D.I. and S. Nagaraj, *Myeloid-derived suppressor cells as regulators of the immune system.* Nat Rev Immunol, 2009. **9**(3): p. 162-74.
- 78. Gantt, S., et al., *The role of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in immune ontogeny*. Front Immunol, 2014. **5**: p. 387.
- 79. Takizawa, H., S. Boettcher, and M.G. Manz, *Demand-adapted regulation of early hematopoiesis in infection and inflammation*. Blood, 2012. **119**(13): p. 2991-3002.
- 80. Sinha, P., et al., *Proinflammatory S100 proteins regulate the accumulation of myeloidderived suppressor cells.* J Immunol, 2008. **181**(7): p. 4666-75.
- Sander, L.E., et al., Hepatic acute-phase proteins control innate immune responses during infection by promoting myeloid-derived suppressor cell function. J Exp Med, 2010. 207(7): p. 1453-64.
- 82. Reichel, C.A., et al., *C-C motif chemokine CCL3 and canonical neutrophil attractants promote neutrophil extravasation through common and distinct mechanisms.* Blood, 2012. **120**(4): p. 880-90.
- 83. Qian, B.Z., et al., *CCL2 recruits inflammatory monocytes to facilitate breast-tumour metastasis*. Nature, 2011. **475**(7355): p. 222-5.
- Kitamura, T., et al., CCL2-induced chemokine cascade promotes breast cancer metastasis by enhancing retention of metastasis-associated macrophages. J Exp Med, 2015. 212(7): p. 1043-59.
- 85. Ichikawa, M., et al., *S100A8/A9 activate key genes and pathways in colon tumor progression.* Mol Cancer Res, 2011. **9**(2): p. 133-48.
- 86. Hiratsuka, S., et al., *Tumour-mediated upregulation of chemoattractants and recruitment of myeloid cells predetermines lung metastasis.* Nat Cell Biol, 2006. **8**(12): p. 1369-75.
- 87. Condamine, T., et al., *Regulation of tumor metastasis by myeloid-derived suppressor cells.* Annu Rev Med, 2015. **66**: p. 97-110.
- 88. Chun, E., et al., *CCL2 Promotes Colorectal Carcinogenesis by Enhancing Polymorphonuclear Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cell Population and Function.* Cell Rep, 2015. **12**(2): p. 244-57.
- 89. Talmadge, J.E. and D.I. Gabrilovich, *History of myeloid-derived suppressor cells*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2013. **13**(10): p. 739-52.
- 90. Monu, N.R. and A.B. Frey, *Myeloid-derived suppressor cells and anti-tumor T cells: a complex relationship.* Immunol Invest, 2012. **41**(6-7): p. 595-613.
- 91. Bannai, S., *Transport of cystine and cysteine in mammalian cells*. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1984. **779**(3): p. 289-306.
- 92. Ostrand-Rosenberg, S., *Myeloid-derived suppressor cells: more mechanisms for inhibiting antitumor immunity.* Cancer Immunol Immunother, 2010. **59**(10): p. 1593-600.
- Sade-Feldman, M., et al., *Tumor necrosis factor-alpha blocks differentiation and enhances suppressive activity of immature myeloid cells during chronic inflammation*. Immunity, 2013. 38(3): p. 541-54.
- 94. Liu, Y., et al., *Nitric oxide-independent CTL suppression during tumor progression: association with arginase-producing (M2) myeloid cells.* J Immunol, 2003. **170**(10): p. 5064-74.

- 95. Law, A.M.K., F. Valdes-Mora, and D. Gallego-Ortega, *Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells as a Therapeutic Target for Cancer.* Cells, 2020. **9**(3).
- 96. Geiger, R., et al., *L-Arginine Modulates T Cell Metabolism and Enhances Survival and Antitumor Activity.* Cell, 2016. **167**(3): p. 829-842 e13.
- 97. Fletcher, M., et al., *I-Arginine depletion blunts antitumor T-cell responses by inducing myeloid-derived suppressor cells.* Cancer Res, 2015. **75**(2): p. 275-83.
- 98. Kim, S.H., et al., *Impact of I-Arginine Metabolism on Immune Response and Anticancer Immunotherapy*. Front Oncol, 2018. **8**: p. 67.
- 99. Bogdan, C., *Nitric oxide synthase in innate and adaptive immunity: an update.* Trends Immunol, 2015. **36**(3): p. 161-78.
- 100. Garcia-Ortiz, A. and J.M. Serrador, *Nitric Oxide Signaling in T Cell-Mediated Immunity*. Trends Mol Med, 2018. **24**(4): p. 412-427.
- 101. Sato, K., et al., *Nitric oxide plays a critical role in suppression of T-cell proliferation by mesenchymal stem cells.* Blood, 2007. **109**(1): p. 228-34.
- 102. Diaz-Montero, C.M., et al., *Increased circulating myeloid-derived suppressor cells correlate* with clinical cancer stage, metastatic tumor burden, and doxorubicin-cyclophosphamide chemotherapy. Cancer Immunol Immunother, 2009. **58**(1): p. 49-59.
- Serafini, P., I. Borrello, and V. Bronte, *Myeloid suppressor cells in cancer: recruitment, phenotype, properties, and mechanisms of immune suppression.* Semin Cancer Biol, 2006. 16(1): p. 53-65.
- 104. Yan, H.H., et al., *Gr*-1+*CD*11*b*+ *myeloid cells tip the balance of immune protection to tumor promotion in the premetastatic lung.* Cancer Res, 2010. **70**(15): p. 6139-49.
- 105. Sceneay, J., et al., Primary tumor hypoxia recruits CD11b+/Ly6Cmed/Ly6G+ immune suppressor cells and compromises NK cell cytotoxicity in the premetastatic niche. Cancer Res, 2012. 72(16): p. 3906-11.
- 106. Gao, D., et al., *Myeloid progenitor cells in the premetastatic lung promote metastases by inducing mesenchymal to epithelial transition.* Cancer Res, 2012. **72**(6): p. 1384-94.
- 107. Dysthe, M. and R. Parihar, *Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells in the Tumor Microenvironment*. Adv Exp Med Biol, 2020. **1224**: p. 117-140.
- 108. Srivastava, M.K., et al., *Myeloid suppressor cell depletion augments antitumor activity in lung cancer*. PLoS One, 2012. **7**(7): p. e40677.
- 109. Gabrilovich, D.I., *Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells*. Cancer Immunol Res, 2017. **5**(1): p. 3-8.
- 110. Prima, V., et al., *COX2/mPGES1/PGE2 pathway regulates PD-L1 expression in tumorassociated macrophages and myeloid-derived suppressor cells.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2017. **114**(5): p. 1117-1122.
- 111. Yu, J., et al., Myeloid-derived suppressor cells suppress antitumor immune responses through IDO expression and correlate with lymph node metastasis in patients with breast cancer. J Immunol, 2013. **190**(7): p. 3783-97.
- 112. Dizikes, G.J., et al., *Isolation of human liver arginase cDNA and demonstration of nonhomology between the two human arginase genes.* Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 1986. **141**(1): p. 53-9.
- 113. Munder, M., *Arginase: an emerging key player in the mammalian immune system.* Br J Pharmacol, 2009. **158**(3): p. 638-51.
- 114. Thomas, A.C. and J.T. Mattila, "*Of mice and men*": arginine metabolism in macrophages. Front Immunol, 2014. **5**: p. 479.
- 115. Munder, M., et al., *Arginase I is constitutively expressed in human granulocytes and participates in fungicidal activity.* Blood, 2005. **105**(6): p. 2549-56.
- 116. Niu, F., et al., *Arginase: An emerging and promising therapeutic target for cancer treatment.* Biomed Pharmacother, 2022. **149**: p. 112840.

- Mussai, F., et al., Neuroblastoma Arginase Activity Creates an Immunosuppressive Microenvironment That Impairs Autologous and Engineered Immunity. Cancer Res, 2015. 75(15): p. 3043-53.
- 118. Gannon, P.O., et al., *Androgen-regulated expression of arginase 1, arginase 2 and interleukin-8 in human prostate cancer.* PLoS One, 2010. **5**(8): p. e12107.
- 119. Wu, W.C., et al., *Circulating hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells are myeloid-biased in cancer patients.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2014. **111**(11): p. 4221-6.
- 120. Millrud, C.R., C. Bergenfelz, and K. Leandersson, *On the origin of myeloid-derived suppressor cells*. Oncotarget, 2017. **8**(2): p. 3649-3665.
- 121. Messmer, M.N., et al., *Tumor-induced myeloid dysfunction and its implications for cancer immunotherapy*. Cancer Immunol Immunother, 2015. **64**(1): p. 1-13.
- 122. Gabrilovich, D.I., S. Ostrand-Rosenberg, and V. Bronte, *Coordinated regulation of myeloid cells by tumours*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2012. **12**(4): p. 253-68.
- 123. Bunt, S.K., et al., *Reduced inflammation in the tumor microenvironment delays the accumulation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells and limits tumor progression.* Cancer Res, 2007. **67**(20): p. 10019-26.
- Al Sayed, M.F., et al., *T-cell-Secreted TNFalpha Induces Emergency Myelopoiesis and Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cell Differentiation in Cancer*. Cancer Res, 2019. **79**(2): p. 346-359.
- 125. Grzywa, T.M., et al., *Myeloid Cell-Derived Arginase in Cancer Immune Response*. Front Immunol, 2020. **11**: p. 938.
- 126. Czystowska-Kuzmicz, M., et al., Small extracellular vesicles containing arginase-1 suppress T-cell responses and promote tumor growth in ovarian carcinoma. Nat Commun, 2019. 10(1): p. 3000.
- 127. Rodriguez, P.C., et al., Arginase I-producing myeloid-derived suppressor cells in renal cell carcinoma are a subpopulation of activated granulocytes. Cancer Res, 2009. 69(4): p. 1553-60.
- 128. Sica, A. and A. Mantovani, *Macrophage plasticity and polarization: in vivo veritas*. J Clin Invest, 2012. **122**(3): p. 787-95.
- 129. DeNardo, D.G. and B. Ruffell, *Macrophages as regulators of tumour immunity and immunotherapy*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2019. **19**(6): p. 369-382.
- 130. Rotondo, R., et al., *Exocytosis of azurophil and arginase 1-containing granules by activated polymorphonuclear neutrophils is required to inhibit T lymphocyte proliferation.* J Leukoc Biol, 2011. **89**(5): p. 721-7.
- 131. Munder, M., et al., *Suppression of T-cell functions by human granulocyte arginase*. Blood, 2006. **108**(5): p. 1627-34.
- 132. Jacobsen, L.C., et al., Arginase 1 is expressed in myelocytes/metamyelocytes and localized in gelatinase granules of human neutrophils. Blood, 2007. **109**(7): p. 3084-7.
- 133. Ma, Z., et al., Overexpression of Arginase-1 is an indicator of poor prognosis in patients with colorectal cancer. Pathol Res Pract, 2019. **215**(6): p. 152383.
- 134. Ino, Y., et al., Arginase II expressed in cancer-associated fibroblasts indicates tissue hypoxia and predicts poor outcome in patients with pancreatic cancer. PLoS One, 2013. 8(2): p. e55146.
- 135. Bron, L., et al., *Prognostic value of arginase-II expression and regulatory T-cell infiltration in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma*. Int J Cancer, 2013. **132**(3): p. E85-93.
- 136. Straus, B., I. Cepelak, and G. Festa, *Arginase, a new marker of mammary carcinoma*. Clin Chim Acta, 1992. **210**(1-2): p. 5-12.
- 137. Porembska, Z., et al., Arginase in patients with breast cancer. Clin Chim Acta, 2003. **328**(1-2): p. 105-11.
- 138. Polat, M.F., et al., *Elevated serum arginase activity levels in patients with breast cancer*. Surg Today, 2003. **33**(9): p. 655-61.

- 139. Avtandilyan, N., et al., *The Involvement of Arginase and Nitric Oxide Synthase in Breast Cancer Development: Arginase and NO Synthase as Therapeutic Targets in Cancer.* Biomed Res Int, 2018. **2018**: p. 8696923.
- 140. Dagogo-Jack, I. and A.T. Shaw, *Tumour heterogeneity and resistance to cancer therapies.* Nat Rev Clin Oncol, 2018. **15**(2): p. 81-94.
- 141. van der Woude, L.L., et al., *Migrating into the Tumor: a Roadmap for T Cells.* Trends Cancer, 2017. **3**(11): p. 797-808.
- 142. Herbst, R.S., et al., *Predictive correlates of response to the anti-PD-L1 antibody MPDL3280A in cancer patients.* Nature, 2014. **515**(7528): p. 563-7.
- 143. Hegde, P.S., V. Karanikas, and S. Evers, *The Where, the When, and the How of Immune Monitoring for Cancer Immunotherapies in the Era of Checkpoint Inhibition*. Clin Cancer Res, 2016. 22(8): p. 1865-74.
- Hegde, P.S. and D.S. Chen, *Top 10 Challenges in Cancer Immunotherapy*. Immunity, 2020.
 52(1): p. 17-35.
- 145. Galon, J. and D. Bruni, *Approaches to treat immune hot, altered and cold tumours with combination immunotherapies.* Nat Rev Drug Discov, 2019. **18**(3): p. 197-218.
- 146. Johnson, D.E., et al., *Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma*. Nat Rev Dis Primers, 2020.6(1): p. 92.
- Garon, E.B., et al., Pembrolizumab for the treatment of non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med, 2015. 372(21): p. 2018-28.
- 148. Chen, D.S. and I. Mellman, *Elements of cancer immunity and the cancer-immune set point*. Nature, 2017. **541**(7637): p. 321-330.
- 149. June, C.H., et al., *CAR T cell immunotherapy for human cancer*. Science, 2018. **359**(6382): p. 1361-1365.
- 150. Cassetta, L. and J.W. Pollard, *Targeting macrophages: therapeutic approaches in cancer*. Nat Rev Drug Discov, 2018. **17**(12): p. 887-904.
- Eisinger, S., et al., Targeting a scavenger receptor on tumor-associated macrophages activates tumor cell killing by natural killer cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2020. 117(50): p. 32005-32016.
- Sharma, P. and J.P. Allison, *The future of immune checkpoint therapy*. Science, 2015.
 348(6230): p. 56-61.
- 153. Hernandez, C., P. Huebener, and R.F. Schwabe, *Damage-associated molecular patterns in cancer: a double-edged sword.* Oncogene, 2016. **35**(46): p. 5931-5941.
- 154. Donato, R., et al., *Functions of S100 proteins*. Curr Mol Med, 2013. **13**(1): p. 24-57.
- 155. Gebhardt, C., et al., *RAGE signaling sustains inflammation and promotes tumor development.* J Exp Med, 2008. **205**(2): p. 275-85.
- Grivennikov, S.I., F.R. Greten, and M. Karin, *Immunity, inflammation, and cancer.* Cell, 2010. 140(6): p. 883-99.
- 157. Takeuchi, O. and S. Akira, *Pattern recognition receptors and inflammation*. Cell, 2010. **140**(6): p. 805-20.
- 158. Zhu, Y., et al., *The Interplay Between Pattern Recognition Receptors and Autophagy in Inflammation*. Adv Exp Med Biol, 2019. **1209**: p. 79-108.
- 159. Schaefer, L., *Complexity of danger: the diverse nature of damage-associated molecular patterns*. J Biol Chem, 2014. **289**(51): p. 35237-45.
- 160. Roh, J.S. and D.H. Sohn, *Damage-Associated Molecular Patterns in Inflammatory Diseases*. Immune Netw, 2018. **18**(4): p. e27.
- 161. Chen, G.Y. and G. Nunez, *Sterile inflammation: sensing and reacting to damage*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2010. **10**(12): p. 826-37.
- 162. Deretic, V., T. Saitoh, and S. Akira, *Autophagy in infection, inflammation and immunity.* Nat Rev Immunol, 2013. **13**(10): p. 722-37.

- Deretic, V., Autophagy in inflammation, infection, and immunometabolism. Immunity, 2021.
 54(3): p. 437-453.
- 164. Brubaker, S.W., et al., *Innate immune pattern recognition: a cell biological perspective*. Annu Rev Immunol, 2015. **33**: p. 257-90.
- 165. Sun, H., et al., *Using PAMPs and DAMPs as adjuvants in cancer vaccines*. Hum Vaccin Immunother, 2021. **17**(12): p. 5546-5557.
- 166. Virus interference: I. The interferon. By Alick Isaacs and Jean Lindenmann, 1957. CA Cancer J Clin, 1988. **38**(5): p. 280-90.
- 167. Taffoni, C., et al., *Nucleic Acid Immunity and DNA Damage Response: New Friends and Old Foes.* Front Immunol, 2021. **12**: p. 660560.
- 168. Schneider, W.M., M.D. Chevillotte, and C.M. Rice, *Interferon-stimulated genes: a complex web of host defenses*. Annu Rev Immunol, 2014. **32**: p. 513-45.
- 169. de Weerd, N.A. and T. Nguyen, *The interferons and their receptors--distribution and regulation.* Immunol Cell Biol, 2012. **90**(5): p. 483-91.
- 170. Lew, D.J., T. Decker, and J.E. Darnell, Jr., *Alpha interferon and gamma interferon stimulate transcription of a single gene through different signal transduction pathways*. Mol Cell Biol, 1989. **9**(12): p. 5404-11.
- 171. Levy, D.E., et al., Synergistic interaction between interferon-alpha and interferon-gamma through induced synthesis of one subunit of the transcription factor ISGF3. EMBO J, 1990.
 9(4): p. 1105-11.
- 172. Fujimoto, M. and T. Naka, *SOCS1, a Negative Regulator of Cytokine Signals and TLR Responses, in Human Liver Diseases.* Gastroenterol Res Pract, 2010. **2010**.
- 173. Fenner, J.E., et al., Suppressor of cytokine signaling 1 regulates the immune response to infection by a unique inhibition of type I interferon activity. Nat Immunol, 2006. **7**(1): p. 33-9.
- 174. Decker, T., et al., Interactions of alpha- and gamma-interferon in the transcriptional regulation of the gene encoding a guanylate-binding protein. EMBO J, 1989. **8**(7): p. 2009-14.
- 175. Sheppard, P., et al., *IL-28, IL-29 and their class II cytokine receptor IL-28R*. Nat Immunol, 2003. **4**(1): p. 63-8.
- 176. Prokunina-Olsson, L., et al., *A variant upstream of IFNL3 (IL28B) creating a new interferon gene IFNL4 is associated with impaired clearance of hepatitis C virus.* Nat Genet, 2013. **45**(2): p. 164-71.
- Negishi, H., T. Taniguchi, and H. Yanai, *The Interferon (IFN) Class of Cytokines and the IFN Regulatory Factor (IRF) Transcription Factor Family.* Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol, 2018. 10(11).
- 178. Kotenko, S.V., et al., *IFN-lambdas mediate antiviral protection through a distinct class II cytokine receptor complex.* Nat Immunol, 2003. **4**(1): p. 69-77.
- 179. Fox, B.A., P.O. Sheppard, and P.J. O'Hara, *The role of genomic data in the discovery,* annotation and evolutionary interpretation of the interferon-lambda family. PLoS One, 2009.
 4(3): p. e4933.
- Marcello, T., et al., Interferons alpha and lambda inhibit hepatitis C virus replication with distinct signal transduction and gene regulation kinetics. Gastroenterology, 2006. 131(6): p. 1887-98.
- 181. Bolen, C.R., et al., *Dynamic expression profiling of type I and type III interferon-stimulated hepatocytes reveals a stable hierarchy of gene expression*. Hepatology, 2014. **59**(4): p. 1262-72.
- 182. Stark, G.R. and J.E. Darnell, Jr., *The JAK-STAT pathway at twenty*. Immunity, 2012. **36**(4): p. 503-14.
- 183. Chen, K., J. Liu, and X. Cao, *Regulation of type I interferon signaling in immunity and inflammation: A comprehensive review.* J Autoimmun, 2017. **83**: p. 1-11.
- 184. Boukhaled, G.M., S. Harding, and D.G. Brooks, *Opposing Roles of Type I Interferons in Cancer Immunity*. Annu Rev Pathol, 2021. **16**: p. 167-198.

- 185. Rock, K.L., J.J. Lai, and H. Kono, *Innate and adaptive immune responses to cell death*. Immunol Rev, 2011. **243**(1): p. 191-205.
- 186. Green, D.R., et al., *Immunogenic and tolerogenic cell death.* Nat Rev Immunol, 2009. **9**(5): p. 353-63.
- 187. Arimoto, K.I., et al., *Negative regulation of type I IFN signaling*. J Leukoc Biol, 2018.
- 188. Stetson, D.B. and R. Medzhitov, *Recognition of cytosolic DNA activates an IRF3-dependent innate immune response*. Immunity, 2006. **24**(1): p. 93-103.
- 189. Zhang, X., et al., *Cyclic GMP-AMP containing mixed phosphodiester linkages is an endogenous high-affinity ligand for STING*. Mol Cell, 2013. **51**(2): p. 226-35.
- 190. Gao, P., et al., *Cyclic* [*G*(2',5')*p*A(3',5')*p*] is the metazoan second messenger produced by DNAactivated cyclic GMP-AMP synthase. Cell, 2013. **153**(5): p. 1094-107.
- 191. Diner, E.J., et al., *The innate immune DNA sensor cGAS produces a noncanonical cyclic dinucleotide that activates human STING.* Cell Rep, 2013. **3**(5): p. 1355-61.
- 192. Ablasser, A., et al., *cGAS produces a 2'-5'-linked cyclic dinucleotide second messenger that activates STING.* Nature, 2013. **498**(7454): p. 380-4.
- 193. Wu, J., et al., *Cyclic GMP-AMP is an endogenous second messenger in innate immune signaling by cytosolic DNA*. Science, 2013. **339**(6121): p. 826-30.
- 194. Sun, L., et al., *Cyclic GMP-AMP synthase is a cytosolic DNA sensor that activates the type I interferon pathway.* Science, 2013. **339**(6121): p. 786-91.
- 195. Ishikawa, H. and G.N. Barber, *STING is an endoplasmic reticulum adaptor that facilitates innate immune signalling.* Nature, 2008. **455**(7213): p. 674-8.
- Burdette, D.L., et al., STING is a direct innate immune sensor of cyclic di-GMP. Nature, 2011.
 478(7370): p. 515-8.
- 197. Shang, G., et al., *Cryo-EM structures of STING reveal its mechanism of activation by cyclic GMP-AMP.* Nature, 2019. **567**(7748): p. 389-393.
- 198. Zhao, B., et al., A conserved PLPLRT/SD motif of STING mediates the recruitment and activation of TBK1. Nature, 2019. **569**(7758): p. 718-722.
- 199. Hopfner, K.P. and V. Hornung, *Molecular mechanisms and cellular functions of cGAS-STING signalling.* Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 2020. **21**(9): p. 501-521.
- 200. Liu, S., et al., *Phosphorylation of innate immune adaptor proteins MAVS, STING, and TRIF induces IRF3 activation.* Science, 2015. **347**(6227): p. aaa2630.
- Abe, T. and G.N. Barber, Cytosolic-DNA-mediated, STING-dependent proinflammatory gene induction necessitates canonical NF-kappaB activation through TBK1. J Virol, 2014. 88(10): p. 5328-41.
- 202. Bai, J. and F. Liu, *The cGAS-cGAMP-STING Pathway: A Molecular Link Between Immunity and Metabolism*. Diabetes, 2019. **68**(6): p. 1099-1108.
- 203. Decout, A., et al., *The cGAS-STING pathway as a therapeutic target in inflammatory diseases.* Nat Rev Immunol, 2021. **21**(9): p. 548-569.
- 204. Harapas, C.R., et al., *Organellar homeostasis and innate immune sensing*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2022. **22**(9): p. 535-549.
- 205. Ly, P. and D.W. Cleveland, *Rebuilding Chromosomes After Catastrophe: Emerging Mechanisms of Chromothripsis.* Trends Cell Biol, 2017. **27**(12): p. 917-930.
- 206. Hatch, E.M., et al., *Catastrophic nuclear envelope collapse in cancer cell micronuclei*. Cell, 2013. **154**(1): p. 47-60.
- 207. Warecki, B. and W. Sullivan, *Mechanisms driving acentric chromosome transmission*. Chromosome Res, 2020. **28**(3-4): p. 229-246.
- 208. Vietri, M., et al., Unrestrained ESCRT-III drives micronuclear catastrophe and chromosome fragmentation. Nat Cell Biol, 2020. **22**(7): p. 856-867.
- 209. Crasta, K., et al., *DNA breaks and chromosome pulverization from errors in mitosis*. Nature, 2012. **482**(7383): p. 53-8.

- 210. Mackenzie, K.J., et al., *cGAS surveillance of micronuclei links genome instability to innate immunity*. Nature, 2017. **548**(7668): p. 461-465.
- 211. Harding, S.M., et al., *Mitotic progression following DNA damage enables pattern recognition within micronuclei.* Nature, 2017. **548**(7668): p. 466-470.
- 212. Bakhoum, S.F., et al., *Chromosomal instability drives metastasis through a cytosolic DNA response*. Nature, 2018. **553**(7689): p. 467-472.
- Mohr, L., et al., *ER-directed TREX1 limits cGAS activation at micronuclei*. Mol Cell, 2021.
 81(4): p. 724-738 e9.
- 214. Crow, Y.J., et al., *Mutations in the gene encoding the 3'-5' DNA exonuclease TREX1 cause Aicardi-Goutieres syndrome at the AGS1 locus.* Nat Genet, 2006. **38**(8): p. 917-20.
- 215. Cardinale, F., P. Bruzzi, and C. Bolognesi, *Role of micronucleus test in predicting breast cancer susceptibility: a systematic review and meta-analysis.* Br J Cancer, 2012. **106**(4): p. 780-90.
- 216. Vilalta, M., M. Rafat, and E.E. Graves, *Effects of radiation on metastasis and tumor cell migration*. Cell Mol Life Sci, 2016. **73**(16): p. 2999-3007.
- 217. Vanpouille-Box, C., et al., *DNA exonuclease Trex1 regulates radiotherapy-induced tumour immunogenicity*. Nat Commun, 2017. **8**: p. 15618.
- 218. Kang, J., S. Demaria, and S. Formenti, *Current clinical trials testing the combination of immunotherapy with radiotherapy*. J Immunother Cancer, 2016. **4**: p. 51.
- 219. Kwon, M., M.L. Leibowitz, and J.H. Lee, *Small but mighty: the causes and consequences of micronucleus rupture.* Exp Mol Med, 2020. **52**(11): p. 1777-1786.
- 220. West, A.P., G.S. Shadel, and S. Ghosh, *Mitochondria in innate immune responses*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2011. **11**(6): p. 389-402.
- 221. West, A.P. and G.S. Shadel, *Mitochondrial DNA in innate immune responses and inflammatory pathology.* Nat Rev Immunol, 2017. **17**(6): p. 363-375.
- 222. Zhong, Z., et al., *New mitochondrial DNA synthesis enables NLRP3 inflammasome activation.* Nature, 2018. **560**(7717): p. 198-203.
- 223. Kelley, N., et al., *The NLRP3 Inflammasome: An Overview of Mechanisms of Activation and Regulation.* Int J Mol Sci, 2019. **20**(13).
- 224. Fernandes-Alnemri, T., et al., *The pyroptosome: a supramolecular assembly of ASC dimers mediating inflammatory cell death via caspase-1 activation.* Cell Death Differ, 2007. **14**(9): p. 1590-604.
- 225. De Gaetano, A., et al., *Molecular Mechanisms of mtDNA-Mediated Inflammation*. Cells, 2021. **10**(11).
- 226. McArthur, K., et al., *BAK/BAX macropores facilitate mitochondrial herniation and mtDNA efflux during apoptosis.* Science, 2018. **359**(6378).
- 227. West, A.P., et al., *Mitochondrial DNA stress primes the antiviral innate immune response*. Nature, 2015. **520**(7548): p. 553-7.
- 228. Huangfu, W.C., et al., *Inflammatory signaling compromises cell responses to interferon alpha*. Oncogene, 2012. **31**(2): p. 161-72.
- 229. Bhattacharya, S., et al., Anti-tumorigenic effects of Type 1 interferon are subdued by integrated stress responses. Oncogene, 2013. **32**(36): p. 4214-21.
- 230. Zitvogel, L., et al., *Type I interferons in anticancer immunity*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2015. **15**(7): p. 405-14.
- 231. Patel, S.J., et al., *Identification of essential genes for cancer immunotherapy*. Nature, 2017. **548**(7669): p. 537-542.
- 232. Liu, J., et al., *Virus-induced unfolded protein response attenuates antiviral defenses via phosphorylation-dependent degradation of the type I interferon receptor*. Cell Host Microbe, 2009. **5**(1): p. 72-83.
- 233. Katlinskaya, Y.V., et al., Suppression of Type I Interferon Signaling Overcomes Oncogene-Induced Senescence and Mediates Melanoma Development and Progression. Cell Rep, 2016. 15(1): p. 171-180.

- 234. Bidwell, B.N., et al., *Silencing of Irf7 pathways in breast cancer cells promotes bone metastasis through immune escape.* Nat Med, 2012. **18**(8): p. 1224-31.
- 235. Gerada, C. and K.M. Ryan, *Autophagy, the innate immune response and cancer.* Mol Oncol, 2020. **14**(9): p. 1913-1929.
- 236. Parkhitko, A.A., O.O. Favorova, and E.P. Henske, *Autophagy: mechanisms, regulation, and its role in tumorigenesis.* Biochemistry (Mosc), 2013. **78**(4): p. 355-67.
- 237. Yang, Z. and D.J. Klionsky, *Mammalian autophagy: core molecular machinery and signaling regulation.* Curr Opin Cell Biol, 2010. **22**(2): p. 124-31.
- Yang, Z. and D.J. Klionsky, *Eaten alive: a history of macroautophagy*. Nat Cell Biol, 2010. 12(9): p. 814-22.
- Yang, Q., R. Wang, and L. Zhu, *Chaperone-Mediated Autophagy*. Adv Exp Med Biol, 2019. 1206: p. 435-452.
- 240. Schuck, S., *Microautophagy distinct molecular mechanisms handle cargoes of many sizes.* J Cell Sci, 2020. **133**(17).
- 241. Klionsky, D.J., et al., *A unified nomenclature for yeast autophagy-related genes*. Dev Cell, 2003. **5**(4): p. 539-45.
- 242. Tsukada, M. and Y. Ohsumi, *Isolation and characterization of autophagy-defective mutants of Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. FEBS Lett, 1993. **333**(1-2): p. 169-74.
- Rubinsztein, D.C. and R.A. Frake, Yoshinori Ohsumi's Nobel Prize for mechanisms of autophagy: from basic yeast biology to therapeutic potential. J R Coll Physicians Edinb, 2016. 46(4): p. 228-233.
- 244. Sheng, R. and Z.H. Qin, *History and Current Status of Autophagy Research*. Adv Exp Med Biol, 2019. **1206**: p. 3-37.
- 245. Khezri, R. and T.E. Rusten, *Autophagy and Tumorigenesis in Drosophila*. Adv Exp Med Biol, 2019. **1167**: p. 113-127.
- 246. Birgisdottir, A.B., T. Lamark, and T. Johansen, *The LIR motif crucial for selective autophagy*. J Cell Sci, 2013. **126**(Pt 15): p. 3237-47.
- 247. Feng, Y., et al., The machinery of macroautophagy. Cell Res, 2014. 24(1): p. 24-41.
- 248. Kroemer, G., G. Marino, and B. Levine, *Autophagy and the integrated stress response.* Mol Cell, 2010. **40**(2): p. 280-93.
- 249. Corona Velazquez, A.F. and W.T. Jackson, *So Many Roads: the Multifaceted Regulation of Autophagy Induction*. Mol Cell Biol, 2018. **38**(21).
- 250. Liu, G.Y. and D.M. Sabatini, *mTOR at the nexus of nutrition, growth, ageing and disease.* Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 2020. **21**(4): p. 183-203.
- 251. Kim, J., et al., *AMPK and mTOR regulate autophagy through direct phosphorylation of Ulk1.* Nat Cell Biol, 2011. **13**(2): p. 132-41.
- 252. Papinski, D., et al., *Early steps in autophagy depend on direct phosphorylation of Atg9 by the Atg1 kinase*. Mol Cell, 2014. **53**(3): p. 471-83.
- 253. Kabeya, Y., et al., *LC3, a mammalian homologue of yeast Apg8p, is localized in autophagosome membranes after processing.* EMBO J, 2000. **19**(21): p. 5720-8.
- 254. Lystad, A.H. and A. Simonsen, *Mechanisms and Pathophysiological Roles of the ATG8 Conjugation Machinery*. Cells, 2019. **8**(9).
- 255. Licheva, M., et al., *Phosphoregulation of the autophagy machinery by kinases and phosphatases*. Autophagy, 2022. **18**(1): p. 104-123.
- 256. Mercer, T.J., A. Gubas, and S.A. Tooze, *A molecular perspective of mammalian autophagosome biogenesis.* J Biol Chem, 2018. **293**(15): p. 5386-5395.
- 257. Grasso, D., F.J. Renna, and M.I. Vaccaro, *Initial Steps in Mammalian Autophagosome Biogenesis.* Front Cell Dev Biol, 2018. **6**: p. 146.
- 258. Zhen, Y., et al., *ESCRT-mediated phagophore sealing during mitophagy*. Autophagy, 2020. **16**(5): p. 826-841.

- 259. Takahashi, Y., et al., *An autophagy assay reveals the ESCRT-III component CHMP2A as a regulator of phagophore closure.* Nat Commun, 2018. **9**(1): p. 2855.
- 260. Takats, S., et al., Interaction of the HOPS complex with Syntaxin 17 mediates autophagosome clearance in Drosophila. Mol Biol Cell, 2014. **25**(8): p. 1338-54.
- 261. Takats, S., et al., Autophagosomal Syntaxin17-dependent lysosomal degradation maintains neuronal function in Drosophila. J Cell Biol, 2013. **201**(4): p. 531-9.
- 262. Li, X., S. He, and B. Ma, *Autophagy and autophagy-related proteins in cancer*. Mol Cancer, 2020. **19**(1): p. 12.
- 263. Stolz, A., A. Ernst, and I. Dikic, *Cargo recognition and trafficking in selective autophagy.* Nat Cell Biol, 2014. **16**(6): p. 495-501.
- 264. Zhao, M., et al., *CGAS is a micronucleophagy receptor for the clearance of micronuclei*. Autophagy, 2021. **17**(12): p. 3976-3991.
- 265. Rogov, V., et al., Interactions between autophagy receptors and ubiquitin-like proteins form the molecular basis for selective autophagy. Mol Cell, 2014. **53**(2): p. 167-78.
- 266. Li, W., et al., *Selective autophagy of intracellular organelles: recent research advances.* Theranostics, 2021. **11**(1): p. 222-256.
- 267. Lamark, T. and T. Johansen, *Aggrephagy: selective disposal of protein aggregates by macroautophagy.* Int J Cell Biol, 2012. **2012**: p. 736905.
- Khawar, M.B., H. Gao, and W. Li, Autophagy and Lipid Metabolism. Adv Exp Med Biol, 2019. 1206: p. 359-374.
- 269. Jiang, S., C.D. Wells, and P.J. Roach, Starch-binding domain-containing protein 1 (Stbd1) and glycogen metabolism: Identification of the Atg8 family interacting motif (AIM) in Stbd1 required for interaction with GABARAPL1. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2011. 413(3): p. 420-5.
- 270. Hasegawa, J., et al., *Selective autophagy: lysophagy*. Methods, 2015. **75**: p. 128-32.
- 271. Gatica, D., V. Lahiri, and D.J. Klionsky, *Cargo recognition and degradation by selective autophagy*. Nat Cell Biol, 2018. **20**(3): p. 233-242.
- Beese, C.J., S.H. Brynjolfsdottir, and L.B. Frankel, *Selective Autophagy of the Protein Homeostasis Machinery: Ribophagy, Proteaphagy and ER-Phagy.* Front Cell Dev Biol, 2019. 7: p. 373.
- 273. Pankiv, S., et al., *p62/SQSTM1* binds directly to Atg8/LC3 to facilitate degradation of ubiquitinated protein aggregates by autophagy. J Biol Chem, 2007. **282**(33): p. 24131-45.
- 274. Bjorkoy, G., et al., *p62/SQSTM1* forms protein aggregates degraded by autophagy and has a protective effect on huntingtin-induced cell death. J Cell Biol, 2005. **171**(4): p. 603-14.
- 275. Lippai, M. and P. Low, *The role of the selective adaptor p62 and ubiquitin-like proteins in autophagy*. Biomed Res Int, 2014. **2014**: p. 832704.
- 276. Johansen, T. and T. Lamark, *Selective Autophagy: ATG8 Family Proteins, LIR Motifs and Cargo Receptors.* J Mol Biol, 2020. **432**(1): p. 80-103.
- 277. Kirkin, V. and V.V. Rogov, *A Diversity of Selective Autophagy Receptors Determines the Specificity of the Autophagy Pathway*. Mol Cell, 2019. **76**(2): p. 268-285.
- 278. Chun, Y. and J. Kim, Autophagy: An Essential Degradation Program for Cellular Homeostasis and Life. Cells, 2018. **7**(12).
- 279. Sliter, D.A., et al., *Parkin and PINK1 mitigate STING-induced inflammation*. Nature, 2018. **561**(7722): p. 258-262.
- 280. Kerr, J.S., et al., *Mitophagy and Alzheimer's Disease: Cellular and Molecular Mechanisms.* Trends Neurosci, 2017. **40**(3): p. 151-166.
- 281. White, E., The role for autophagy in cancer. J Clin Invest, 2015. 125(1): p. 42-6.
- 282. Liang, X.H., et al., *Induction of autophagy and inhibition of tumorigenesis by beclin 1*. Nature, 1999. **402**(6762): p. 672-6.
- 283. Aita, V.M., et al., *Cloning and genomic organization of beclin 1, a candidate tumor suppressor gene on chromosome 17q21.* Genomics, 1999. **59**(1): p. 59-65.

- 284. Laddha, S.V., et al., *Mutational landscape of the essential autophagy gene BECN1 in human cancers*. Mol Cancer Res, 2014. **12**(4): p. 485-90.
- 285. Yue, Z., et al., *Beclin 1, an autophagy gene essential for early embryonic development, is a haploinsufficient tumor suppressor.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2003. **100**(25): p. 15077-82.
- 286. Qu, X., et al., Promotion of tumorigenesis by heterozygous disruption of the beclin 1 autophagy gene. J Clin Invest, 2003. **112**(12): p. 1809-20.
- 287. Huo, Y., et al., Autophagy opposes p53-mediated tumor barrier to facilitate tumorigenesis in a model of PALB2-associated hereditary breast cancer. Cancer Discov, 2013. **3**(8): p. 894-907.
- 288. Takamura, A., et al., *Autophagy-deficient mice develop multiple liver tumors.* Genes Dev, 2011. **25**(8): p. 795-800.
- 289. Sou, Y.S., et al., *The Atg8 conjugation system is indispensable for proper development of autophagic isolation membranes in mice*. Mol Biol Cell, 2008. **19**(11): p. 4762-75.
- 290. Saitoh, T., et al., *Loss of the autophagy protein Atg16L1 enhances endotoxin-induced IL-1beta production.* Nature, 2008. **456**(7219): p. 264-8.
- 291. Kuma, A., et al., *The role of autophagy during the early neonatal starvation period*. Nature, 2004. **432**(7020): p. 1032-6.
- 292. Komatsu, M., et al., *Impairment of starvation-induced and constitutive autophagy in Atg7deficient mice.* J Cell Biol, 2005. **169**(3): p. 425-34.
- 293. Katheder, N.S., et al., *Microenvironmental autophagy promotes tumour growth*. Nature, 2017. **541**(7637): p. 417-420.
- 294. Strohecker, A.M., et al., *Autophagy sustains mitochondrial glutamine metabolism and growth of BrafV600E-driven lung tumors.* Cancer Discov, 2013. **3**(11): p. 1272-85.
- 295. Bellezza, I., et al., *Nrf2-Keap1 signaling in oxidative and reductive stress*. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Res, 2018. **1865**(5): p. 721-733.
- 296. DeNicola, G.M., et al., Oncogene-induced Nrf2 transcription promotes ROS detoxification and tumorigenesis. Nature, 2011. **475**(7354): p. 106-9.
- 297. Valencia, T., et al., *Metabolic reprogramming of stromal fibroblasts through p62-mTORC1 signaling promotes inflammation and tumorigenesis.* Cancer Cell, 2014. **26**(1): p. 121-135.
- 298. Thompson, H.G., et al., *p62 overexpression in breast tumors and regulation by prostatederived Ets factor in breast cancer cells.* Oncogene, 2003. **22**(15): p. 2322-33.
- 299. Su, Y., et al., *The diversity expression of p62 in digestive system cancers*. Clin Immunol, 2005. **116**(2): p. 118-23.
- Stumptner, C., et al., Analysis of intracytoplasmic hyaline bodies in a hepatocellular carcinoma. Demonstration of p62 as major constituent. Am J Pathol, 1999. 154(6): p. 1701-10.
- 301. Siddiqui, B., et al., *Comparison of metabolically labeled mucins of LS174T human colon cancer cells in tissue culture and xenograft*. Tumour Biol, 1989. **10**(2): p. 83-94.
- 302. Li, S.S., et al., *p62/SQSTM1* interacts with vimentin to enhance breast cancer metastasis. Carcinogenesis, 2017. **38**(11): p. 1092-1103.
- 303. Kitamura, H., et al., *Cytosolic overexpression of p62 sequestosome 1 in neoplastic prostate tissue*. Histopathology, 2006. **48**(2): p. 157-61.
- 304. Inoue, D., et al., Accumulation of p62/SQSTM1 is associated with poor prognosis in patients with lung adenocarcinoma. Cancer Sci, 2012. **103**(4): p. 760-6.
- 305. Mathew, R., et al., Autophagy suppresses tumor progression by limiting chromosomal instability. Genes Dev, 2007. **21**(11): p. 1367-81.
- 306. Mathew, R., et al., Autophagy suppresses tumorigenesis through elimination of p62. Cell, 2009. **137**(6): p. 1062-75.
- 307. Karantza-Wadsworth, V., et al., *Autophagy mitigates metabolic stress and genome damage in mammary tumorigenesis.* Genes Dev, 2007. **21**(13): p. 1621-35.

- Luo, T., et al., PSMD10/gankyrin induces autophagy to promote tumor progression through cytoplasmic interaction with ATG7 and nuclear transactivation of ATG7 expression. Autophagy, 2016. 12(8): p. 1355-71.
- 309. Liu, M., et al., *Cytoplasmic liver kinase B1 promotes the growth of human lung adenocarcinoma by enhancing autophagy*. Cancer Sci, 2018. **109**(10): p. 3055-3067.
- 310. White, E., *Deconvoluting the context-dependent role for autophagy in cancer*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2012. **12**(6): p. 401-10.
- 311. Pavlides, S., et al., *The autophagic tumor stroma model of cancer: Role of oxidative stress and ketone production in fueling tumor cell metabolism.* Cell Cycle, 2010. **9**(17): p. 3485-505.
- Martinez-Outschoorn, U.E., et al., *The autophagic tumor stroma model of cancer or "battery-operated tumor growth": A simple solution to the autophagy paradox*. Cell Cycle, 2010. 9(21): p. 4297-306.
- 313. Lock, R., et al., Autophagy facilitates glycolysis during Ras-mediated oncogenic transformation. Mol Biol Cell, 2011. **22**(2): p. 165-78.
- 314. Guo, J.Y., et al., Activated Ras requires autophagy to maintain oxidative metabolism and tumorigenesis. Genes Dev, 2011. **25**(5): p. 460-70.
- 315. Yang, S., et al., *Pancreatic cancers require autophagy for tumor growth*. Genes Dev, 2011. **25**(7): p. 717-29.
- 316. Guo, J.Y., B. Xia, and E. White, *Autophagy-mediated tumor promotion*. Cell, 2013. **155**(6): p. 1216-9.
- 317. Chavez-Dominguez, R., et al., *The Double-Edge Sword of Autophagy in Cancer: From Tumor Suppression to Pro-tumor Activity.* Front Oncol, 2020. **10**: p. 578418.
- 318. Wei, H., et al., *Suppression of autophagy by FIP200 deletion inhibits mammary tumorigenesis.* Genes Dev, 2011. **25**(14): p. 1510-27.
- 319. Baginska, J., et al., *Granzyme B degradation by autophagy decreases tumor cell susceptibility to natural killer-mediated lysis under hypoxia.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2013. **110**(43): p. 17450-5.
- 320. Yamamoto, K., et al., *Autophagy promotes immune evasion of pancreatic cancer by degrading MHC-I.* Nature, 2020. **581**(7806): p. 100-105.
- 321. Yamamoto, K., et al., *Selective autophagy of MHC-I promotes immune evasion of pancreatic cancer*. Autophagy, 2020. **16**(8): p. 1524-1525.
- 322. Zada, S., et al., *Cross talk between autophagy and oncogenic signaling pathways and implications for cancer therapy.* Biochim Biophys Acta Rev Cancer, 2021. **1876**(1): p. 188565.
- Hsu, P.P. and D.M. Sabatini, *Cancer cell metabolism: Warburg and beyond*. Cell, 2008.
 134(5): p. 703-7.
- 324. Frezza, C. and E. Gottlieb, *Mitochondria in cancer: not just innocent bystanders.* Semin Cancer Biol, 2009. **19**(1): p. 4-11.
- 325. Locasale, J.W. and L.C. Cantley, *Altered metabolism in cancer*. BMC Biol, 2010. 8: p. 88.
- 326. Icard, P., et al., *How the Warburg effect supports aggressiveness and drug resistance of cancer cells?* Drug Resist Updat, 2018. **38**: p. 1-11.
- 327. Yu, L., et al., *The Glycolytic Switch in Tumors: How Many Players Are Involved*? J Cancer, 2017. **8**(17): p. 3430-3440.
- 328. Martinez-Outschoorn, U.E., et al., *Cancer metabolism: a therapeutic perspective.* Nat Rev Clin Oncol, 2017. **14**(1): p. 11-31.
- 329. Lunt, S.Y. and M.G. Vander Heiden, *Aerobic glycolysis: meeting the metabolic requirements of cell proliferation.* Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol, 2011. **27**: p. 441-64.
- 330. Hamanaka, R.B. and N.S. Chandel, *Targeting glucose metabolism for cancer therapy*. J Exp Med, 2012. **209**(2): p. 211-5.
- 331. Deberardinis, R.J., et al., *Brick by brick: metabolism and tumor cell growth*. Curr Opin Genet Dev, 2008. **18**(1): p. 54-61.

- 332. Sun, M., et al., *GLUT1 participates in tamoxifen resistance in breast cancer cells through autophagy regulation.* Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol, 2021. **394**(1): p. 205-216.
- 333. Gaglio, D., et al., Oncogenic K-Ras decouples glucose and glutamine metabolism to support cancer cell growth. Mol Syst Biol, 2011. **7**: p. 523.
- Tan, H.W.S., A.Y.L. Sim, and Y.C. Long, *Glutamine metabolism regulates autophagy*dependent mTORC1 reactivation during amino acid starvation. Nat Commun, 2017. 8(1): p. 338.
- 335. Guo, J.Y., et al., Autophagy suppresses progression of K-ras-induced lung tumors to oncocytomas and maintains lipid homeostasis. Genes Dev, 2013. **27**(13): p. 1447-61.
- 336. Yang, A., et al., Autophagy Sustains Pancreatic Cancer Growth through Both Cell-Autonomous and Nonautonomous Mechanisms. Cancer Discov, 2018. **8**(3): p. 276-287.
- 337. Sousa, C.M., et al., *Pancreatic stellate cells support tumour metabolism through autophagic alanine secretion*. Nature, 2016. **536**(7617): p. 479-83.
- 338. Karsli-Uzunbas, G., et al., Autophagy is required for glucose homeostasis and lung tumor maintenance. Cancer Discov, 2014. **4**(8): p. 914-27.
- 339. Endo, S., et al., Autophagy Is Required for Activation of Pancreatic Stellate Cells, Associated With Pancreatic Cancer Progression and Promotes Growth of Pancreatic Tumors in Mice. Gastroenterology, 2017. 152(6): p. 1492-1506 e24.
- 340. Katheder, N.S. and T.E. Rusten, *Microenvironment and tumors-a nurturing relationship.* Autophagy, 2017. **13**(7): p. 1241-1243.
- 341. Khezri, R., et al., *Host autophagy mediates organ wasting and nutrient mobilization for tumor growth*. EMBO J, 2021. **40**(18): p. e107336.
- 342. Poillet-Perez, L., et al., *Autophagy maintains tumour growth through circulating arginine*. Nature, 2018. **563**(7732): p. 569-573.
- 343. Morris, S.M., Jr., Arginine Metabolism Revisited. J Nutr, 2016. 146(12): p. 2579S-2586S.
- 344. Haines, R.J., L.C. Pendleton, and D.C. Eichler, *Argininosuccinate synthase: at the center of arginine metabolism.* Int J Biochem Mol Biol, 2011. **2**(1): p. 8-23.
- 345. Ray, R.M., et al., *The requirement for polyamines for intestinal epithelial cell migration is mediated through Rac1.* J Biol Chem, 2003. **278**(15): p. 13039-46.
- 346. Al-Koussa, H., et al., *Arginine deprivation: a potential therapeutic for cancer cell metastasis? A review.* Cancer Cell Int, 2020. **20**: p. 150.
- 347. Li, M., et al., *Review of arginase as a promising biocatalyst: characteristics, preparation, applications and future challenges.* Crit Rev Biotechnol, 2022. **42**(5): p. 651-667.
- 348. Caldwell, R.W., et al., *Arginase: A Multifaceted Enzyme Important in Health and Disease.* Physiol Rev, 2018. **98**(2): p. 641-665.
- 349. Closs, E.I., et al., *Structure and function of cationic amino acid transporters (CATs)*. J Membr Biol, 2006. **213**(2): p. 67-77.
- 350. Werner, A., et al., *Induced arginine transport via cationic amino acid transporter-1 is necessary for human T-cell proliferation*. Eur J Immunol, 2016. **46**(1): p. 92-103.
- Cimen Bozkus, C., et al., *Expression of Cationic Amino Acid Transporter 2 Is Required for Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cell-Mediated Control of T Cell Immunity.* J Immunol, 2015. 195(11): p. 5237-50.
- 352. Sun, N. and X. Zhao, *Argininosuccinate synthase 1, arginine deprivation therapy and cancer management.* Front Pharmacol, 2022. **13**: p. 935553.
- 353. Ohshima, K., et al., Argininosuccinate Synthase 1-Deficiency Enhances the Cell Sensitivity to Arginine through Decreased DEPTOR Expression in Endometrial Cancer. Sci Rep, 2017. 7: p. 45504.
- 354. Morris, S.M., Jr., *Regulation of enzymes of the urea cycle and arginine metabolism*. Annu Rev Nutr, 2002. **22**: p. 87-105.
- 355. Zhang, K. and H. Wang, [*Cancer Genome Atlas Pan-cancer Analysis Project*]. Zhongguo Fei Ai Za Zhi, 2015. **18**(4): p. 219-23.

- 356. Qiu, F., et al., Arginine starvation impairs mitochondrial respiratory function in ASS1-deficient breast cancer cells. Sci Signal, 2014. **7**(319): p. ra31.
- 357. Dillon, B.J., et al., *Incidence and distribution of argininosuccinate synthetase deficiency in human cancers: a method for identifying cancers sensitive to arginine deprivation.* Cancer, 2004. **100**(4): p. 826-33.
- 358. Cheng, C.T., et al., Arginine starvation kills tumor cells through aspartate exhaustion and mitochondrial dysfunction. Commun Biol, 2018. **1**: p. 178.
- 359. Kung, H.J., et al., *Chromatophagy: autophagy goes nuclear and captures broken chromatin during arginine-starvation.* Autophagy, 2015. **11**(2): p. 419-21.
- 360. Zou, S., et al., *Arginine metabolism and deprivation in cancer therapy*. Biomed Pharmacother, 2019. **118**: p. 109210.
- 361. Abou-Alfa, G.K., et al., *Phase III randomized study of second line ADI-PEG 20 plus best supportive care versus placebo plus best supportive care in patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma*. Ann Oncol, 2018. **29**(6): p. 1402-1408.
- 362. You, J., et al., *The Oncogenic Role of ARG1 in Progression and Metastasis of Hepatocellular Carcinoma*. Biomed Res Int, 2018. **2018**: p. 2109865.
- Marti, I.L.A.A. and W. Reith, Arginine-dependent immune responses. Cell Mol Life Sci, 2021. 78(13): p. 5303-5324.
- Barile, M.F. and B.G. Leventhal, *Possible mechanism for Mycoplasma inhibition of lymphocyte transformation induced by phytohaemagglutinin.* Nature, 1968. 219(5155): p. 750-2.
- Rodriguez, P.C. and A.C. Ochoa, Arginine regulation by myeloid derived suppressor cells and tolerance in cancer: mechanisms and therapeutic perspectives. Immunol Rev, 2008. 222: p. 180-91.
- 366. Ochoa, J.B., et al., *Effects of L-arginine on the proliferation of T lymphocyte subpopulations*. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr, 2001. **25**(1): p. 23-9.
- 367. Takahara, T., et al., *Amino acid-dependent control of mTORC1 signaling: a variety of regulatory modes.* J Biomed Sci, 2020. **27**(1): p. 87.
- 368. Saxton, R.A., et al., *Mechanism of arginine sensing by CASTOR1 upstream of mTORC1*. Nature, 2016. **536**(7615): p. 229-33.
- Rebsamen, M. and G. Superti-Furga, SLC38A9: A lysosomal amino acid transporter at the core of the amino acid-sensing machinery that controls MTORC1. Autophagy, 2016. 12(6): p. 1061-2.
- 370. Rebsamen, M., et al., *SLC38A9 is a component of the lysosomal amino acid sensing machinery that controls mTORC1*. Nature, 2015. **519**(7544): p. 477-81.
- 371. Gai, Z., et al., Structural mechanism for the arginine sensing and regulation of CASTOR1 in the mTORC1 signaling pathway. Cell Discov, 2016. **2**: p. 16051.
- 372. Fernandes, S.A. and C. Demetriades, *The Multifaceted Role of Nutrient Sensing and mTORC1 Signaling in Physiology and Aging.* Front Aging, 2021. **2**: p. 707372.
- 373. Deretic, V. and B. Levine, *Autophagy balances inflammation in innate immunity*. Autophagy, 2018. **14**(2): p. 243-251.
- 374. Clarke, A.J. and A.K. Simon, *Autophagy in the renewal, differentiation and homeostasis of immune cells*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2019. **19**(3): p. 170-183.
- 375. Tian, Y., M.L. Wang, and J. Zhao, *Crosstalk between Autophagy and Type I Interferon Responses in Innate Antiviral Immunity.* Viruses, 2019. **11**(2).
- 376. Yang, Q., et al., TRIM32-TAX1BP1-dependent selective autophagic degradation of TRIF negatively regulates TLR3/4-mediated innate immune responses. PLoS Pathog, 2017. 13(9): p. e1006600.
- 377. Jin, S. and J. Cui, *BST2 inhibits type I IFN (interferon) signaling by accelerating MAVS degradation through CALCOCO2-directed autophagy*. Autophagy, 2018. **14**(1): p. 171-172.

- 378. Choi, Y., J.W. Bowman, and J.U. Jung, *Autophagy during viral infection a double-edged sword*. Nat Rev Microbiol, 2018. **16**(6): p. 341-354.
- 379. Cadwell, K., *Crosstalk between autophagy and inflammatory signalling pathways: balancing defence and homeostasis.* Nat Rev Immunol, 2016. **16**(11): p. 661-675.
- Jin, S., et al., Tetherin Suppresses Type I Interferon Signaling by Targeting MAVS for NDP52-Mediated Selective Autophagic Degradation in Human Cells. Mol Cell, 2017. 68(2): p. 308-322 e4.
- 381. Du, Y., et al., *LRRC25 inhibits type I IFN signaling by targeting ISG15-associated RIG-I for autophagic degradation.* EMBO J, 2018. **37**(3): p. 351-366.
- 382. Martin, P.K., et al., Autophagy proteins suppress protective type I interferon signalling in response to the murine gut microbiota. Nat Microbiol, 2018. **3**(10): p. 1131-1141.
- 383. Jena, K.K., et al., Autoimmunity gene IRGM suppresses cGAS-STING and RIG-I-MAVS signaling to control interferon response. EMBO Rep, 2020. **21**(9): p. e50051.
- 384. Xie, Z. and D.J. Klionsky, *Autophagosome formation: core machinery and adaptations.* Nat Cell Biol, 2007. **9**(10): p. 1102-9.
- 385. Webber, J.L., A.R. Young, and S.A. Tooze, *Atg9 trafficking in Mammalian cells*. Autophagy, 2007. **3**(1): p. 54-6.
- 386. Saitoh, T., et al., *Atg9a controls dsDNA-driven dynamic translocation of STING and the innate immune response.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2009. **106**(49): p. 20842-6.
- 387. Prabakaran, T., et al., Attenuation of cGAS-STING signaling is mediated by a p62/SQSTM1dependent autophagy pathway activated by TBK1. EMBO J, 2018. **37**(8).
- 388. Chen, M., et al., *TRIM14 Inhibits cGAS Degradation Mediated by Selective Autophagy Receptor p62 to Promote Innate Immune Responses*. Mol Cell, 2016. **64**(1): p. 105-119.
- 389. Tanaka, Y. and Z.J. Chen, *STING specifies IRF3 phosphorylation by TBK1 in the cytosolic DNA signaling pathway.* Sci Signal, 2012. **5**(214): p. ra20.
- 390. Vargas, J.N.S., et al., *Spatiotemporal Control of ULK1 Activation by NDP52 and TBK1 during Selective Autophagy*. Mol Cell, 2019. **74**(2): p. 347-362 e6.
- Richter, B., et al., Phosphorylation of OPTN by TBK1 enhances its binding to Ub chains and promotes selective autophagy of damaged mitochondria. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2016.
 113(15): p. 4039-44.
- 392. Pilli, M., et al., *TBK-1 promotes autophagy-mediated antimicrobial defense by controlling autophagosome maturation.* Immunity, 2012. **37**(2): p. 223-34.
- 393. Kumar, S., et al., *Phosphorylation of Syntaxin 17 by TBK1 Controls Autophagy Initiation*. Dev Cell, 2019. **49**(1): p. 130-144 e6.
- 394. Gonugunta, V.K., et al., Trafficking-Mediated STING Degradation Requires Sorting to Acidified Endolysosomes and Can Be Targeted to Enhance Anti-tumor Response. Cell Rep, 2017. 21(11): p. 3234-3242.
- 395. Kumar, K.G., et al., *SCF(HOS) ubiquitin ligase mediates the ligand-induced down-regulation of the interferon-alpha receptor.* EMBO J, 2003. **22**(20): p. 5480-90.
- 396. Kumar, K.G., et al., *Site-specific ubiquitination exposes a linear motif to promote interferonalpha receptor endocytosis.* J Cell Biol, 2007. **179**(5): p. 935-50.
- 397. Gunduz, F., et al., *Free fatty acids induce ER stress and block antiviral activity of interferon alpha against hepatitis C virus in cell culture*. Virol J, 2012. **9**: p. 143.
- 398. Orvedahl, A., et al., *Image-based genome-wide siRNA screen identifies selective autophagy factors.* Nature, 2011. **480**(7375): p. 113-7.
- 399. Zhu, S., et al., *Inhibiting autophagy potentiates the anticancer activity of IFN1@/IFNalpha in chronic myeloid leukemia cells*. Autophagy, 2013. **9**(3): p. 317-27.
- 400. Schmeisser, H., et al., *Type I interferons induce autophagy in certain human cancer cell lines.* Autophagy, 2013. **9**(5): p. 683-96.
- 401. Li, Y., et al., Suppression of autophagy enhanced growth inhibition and apoptosis of interferon-beta in human glioma cells. Mol Neurobiol, 2013. **47**(3): p. 1000-10.

- 402. Ambjorn, M., et al., *IFNB1/interferon-beta-induced autophagy in MCF-7 breast cancer cells counteracts its proapoptotic function*. Autophagy, 2013. **9**(3): p. 287-302.
- 403. Li, J., et al., Interferon Alpha Induces Cellular Autophagy and Modulates Hepatitis B Virus Replication. Front Cell Infect Microbiol, 2022. **12**: p. 804011.
- 404. Kim, N., et al., Interferon-inducible protein SCOTIN interferes with HCV replication through the autolysosomal degradation of NS5A. Nat Commun, 2016. **7**: p. 10631.
- 405. Kim, M.J., et al., *Negative feedback regulation of RIG-I-mediated antiviral signaling by interferon-induced ISG15 conjugation.* J Virol, 2008. **82**(3): p. 1474-83.
- 406. Ejlerskov, P., D.C. Rubinsztein, and R. Pocock, *IFNB/interferon-beta regulates autophagy via a MIR1-TBC1D15-RAB7 pathway*. Autophagy, 2020. **16**(4): p. 767-769.
- 407. Webster, J.M., et al., *Inflammation and Skeletal Muscle Wasting During Cachexia*. Front Physiol, 2020. **11**: p. 597675.
- 408. Baracos, V.E., et al., *Cancer-associated cachexia*. Nat Rev Dis Primers, 2018. 4: p. 17105.
- 409. Monitto, C.L., et al., *Differential gene expression in a murine model of cancer cachexia*. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab, 2001. **281**(2): p. E289-97.
- 410. Kays, J.K., et al., *Three cachexia phenotypes and the impact of fat-only loss on survival in FOLFIRINOX therapy for pancreatic cancer.* J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle, 2018. **9**(4): p. 673-684.
- 411. Scarpi, E., et al., *Survival prediction for terminally ill cancer patients: revision of the palliative prognostic score with incorporation of delirium.* Oncologist, 2011. **16**(12): p. 1793-9.
- 412. Fearon, K., et al., *Definition and classification of cancer cachexia: an international consensus.* Lancet Oncol, 2011. **12**(5): p. 489-95.
- 413. Baracos, V.E., V.C. Mazurak, and A.S. Bhullar, *Cancer cachexia is defined by an ongoing loss of skeletal muscle mass.* Ann Palliat Med, 2019. **8**(1): p. 3-12.
- 414. UK, C.R. *Cancer Grand challeneges*. 2021 [cited 2023; Available from: <u>https://cancergrandchallenges.org/</u>.
- 415. Schmidt, S.F., et al., *Cancer Cachexia: More Than Skeletal Muscle Wasting.* Trends Cancer, 2018. **4**(12): p. 849-860.
- 416. Ragni, M., et al., *Amino Acids in Cancer and Cachexia: An Integrated View.* Cancers (Basel), 2022. **14**(22).
- 417. Attaix, D., et al., *The ubiquitin-proteasome system and skeletal muscle wasting.* Essays Biochem, 2005. **41**: p. 173-86.
- 418. Penna, F., et al., *The Skeletal Muscle as an Active Player Against Cancer Cachexia*. Front Physiol, 2019. **10**: p. 41.
- 419. Thissen, J.P. and A. Loumaye, *[Role of Activin A and Myostatin in cancer cachexia]*. Ann Endocrinol (Paris), 2013. **74**(2): p. 79-81.
- 420. Loumaye, A., et al., *Circulating Activin A predicts survival in cancer patients*. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle, 2017. **8**(5): p. 768-777.
- 421. Loumaye, A., et al., *Role of Activin A and myostatin in human cancer cachexia*. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 2015. **100**(5): p. 2030-8.
- 422. Chen, J.L., et al., *Elevated expression of activins promotes muscle wasting and cachexia*. FASEB J, 2014. **28**(4): p. 1711-23.
- 423. Zimmers, T.A., M.L. Fishel, and A. Bonetto, *STAT3 in the systemic inflammation of cancer cachexia*. Semin Cell Dev Biol, 2016. **54**: p. 28-41.
- 424. White, J.P., *IL-6, cancer and cachexia: metabolic dysfunction creates the perfect storm.* Transl Cancer Res, 2017. **6**(Suppl 2): p. S280-S285.
- 425. Chiappalupi, S., et al., *Targeting RAGE prevents muscle wasting and prolongs survival in cancer cachexia*. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle, 2020. **11**(4): p. 929-946.
- 426. Pettersen, K., et al., Autocrine activin A signalling in ovarian cancer cells regulates secretion of interleukin 6, autophagy, and cachexia. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle, 2020. **11**(1): p. 195-207.

- 427. Pettersen, K., et al., *Cancer cachexia associates with a systemic autophagy-inducing activity mimicked by cancer cell-derived IL-6 trans-signaling.* Sci Rep, 2017. **7**(1): p. 2046.
- 428. VanderVeen, B.N., E.A. Murphy, and J.A. Carson, *The Impact of Immune Cells on the Skeletal Muscle Microenvironment During Cancer Cachexia*. Front Physiol, 2020. **11**: p. 1037.
- 429. Morgan, J. and T. Partridge, *Skeletal muscle in health and disease*. Dis Model Mech, 2020. **13**(2).
- 430. Howard, E.E., et al., *Divergent Roles of Inflammation in Skeletal Muscle Recovery From Injury.* Front Physiol, 2020. **11**: p. 87.
- 431. Tidball, J.G., Interactions between muscle and the immune system during modified musculoskeletal loading. Clin Orthop Relat Res, 2002(403 Suppl): p. S100-9.
- 432. Reidy, P.T., E.E. Dupont-Versteegden, and M.J. Drummond, *Macrophage Regulation of Muscle Regrowth From Disuse in Aging.* Exerc Sport Sci Rev, 2019. **47**(4): p. 246-250.
- 433. Baazim, H., L. Antonio-Herrera, and A. Bergthaler, *The interplay of immunology and cachexia in infection and cancer*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2022. **22**(5): p. 309-321.
- 434. Wang, Y.X. and M.A. Rudnicki, *Satellite cells, the engines of muscle repair*. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 2011. **13**(2): p. 127-33.
- 435. Inaba, S., et al., *Muscle regeneration is disrupted by cancer cachexia without loss of muscle stem cell potential.* PLoS One, 2018. **13**(10): p. e0205467.
- 436. Garcia-Caceres, C., et al., *Role of astrocytes, microglia, and tanycytes in brain control of systemic metabolism.* Nat Neurosci, 2019. **22**(1): p. 7-14.
- 437. Burfeind, K.G., et al., *Microglia in the hypothalamus respond to tumor-derived factors and are protective against cachexia during pancreatic cancer.* Glia, 2020. **68**(7): p. 1479-1494.
- 438. Erdem, M., et al., *Macrophages protect against loss of adipose tissue during cancer cachexia.* J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle, 2019. **10**(5): p. 1128-1142.
- 439. Schaffler, A. and J. Scholmerich, *Innate immunity and adipose tissue biology*. Trends Immunol, 2010. **31**(6): p. 228-35.
- 440. Shukla, S.K., et al., *Macrophages potentiate STAT3 signaling in skeletal muscles and regulate pancreatic cancer cachexia.* Cancer Lett, 2020. **484**: p. 29-39.
- 441. Smith, J.K., et al., *Free radical defense mechanisms and neutrophil infiltration in postischemic skeletal muscle*. Am J Physiol, 1989. **256**(3 Pt 2): p. H789-93.
- 442. Korthuis, R.J., M.B. Grisham, and D.N. Granger, *Leukocyte depletion attenuates vascular injury in postischemic skeletal muscle*. Am J Physiol, 1988. **254**(5 Pt 2): p. H823-7.
- Kanwar, S., C.W. Smith, and P. Kubes, An absolute requirement for P-selectin in ischemia/reperfusion-induced leukocyte recruitment in cremaster muscle. Microcirculation, 1998. 5(4): p. 281-7.
- 444. Pizza, F.X., et al., *Neutrophils contribute to muscle injury and impair its resolution after lengthening contractions in mice.* J Physiol, 2005. **562**(Pt 3): p. 899-913.
- 445. Burfeind, K.G., et al., *Circulating myeloid cells invade the central nervous system to mediate cachexia during pancreatic cancer*. Elife, 2020. **9**.
- 446. Szczerba, B.M., et al., *Neutrophils escort circulating tumour cells to enable cell cycle progression.* Nature, 2019. **566**(7745): p. 553-557.
- 447. Barker, T., et al., An elevated neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio associates with weight loss and cachexia in cancer. Sci Rep, 2020. **10**(1): p. 7535.
- 448. Khaled, Y.S., B.J. Ammori, and E. Elkord, *Increased levels of granulocytic myeloid-derived* suppressor cells in peripheral blood and tumour tissue of pancreatic cancer patients. J Immunol Res, 2014. **2014**: p. 879897.
- 449. Cuenca, A.G., et al., *Novel role for tumor-induced expansion of myeloid-derived cells in cancer cachexia*. J Immunol, 2014. **192**(12): p. 6111-9.
- 450. Ohki, S., et al., *Circulating myeloid-derived suppressor cells are increased and correlate to immune suppression, inflammation and hypoproteinemia in patients with cancer.* Oncol Rep, 2012. **28**(2): p. 453-8.

- 451. Narsale, A., et al., *Cancer-driven changes link T cell frequency to muscle strength in people with cancer: a pilot study.* J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle, 2019. **10**(4): p. 827-843.
- 452. Anoveros-Barrera, A., et al., *Immunohistochemical phenotyping of T cells, granulocytes, and phagocytes in the muscle of cancer patients: association with radiologically defined muscle mass and gene expression.* Skelet Muscle, 2019. **9**(1): p. 24.
- 453. Wu, J., et al., Skeletal muscle antagonizes antiviral CD8(+) T cell exhaustion. Sci Adv, 2020.
 6(24): p. eaba3458.
- 454. Schwartz, L.M., *Atrophy and programmed cell death of skeletal muscle*. Cell Death Differ, 2008. **15**(7): p. 1163-9.
- 455. Schcolnik-Cabrera, A., et al., *Understanding tumor anabolism and patient catabolism in cancer-associated cachexia.* Am J Cancer Res, 2017. **7**(5): p. 1107-1135.
- 456. Hegde, M., et al., *Tumor cell anabolism and host tissue catabolism-energetic inefficiency during cancer cachexia*. Exp Biol Med (Maywood), 2022. **247**(9): p. 713-733.
- 457. Tardif, N., et al., *Autophagic-lysosomal pathway is the main proteolytic system modified in the skeletal muscle of esophageal cancer patients.* Am J Clin Nutr, 2013. **98**(6): p. 1485-92.
- 458. Sorensen, J., *Lung Cancer Cachexia: Can Molecular Understanding Guide Clinical Management?* Integr Cancer Ther, 2018. **17**(3): p. 1000-1008.
- 459. Scicchitano, B.M., et al., *Molecular Insights into Muscle Homeostasis, Atrophy and Wasting.* Curr Genomics, 2018. **19**(5): p. 356-369.
- 460. Sandri, M., Autophagy in skeletal muscle. FEBS Lett, 2010. 584(7): p. 1411-6.
- 461. Bonaldo, P. and M. Sandri, *Cellular and molecular mechanisms of muscle atrophy*. Dis Model Mech, 2013. **6**(1): p. 25-39.
- 462. Penna, F., et al., Autophagic degradation contributes to muscle wasting in cancer cachexia. Am J Pathol, 2013. **182**(4): p. 1367-78.
- 463. Aversa, Z., et al., Autophagy is induced in the skeletal muscle of cachectic cancer patients. Sci Rep, 2016. 6: p. 30340.
- 464. Musolino, V., et al., *Megestrol acetate improves cardiac function in a model of cancer cachexia-induced cardiomyopathy by autophagic modulation.* J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle, 2016. **7**(5): p. 555-566.
- 465. Penna, F., et al., Autophagy Exacerbates Muscle Wasting in Cancer Cachexia and Impairs Mitochondrial Function. J Mol Biol, 2019. **431**(15): p. 2674-2686.
- 466. Molinari, F., et al., *The mitochondrial metabolic reprogramming agent trimetazidine as an 'exercise mimetic' in cachectic C26-bearing mice*. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle, 2017. 8(6): p. 954-973.
- 467. Ballaro, R., et al., *Moderate exercise in mice improves cancer plus chemotherapy-induced muscle wasting and mitochondrial alterations*. FASEB J, 2019. **33**(4): p. 5482-5494.
- 468. Brown, J.L., et al., *Mitochondrial degeneration precedes the development of muscle atrophy in progression of cancer cachexia in tumour-bearing mice*. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle, 2017. **8**(6): p. 926-938.
- 469. Pin, F., et al., *Combination of exercise training and erythropoietin prevents cancer-induced muscle alterations*. Oncotarget, 2015. **6**(41): p. 43202-15.
- 470. Gusev, E., et al., *Characterization of skeletal muscle wasting pathways in diaphragm and limb muscles of cystic fibrosis mice*. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol, 2022. **322**(6): p. R551-R561.
- 471. Dexter, D.L., et al., *Heterogeneity of tumor cells from a single mouse mammary tumor.* Cancer Res, 1978. **38**(10): p. 3174-81.
- 472. Miller, F.R., B.E. Miller, and G.H. Heppner, *Characterization of metastatic heterogeneity among subpopulations of a single mouse mammary tumor: heterogeneity in phenotypic stability.* Invasion Metastasis, 1983. **3**(1): p. 22-31.

- 473. von Nandelstadh, P., et al., *Actin-associated protein palladin promotes tumor cell invasion by linking extracellular matrix degradation to cell cytoskeleton.* Mol Biol Cell, 2014. **25**(17): p. 2556-70.
- 474. Sugiyama, N., et al., *EphA2 cleavage by MT1-MMP triggers single cancer cell invasion via homotypic cell repulsion.* J Cell Biol, 2013. **201**(3): p. 467-84.
- 475. ; Available from: <u>https://www.iarc.who.int/news-events/current-and-future-burden-of-breast-cancer-global-statistics-for-2020-and-2040/</u>.
- 476. Steeg, P.S., *Targeting metastasis*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2016. 16(4): p. 201-18.
- 477. Goldhirsch, A., et al., *Strategies for subtypes--dealing with the diversity of breast cancer: highlights of the St. Gallen International Expert Consensus on the Primary Therapy of Early Breast Cancer 2011.* Ann Oncol, 2011. **22**(8): p. 1736-47.
- 478. Tan, K. and M.J. Naylor, *Tumour Microenvironment-Immune Cell Interactions Influencing Breast Cancer Heterogeneity and Disease Progression.* Front Oncol, 2022. **12**: p. 876451.
- 479. Barriga, V., et al., *The Complex Interaction between the Tumor Micro-Environment and Immune Checkpoints in Breast Cancer*. Cancers (Basel), 2019. **11**(8).
- 480. Mildenberger, J., et al., *N-3 PUFAs induce inflammatory tolerance by formation of KEAP1-containing SQSTM1/p62-bodies and activation of NFE2L2*. Autophagy, 2017. **13**(10): p. 1664-1678.
- 481. Johansson, I., et al., *The marine n-3 PUFA DHA evokes cytoprotection against oxidative stress* and protein misfolding by inducing autophagy and NFE2L2 in human retinal pigment epithelial cells. Autophagy, 2015. **11**(9): p. 1636-51.
- 482. Bjorkoy, G., et al., *Monitoring autophagic degradation of p62/SQSTM1*. Methods Enzymol, 2009. **452**: p. 181-97.
- 483. Seok, J., et al., *Genomic responses in mouse models poorly mimic human inflammatory diseases*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2013. **110**(9): p. 3507-12.
- 484. Rangarajan, A. and R.A. Weinberg, *Opinion: Comparative biology of mouse versus human cells: modelling human cancer in mice.* Nat Rev Cancer, 2003. **3**(12): p. 952-9.
- 485. Sanchez-Garrido, J. and A.R. Shenoy, *Regulation and repurposing of nutrient sensing and autophagy in innate immunity.* Autophagy, 2021. **17**(7): p. 1571-1591.
- 486. Mafi, S., et al., *mTOR-Mediated Regulation of Immune Responses in Cancer and Tumor Microenvironment*. Front Immunol, 2021. **12**: p. 774103.
- 487. Murray, P.J., *Amino acid auxotrophy as a system of immunological control nodes*. Nat Immunol, 2016. **17**(2): p. 132-9.
- 488. Neckmann, U., et al., *GREM1* is associated with metastasis and predicts poor prognosis in ERnegative breast cancer patients. Cell Commun Signal, 2019. **17**(1): p. 140.
- 489. Broadinstitute. *Cancer Cell Line Encyclopedia*. Available from: https://sites.broadinstitute.org/ccle/.
- 490. Scriver, C.R. and L.E. Rosenberg, *Amino acid metabolism and its disorders*. Major Probl Clin Pediatr, 1973. **10**: p. 1-478.
- Suzuki, T., et al., The effects on plasma L-arginine levels of combined oral L-citrulline and Larginine supplementation in healthy males. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem, 2017. 81(2): p. 372-375.
- 492. Chantranupong, L., et al., *The CASTOR Proteins Are Arginine Sensors for the mTORC1 Pathway.* Cell, 2016. **165**(1): p. 153-164.
- 493. Timosenko, E., A.V. Hadjinicolaou, and V. Cerundolo, *Modulation of cancer-specific immune responses by amino acid degrading enzymes*. Immunotherapy, 2017. **9**(1): p. 83-97.
- 494. Thakur, A., H. Mikkelsen, and G. Jungersen, *Intracellular Pathogens: Host Immunity and Microbial Persistence Strategies*. J Immunol Res, 2019. **2019**: p. 1356540.
- 495. Gui, X., et al., Autophagy induction via STING trafficking is a primordial function of the cGAS pathway. Nature, 2019. **567**(7747): p. 262-266.

- 496. Randow, F. and R.J. Youle, *Self and nonself: how autophagy targets mitochondria and bacteria.* Cell Host Microbe, 2014. **15**(4): p. 403-11.
- 497. Randow, F., J.D. MacMicking, and L.C. James, *Cellular self-defense: how cell-autonomous immunity protects against pathogens*. Science, 2013. **340**(6133): p. 701-6.
- 498. Boyle, K.B., B.J. Ravenhill, and F. Randow, *CALCOCO2/NDP52 initiates selective autophagy through recruitment of ULK and TBK1 kinase complexes.* Autophagy, 2019. **15**(9): p. 1655-1656.
- 499. Rello-Varona, S., et al., Autophagic removal of micronuclei. Cell Cycle, 2012. 11(1): p. 170-6.
- 500. Changou, C.A., et al., Arginine starvation-associated atypical cellular death involves mitochondrial dysfunction, nuclear DNA leakage, and chromatin autophagy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2014. **111**(39): p. 14147-52.
- 501. Moulis, M. and C. Vindis, *Methods for Measuring Autophagy in Mice*. Cells, 2017. **6**(2).
- 502. Zach, F., et al., *p62/sequestosome 1 deficiency accelerates osteoclastogenesis in vitro and leads to Paget's disease-like bone phenotypes in mice.* J Biol Chem, 2018. **293**(24): p. 9530-9541.
- 503. Wang, G., et al., *Metastatic cancers promote cachexia through ZIP14 upregulation in skeletal muscle*. Nat Med, 2018. **24**(6): p. 770-781.
- 504. Kunz, H.E., et al., *Methylarginine metabolites are associated with attenuated muscle protein synthesis in cancer-associated muscle wasting.* J Biol Chem, 2020. **295**(51): p. 17441-17459.
- 505. Holland, P., et al., *Computed tomography with segmentation and quantification of individual organs in a D. melanogaster tumor model.* Sci Rep, 2022. **12**(1): p. 2056.
- 506. Beltra, M., et al., *Mitochondrial Dysfunction in Cancer Cachexia: Impact on Muscle Health and Regeneration*. Cells, 2021. **10**(11).
- 507. Zheng, J., et al., *Comprehensive elaboration of the cGAS-STING signaling axis in cancer development and immunotherapy*. Mol Cancer, 2020. **19**(1): p. 133.
- 508. Yu, R., B. Zhu, and D. Chen, *Type I interferon-mediated tumor immunity and its role in immunotherapy.* Cell Mol Life Sci, 2022. **79**(3): p. 191.
- 509. Flood, B.A., et al., *STING pathway agonism as a cancer therapeutic.* Immunol Rev, 2019. **290**(1): p. 24-38.
- 510. Zea, A.H., et al., *Arginase-producing myeloid suppressor cells in renal cell carcinoma patients: a mechanism of tumor evasion.* Cancer Res, 2005. **65**(8): p. 3044-8.
- 511. Steggerda, S.M., et al., Inhibition of arginase by CB-1158 blocks myeloid cell-mediated immune suppression in the tumor microenvironment. J Immunother Cancer, 2017. 5(1): p. 101.
- 512. Marinkovic, M., et al., *Autophagy Modulation in Cancer: Current Knowledge on Action and Therapy*. Oxid Med Cell Longev, 2018. **2018**: p. 8023821.
- 513. Lee, M.J., et al., *Enhancing Anti-Cancer Therapy with Selective Autophagy Inhibitors by Targeting Protective Autophagy*. Biomol Ther (Seoul), 2023. **31**(1): p. 1-15.
- 514. Rodriguez, P.C., et al., *Arginase I production in the tumor microenvironment by mature myeloid cells inhibits T-cell receptor expression and antigen-specific T-cell responses.* Cancer Res, 2004. **64**(16): p. 5839-49.
- 515. Bagnost, T., et al., *Cardiovascular effects of arginase inhibition in spontaneously hypertensive rats with fully developed hypertension*. Cardiovasc Res, 2010. **87**(3): p. 569-77.
- 516. Detroja, T.S. and A.O. Samson, *Virtual Screening for FDA-Approved Drugs That Selectively Inhibit Arginase Type 1 and 2.* Molecules, 2022. **27**(16).
- 517. Mohsen, S., et al., *Autophagy Agents in Clinical Trials for Cancer Therapy: A Brief Review.* Curr Oncol, 2022. **29**(3): p. 1695-1708.
- 518. Jin, Z., et al., *Regulation of autophagy fires up the cold tumor microenvironment to improve cancer immunotherapy*. Front Immunol, 2022. **13**: p. 1018903.

- 519. Zhou, N., et al., *The combination of hydroxychloroquine and 2-deoxyglucose enhances* apoptosis in breast cancer cells by blocking protective autophagy and sustaining endoplasmic reticulum stress. Cell Death Discov, 2022. **8**(1): p. 286.
- 520. Zhang, D., et al., 2-Deoxy-D-glucose targeting of glucose metabolism in cancer cells as a potential therapy. Cancer Lett, 2014. **355**(2): p. 176-83.
- 521. Ralser, M., et al., *A catabolic block does not sufficiently explain how 2-deoxy-D-glucose inhibits cell growth*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2008. **105**(46): p. 17807-11.
- 522. Zeh, H.J., et al., A Randomized Phase II Preoperative Study of Autophagy Inhibition with High-Dose Hydroxychloroquine and Gemcitabine/Nab-Paclitaxel in Pancreatic Cancer Patients. Clin Cancer Res, 2020. **26**(13): p. 3126-3134.
- 523. Arnaout, A., et al., *A randomized, double-blind, window of opportunity trial evaluating the effects of chloroquine in breast cancer patients.* Breast Cancer Res Treat, 2019. **178**(2): p. 327-335.
- 524. Abdel-Aziz, A.K., et al., A Critical Review of Chloroquine and Hydroxychloroquine as Potential Adjuvant Agents for Treating People with Cancer. Future Pharmacology, 2022. **2**(4): p. 431-443.
- 525. Rojas-Puentes, L.L., et al., *Phase II randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study of whole-brain irradiation with concomitant chloroquine for brain metastases.* Radiat Oncol, 2013. **8**: p. 209.
- 526. Briceno, E., S. Reyes, and J. Sotelo, *Therapy of glioblastoma multiforme improved by the antimutagenic chloroquine*. Neurosurg Focus, 2003. **14**(2): p. e3.
- 527. Cuomo, F., L. Altucci, and G. Cobellis, *Autophagy Function and Dysfunction: Potential Drugs as Anti-Cancer Therapy.* Cancers (Basel), 2019. **11**(10).
- 528. Heys, S.D., et al., *Potentiation of the response to chemotherapy in patients with breast cancer by dietary supplementation with L-arginine: results of a randomised controlled trial.* Int J Oncol, 1998. **12**(1): p. 221-5.
- 529. Wu, G., Intestinal mucosal amino acid catabolism. J Nutr, 1998. **128**(8): p. 1249-52.
- 530. Grimble, G.K., *Adverse gastrointestinal effects of arginine and related amino acids.* J Nutr, 2007. **137**(6 Suppl 2): p. 1693S-1701S.
- 531. Collier, S.R., D.P. Casey, and J.A. Kanaley, *Growth hormone responses to varying doses of oral arginine*. Growth Horm IGF Res, 2005. **15**(2): p. 136-9.
- 532. Agarwal, U., et al., *Supplemental Citrulline Is More Efficient Than Arginine in Increasing Systemic Arginine Availability in Mice*. J Nutr, 2017. **147**(4): p. 596-602.
- 533. Wakabayashi, H., H. Arai, and A. Inui, *The regulatory approval of anamorelin for treatment of cachexia in patients with non-small cell lung cancer, gastric cancer, pancreatic cancer, and colorectal cancer in Japan: facts and numbers.* J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle, 2021. **12**(1): p. 14-16.
- 534. Temel, J.S., et al., Anamorelin in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer and cachexia (ROMANA 1 and ROMANA 2): results from two randomised, double-blind, phase 3 trials. Lancet Oncol, 2016. **17**(4): p. 519-531.
- 535. Wyart, E., et al., *Iron supplementation is sufficient to rescue skeletal muscle mass and function in cancer cachexia.* EMBO Rep, 2022. **23**(4): p. e53746.
- 536. Thorsson, V., et al., *The Immune Landscape of Cancer*. Immunity, 2018. **48**(4): p. 812-830 e14.
- 537. Gentles, A.J., et al., *The prognostic landscape of genes and infiltrating immune cells across human cancers.* Nat Med, 2015. **21**(8): p. 938-945.
- 538. Mohme, M., S. Riethdorf, and K. Pantel, *Circulating and disseminated tumour cells mechanisms of immune surveillance and escape*. Nat Rev Clin Oncol, 2017. **14**(3): p. 155-167.
- 539. Lambert, A.W., D.R. Pattabiraman, and R.A. Weinberg, *Emerging Biological Principles of Metastasis*. Cell, 2017. **168**(4): p. 670-691.

- 540. Raskov, H., et al., *Neutrophils and polymorphonuclear myeloid-derived suppressor cells: an emerging battleground in cancer therapy.* Oncogenesis, 2022. **11**(1): p. 22.
- 541. Evrard, M., et al., *Developmental Analysis of Bone Marrow Neutrophils Reveals Populations Specialized in Expansion, Trafficking, and Effector Functions.* Immunity, 2018. **48**(2): p. 364-379 e8.
- 542. Wu, M., et al., *Neutrophil: A New Player in Metastatic Cancers.* Front Immunol, 2020. **11**: p. 565165.
- 543. Tak, T., et al., *What's your age again? Determination of human neutrophil half-lives revisited.* J Leukoc Biol, 2013. **94**(4): p. 595-601.
- 544. Nejman, D., et al., *The human tumor microbiome is composed of tumor type-specific intracellular bacteria*. Science, 2020. **368**(6494): p. 973-980.
- 545. Gibson, J.F., et al., *Neutrophils use selective autophagy receptor Sqstm1/p62 to target Staphylococcus aureus for degradation in vivo in zebrafish.* Autophagy, 2021. **17**(6): p. 1448-1457.
- 546. Cancer Genome Atlas Research, N., et al., *The Cancer Genome Atlas Pan-Cancer analysis* project. Nat Genet, 2013. **45**(10): p. 1113-20.
- 547. Kim, S., et al., Argininosuccinate synthase 1 suppresses tumor progression through activation of PERK/eIF2alpha/ATF4/CHOP axis in hepatocellular carcinoma. J Exp Clin Cancer Res, 2021.
 40(1): p. 127.

Paper I

RESEARCH

Cell Communication and Signaling

Open Access

Opposite and dynamic regulation of the interferon response in metastatic and non-metastatic breast cancer



Apsana Lamsal^{1,2}, Sonja Benedikte Andersen^{1,2}, Ida Johansson¹, Marina Vietri^{3,4}, Ansooya Avinash Bokil^{2,6}, Natalie Jayne Kurganovs⁵, Felicia Rylander¹, Geir Bjørkøy^{1,2}, Kristine Pettersen^{1,2*} and Miriam S. Giambelluca^{2,7*}

Abstract

Background To our current understanding, solid tumors depend on suppressed local immune reactions, often elicited by the interaction between tumor cells and tumor microenvironment (TME) components. Despite an improved understanding of anti-cancer immune responses in the TME, it is still unclear how immuno-suppressive TME are formed and how some cancer cells survive and metastasize.

Methods To identify the major adaptations that cancer cells undergo during tumor development and progression, we compared the transcriptome and proteome from metastatic 66cl4 and non-metastatic 67NR cell lines in culture versus their corresponding mouse mammary primary tumors. Using confocal microscopy, RT-qPCR, flow cytometry and western blotting, we studied the signaling pathway and the mechanisms involved. In addition, we used public gene expression data from human breast cancer biopsies to evaluate the correlation between gene expression and clinical outcomes in patients.

Results We found that type I interferon (IFN-I) response was a key differentially regulated pathway between metastatic and non-metastatic cell lines and tumors. The IFN-I response was active in metastatic cancer cells in culture and markedly dampened when these cells formed primary tumors. Interestingly, the opposite was observed in non-metastatic cancer cells and tumors. Consistent with an active IFN-I response in culture, the metastatic cancer cells displayed elevated levels of cytosolic DNA from both mitochondria and ruptured micronuclei with concomitant activation of cGAS-STING signaling. Interestingly, decreased IFN-I-related gene expression in breast cancer biopsies correlated with an unfavourable prognosis in patients.

Conclusion Our findings show that IFN-I response is dampened in the tumors with the metastatic ability and lower IFN-I expression predicts poor prognosis in triple-negative and HER2 enriched breast cancer patients. This study highlights the possibility of reactivating the IFN-I response as a potential therapeutic strategy in breast cancer.

Keywords 4T1 model, 66cl4, 67NR, IFN-I, Metastasis

*Correspondence: Kristine Pettersen kristine.pettersen@ntnu.no Miriam S. Giambelluca miriam.giambelluca@ntnu.no Full list of author information is available at the end of the article



© The Author(s) 2023. **Open Access** This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativeco mmons.org/publicc/omain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated in a credit line to the data.



Background

The interaction between cancer cells and the tumor microenvironment (TME) profoundly impacts tumor development by influencing processes that lead to either tumor eradication or tumor progression and metastasis [1-4]. In a solid tumor, the transformed cancer cells co-evolve with the TME, which includes fibroblasts, endothelial cells and infiltrating immune cells, blood vessels, signaling molecules, secreted factors, and extracellular matrix [5]. Immune cells are essential components of the TME since a proper antitumor immune response will destroy the transformed cancer cells, while a protumor immune response may support tumor growth and metastasis. Cancer cells can avoid immune recognition by actively suppressing antitumor immune responses by releasing anti-inflammatory cytokines, recruiting immunosuppressive immune cells, and shaping the TME towards a more permissive state [6-14].

Interferons (IFNs) have a crucial role in the immune response against infections, intracellular pathogens, and cancer cells. These proteins are released by infected or transformed cells and activate the immune response that promotes cytokine production, natural killer cell functions, and antigen presentation [15, 16]. Type I IFNs (IFN-I), the largest class of IFNs, have a pivotal role in cancer prevention, inducing anti-tumor immunity [17]. Downregulation of IFN-I response prevents CD8⁺T cell-mediated recognition and elimination of tumor cells. For instance, loss of the type I interferon receptor chain (IFNAR1) in colorectal cancer models led to aggressive cancer growth, while the activation of IFN-I response increases the CD8⁺T cell effector function and tumor regression [10, 17, 18]. In breast cancer models, downregulation of interferon regulatory factor (Irf7) target genes was associated with increased bone metastasis and reduced survival in this model. On the other hand, high expression of Irf7 regulatory genes correlated with increased metastasis-free survival in more than 800 patients studied [19].

IFN-I expression can be induced by activating the cGAS-STING pathway, which induced tumor regression in breast, colon cancer and melanoma mouse models when STING agonists were administered [20–24]. Moreover, STING agonists are currently used in clinical trials in combination with chemotherapy or Programmed Cell Death Ligand 1 (PDL1) antibodies highlighting the importance of IFN in cancer treatment [25]. However, a better understanding of the mechanism that controls IFN-I responses and its relationship
in the TME components is needed to extend the success of this combined therapy.

Despite our improved understanding of anticancer immune responses in the TME, it is still unclear how immuno-suppressive TME are formed and how some cancer cells survive and metastasize [26]. We aimed to identify specific adaptations of metastatic cancer cells that enable them to grow in the TME, avoiding immune response and facilitating tumor progression and metastasis. We used cell lines derived from the well-established metastatic mammary carcinoma model 4T1 with different metastatic capacities. We used 66cl4 cells that metastasize to the lungs after injection into the mammary fat pad of mice, while 67NR cells do not metastasize [27]. Using the unbiased approach of transcriptomics and proteomics to compare metastatic and non-metastatic cancer cells grown in culture versus their corresponding tumors, we showed that the IFN-I response differed. Specifically, we found a significant dampening in the IFN-I response in the metastatic tumors compared to the cells in the culture. In contrast, an increase in the IFN response was observed in the non-metastatic tumor. In addition, we found that elevated IFN-I response in metastatic cancer cells was related to the high cytosolic DNA levels and activation of their sensor system. Our results suggest that factors in the TME enable metastatic tumors to silence their IFN-I response, thus avoiding the antitumor immune response. Hence, a better understanding of the mechanism used by metastatic tumors to dampen the local IFN-I signaling could lead to novel targeted therapies to reactivate local immune reactions and boost responses to conventional therapies.

Methods

Cell lines and cell culture

67NR and 66cl4 cells, obtained from Barbara Ann Karmanos Cancer Institute, and MDAMB453 and MDAMB231 cells, kindly provided by Dr. Kaisa Lehti were cultivated as described in Additional file 1: Methods.

Transcriptome analysis

RNA from 66cl4 and 67NR cells, as well as from 66cl4 and 67NRprimary mammary tumors from BALB/cJ mice were isolated and sequenced as described before [28] and analyzed as in Additional file 1: Methods.

Mice experiments

Eight- to twelve-week-old female BALB/cJ mice were obtained from Janvier Labs, France. The tumors were initiated and resected and processed as in Additional file 1: Methods.

Proteins were isolated from 66cl4 and 67NR mammary breast tumors from mice by homogenization in lysis buffer and analyzed by LC–MS/MS as described in Additional file 1: Methods. The proteomics data have been deposited to the ProteomeXchange Consortium via the PRIDE [29] partner repository with the dataset identifier PXD037288.

Quantitative real-time PCR

Total RNA from cells in culture was extracted using RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen). RNA concentration and purity were measured by Nanodrop. cDNA synthesis followed by qPCR was performed as described in Additional file 1: Methods.

Immunoblotting

Cells were harvested in 8 M urea lysis buffer (8 M urea, 0.5% (v/v) Triton X-100, 100 mM DTT, $1 \times \text{Complete}^{\textcircled{m}}$ protease inhibitor (Roche) and $2 \times \text{phosphatase}$ inhibitor cocktail II and III (Sigma)). When indicated, the cells were pretreated with the cGAS inhibitor (Invivogen, # inh-ru521) or the TBKI inhibitors MRT67307 and BX795 (Sigma, #HY-13018 and # HY-10514). Frozen tumor tissues were thawed in urea lysis buffer and homogenized as described under sample preparation and MS analyses in Supplementary Methods. Protein concentration was measured and subjected to western blot as in Supplementary Methods.

ELISA

67NR and 66cl4 cells were cultured in full growth medium for three days until they reached 80–90% confluency. Conditioned medium (CM) was collected, centrifuged, and filtered through a 0.22 µm filter. CXCL10 levels were determined using Mouse CXCL10/IP-10/ CRG-2 DuoSet ELISA (R&D systems, #DY466) according to the manufacturer's protocols. The data was analyzed using Microplate Manager 6 (Bio-Rad).

Immunofluorescence

Cells were grown on high precision cover glass until desired confluency, fixed, permeabilized, stained with antibodies specific for cGAS and Lamin A and imaged as specified in Additional file 1: Methods.

Analysis of mitochondrial membrane potential and reactive oxygen species.

Mitochondrial membrane potential (MMP) and production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) were assessed as described in Additional file 1: Methods.

Detection of total and cytosolic mtDNA

Total and cytosolic DNA were isolated from 66cl4 and 67NR cells and subjected to qPCR as described in Additional file 1: Methods.

Use of public databases

Kaplan–Meier plotter [30], Broad Institute Cancer Cell Line Encyclopedia (CCLE), (https://portals.broadinsti tute.org/ccle) [31] and cBioPortal [32] were used as described in Additional file 1: Methods.

Statistics

Statistical analyses were performed in GraphPad Prism 9. Values are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation (SD) or standard error of the mean (SEM) if not otherwise stated. Details about statistical analyses are specified in the figure legends. *p*-value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant and is labeled with *, *p* < 0.001 is labeled with *** and *p* < 0.0001 is labeled with ****.

Results

IFN-I-associated gene expression is suppressed in metastatic tumors

To identify transcriptome dynamics that occur during metastatic tumor development, we compared the RNAsequencing profile of cell cultures and tumors formed by the metastatic 66cl4 cells. This analysis identified 1859 genes that were differentially expressed between 66cl4 cells grown in culture versus their corresponding primary tumors (log2 Fold Change (FC) > ± 1.5 ; adjusted *p*-value < 0.05). Of these, 1537 genes were significantly higher expressed, whilst 322 genes were significantly lower expressed in the 66cl4 tumors (Fig. 1A). To understand the biological processes (BP) linked to the differentially expressed genes, we performed gene ontology (GO) enrichment analysis. This showed that the highly expressed genes in the 66cl4 tumors were associated with inflammation and cell chemotaxis (Additional file 1: Fig. S1A) and that the lower expressed genes were associated with viral defense and IFN-I response (Fig. 1B).

To investigate if we could extend these observations to a non-metastatic tumor, we compared the transcriptomes of the non-metastatic 67NR cell line grown in culture versus its primary tumor. This analysis identified 1084 genes differentially expressed between the 67NR samples (log2FC>1.5; adjusted *p*-value <0.05). Of these, 938 genes were significantly elevated, whilst 146 were reduced in the tumors (Additional file 1: FigS1B). GO analysis for BP revealed that the high-expressed genes were also involved in inflammation and leukocyte

migration (Additional file 1: Fig.S1C), while the lowexpressed genes were related to RNA metabolism (Additional file 1: Fig.S1D). Together, the results obtained from the 66cl4 and 67NR analyses showed that genes with a lower expression are involved with different BP in the metastatic and non-metastatic tumors, raising the possibility that these signaling pathways are associated with the different metastatic ability of the tumors.

To further understand the dynamic changes in gene expression between cell lines and tumors, we compared the differentially expressed genes in 66cl4 and 67NR, both when grown in culture and when forming primary tumors (Additional file 1: Fig.S2). Compared to the 67NR cells, 411 genes were highly expressed in 66cl4 cells (log2FC>1.5). Strikingly, 11 genes stood out as being significantly elevated in 66cl4 cells in culture but also among the significantly downregulated genes in the 66cl4 tumors. GO analysis for BP of these 11 genes revealed that they were involved in IFN response, especially in IFN-I signaling (Fig. 1C). Interestingly, these 11 transcripts were amongst those showing low expression in 67NR cells in culture but higher expression in the 67NR tumors (Fig. 1D).

To confirm that the expression of these 16 genes was reduced in metastatic cancer cells following tumor formation, we performed RNA sequencing from isolated non-immune cell-enriched (CD45-negative) and immune cell-enriched (CD45-positive) from 66cl4 and 67NR tumors. This analysis showed a significantly lower expression of these 11 genes in 66cl4 isolated from CD45-negative population enriched with cancer cells compared to (CD45-negative) population from 67NR (Fig. 1E, Additional file 1: Fig.S3A). The reduction in expression of 11 genes was also observed in the CD45-positive population from 66cl4 tumor (Additional file 1: Fig S3B). This suggests that metastatic and non-metastatic cells utilize different strategies to successfully form a tumor, and that alterations in IFN-I signaling stand out as strikingly different.

Type I IFN-associated proteins are lower in the metastatic tumor

To investigate whether the transcriptional differences associated with the IFN-I response in metastatic and non-metastatic tumors correlate with protein levels, we analyzed the proteomes of the 66cl4 (n=6) and 67NR (n=5) primary tumors. Principal component analysis of the 5906 detected proteins showed a high degree of similarity between the biological replicates of each tumor (Additional file 1: Fig. S4A). In addition, the tumor samples were separated by tumor type (67NR vs 66cl4) based on the relative abundance of individual



Fig. 1 IFN-I-related gene expression is suppressed in metastatic cancer cells. A Volcano plots depicting differentially expressed genes from 66cl4 primary tumors vs 66cl4 cells. Red points represent genes with Log2foldchange within the cut-off (\pm 1.5) and adjusted *p*-value < 0.05. **B** Gene Ontology (GO) analysis of the most enriched biological processes (BP) associated with the genes with a reduced expression in 66cl4 tumor versus 66cl4 cell line. **C** Gene Ontology analysis of the most enriched biological processes of the 11 genes highly expressed in 66cl4 versus 67NR cells but low expressed in 66cl4 versus 67NR tumors. **D** Heatmap showing transcript per million (after log10 transformation) of the 11 genes that are oppositely expressed in cells in culture and in primary tumors of 67NR and 66cl4. **E** Significantly upregulated IFN-I genes in 66cl4 cells vs. 67NR cells (N=3) and downregulated genes in 66cl4 (CD45-) vs 67NR (CD45-) population (N=5) sorted from the primary tumors of 66cl4 and 67NR

proteins, indicating differential protein levels between them (Additional file 1: Fig.S4A). Compared with 67NR tumors, 66cl4 tumors displayed elevated levels of 387 proteins (log2FC>1.5) and lower levels of 328 proteins (log2FC<- 1.5) (Additional file 1: Fig. S3B). To identify the main biological processes associated with the identified proteins, we performed GO (BP) enrichment analyses of the tumor proteomes. Consistent with the RNA sequencing-based data, primary tumors formed by 66cl4 expressed higher levels of proteins related to leukocyte migration and chemotaxis (Fig. 2A). In contrast, proteins related to adaptive immune response and cytotoxicity were markedly reduced in 66cl4 tumors versus 67NR tumors (Fig. 2B). We also noticed significantly lower levels of interferon beta-associated proteins in metastatic 66cl4 tumors versus 67NR tumors (Fig. 2B), suggesting that reduced transcription of the interferon-related genes in metastatic tumors correlates with a significant decrease in IFN-I associated proteins.

We further examined the proteins associated with the response to interferon beta and other interferonrelated proteins selected based on the literature [33]. We found low levels of 14 IFN-related proteins among the less abundant proteins (log2FC < -1.5) in 66cl4 tumors (Fig. 2C). These were compared with the 11 'oppositely' expressed genes that were identified earlier (high in 66cl4 vs. 67NR cells in culture but low in 66cl4 vs 67NR in tumors), and six proteins were detected by proteomics. Amongst these, three proteins corresponded to transcripts that were dampened in 66cl4 tumors (Fig. 1D):



Fig. 2 |FN-l proteins are dampened in metastatic tumors. A GO (BP) functional enrichment analyses of proteins with elevated levels in 66cl4 tumors (N = 6) relative to 67NR tumors (N = 5), from MS analysis (log2FC \geq 1.5, *p*-value < 0.05). B GO (BP) functional enrichment analyses of proteins with a reduced expression in 66cl4 tumors (N = 6) relative to 67NR tumors. C Significantly downregulated |FN-l proteins in 66cl4 tumors. D CXCL10 levels in conditioned medium from 67NR and 66cl4 cells determined by ELISA. Bars represent means \pm SEM (N = 3). E) CXCL10 immunoblot of proteine extracts from 67AR and 66cl4 cell lines (N = 4). F) CXCL10 immunoblot of proteine extracts from 66cl4 cell line (N = 1) and 66cl4 tumors (N = 6). Statistical significance was determined using Student's t-test (*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.0001)

IFIT3, IFIT1 and ISG15. Two proteins, OAS3 and GBP2, had significant lower expression in 66cl4 tumors versus 67NR tumors, however, these were outside the cutoff of log2FC < - 1.5. Only one protein, GBP2B, did not correlate with its detected mRNA levels. Among the five undetected proteins in MS (CXCL10, TRIM30d, IRF7, GBP3 and CCL5), we chose CXCL10, CCL5 and IRF7 for further validation [34, 35]. This analysis showed that both mRNA and protein levels of CXCL10, CCl5 and IRF7 protein levels were elevated in metastatic cancer cells in culture and reduced in 66cl4-derived primary tumors (Fig. 2D-F and Additional file 1: Fig.S4C-I). Together, the transcriptomic and proteomic analyses of the cancer cells in culture and primary tumors indicate the dampening of the IFN-I response as the most evident adaptation during tumor formation in the metastatic model.

Cytosolic nuclear DNA is elevated in the murine metastatic and aggressive human cancer cells

The data presented above is consistent with a constitutive IFN-I response in metastatic 66cl4 cells in culture that is downregulated in tumors formed by these cells. Thus, the response is dynamically regulated. We next wondered how the IFN-I response can be constitutively activated in sterile cell culture conditions. IFN-I response is induced by cytosolic DNA [36]. Often cancer cells contain cytosolic micronuclei produced by chromosomal mis-segregation events during mitosis [37]. Immunostaining of DNA and confocal microscopy revealed a similar number of micronuclei in the metastatic and non-metastatic cells (Fig. 3A, B). However, the activation of the IFN-I signaling depends on cGAS physically binding to DNA, a condition that is met at a subset of micronuclei characterized



Fig. 3 Metastatic and invasive cancer cells display elevated levels of cGAS-positive micronuclei. A Representative immunofluorescence staining of micronuclei in 67NR and 66cl4 cells with cGAS (Green) and Lamin A (red) antibodies. Micronuclei and cGAS-positive micronuclei are highlighted by white arrows. DNA was stained with Hoechst (Blue). Scale bar: 5 μ m. B-C Percentage of micronuclei per cell (B) and CGAS-positive micronuclei per cell (C) calculated from three independent experiments (N = > 1000 cells per experiment, from three independent experiments). D–F Representative immunofluorescence staining and quantitation of micronuclei and cGAS-positive micronuclei in MDAMB453 and MDAMB231 cells (N = > 1000 cells per experiment, from three independent experiments). Scale bar: 5 μ m. Bars represent mean ± SEM (** ρ < 0.01, **** ρ < 0.0001; Student's t-test)

by a ruptured nuclear envelope [37, 38]. Strikingly, the fraction of cGAS-positive micronuclei was considerably higher in 66cl4 cells than in 67NR (Fig. 3C). Together, transcriptome, proteome and signaling analyses suggest that cGAS binds to DNA in the cytosol of 66cl4 cells in culture and cause a constitutive IFN-I response in these metastatic cancer cells that is not detected in the nonmetastatic cells. As 66cl4 and 67NR are mouse-derived breast cancer cell lines, we next postulated whether similar differences in IFN-I expression could be identified in human breast cancer cell lines. We then analyzed the expression of two well-known interferon-induced genes, IFIT3 and IFI44, using mRNA expression data from the Cancer Cell Line Encyclopedia. Interestingly, the expression of these two transcripts showed a strong association with each other (Additional file 1: Fig.S5A). Still, their expression varied among the different cancer cells, including the 60 breast cancer cell lines in the database (Additional file 1: Fig. S5B). For instance, IFIT3 and IFI44 mRNA were highly expressed in the invasive human breast cancer cell line MDAMB231 [39, 40], while their expression was low in the non-invasive MDAMB453 (Additional file 1: Fig. S5B). These findings were confirmed by transcript and protein quantification of IFIT3 in cell extracts of MDAMB231 and MDAMB453 cells (Additional file 1: Fig. S5C-E). In line with the observations seen in mouse breast cancer cell lines, a higher number of micronuclei and cGAS-positive micronuclei were observed in the cytosol of the invasive MDAMB231 compared to non-invasive MDAMB453 human cancer cells (Fig. 3D-F). Together, our data suggest that the IFN-I response could be associated with constitutive activation of the DNA sensor cGAS by recognising nuclear DNA in the cytosol of metastatic and aggressive cancer cells.

Mitochondrial DNA in the cytosol triggers IFN-I response in metastatic cancer cells

The IFN-I response can be activated by cytosolic DNA from other sources, such as mitochondria. We therefore measured the levels of mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) from intact cells and the cytosolic fractions of 66cl4 and 67NR cells. The mtDNA was measured via qPCR using different mtDNA primers (COX1, Dloop1 and Dloop2). Total mtDNA levels were lower in the 66cl4 cells than 67NR (Fig. 4A and Additional file 1: Fig.S6A). However, in the cytosolic fraction, significantly higher levels of mtDNA were detected in 66cl4 cells (Fig. 4B and Additional file 1: Fig.S6B).

Mitochondrial stress can trigger the release of mtDNA into the cytosol. We, therefore, asked if mitochondria function differently between the metastatic and non-metastatic cells. We performed flow cytometry analysis of the mitochondria mass (mitotracker green; MTG), membrane potential (tetramethylrhodamine ethyl ester perchlorate; TMRE) and mitochondrial ROS production (MitoSox) using fluorescent probes. Despite the mitochondrial mass being similar between the cancer cells, the membrane potential was higher in 66cl4 compared with 67NR cells (Fig. 4C-D). Indeed, the TMRE/MTG ratio, was significantly higher in 66cl4 cells, indicating hyperpolarized mitochondria (Fig. 4E). To further understand if hyperpolarized mitochondria is associated with mtROS production in 66cl4 cells, we quantified mtROS levels. This showed a higher number of 66cl4 cells were positive for mtROS compared to 67NR cells at the basal state (Fig. 4F-H). Furthermore, when the cells were treated with an electron transport chain inhibitor (rotenone), 67NR cells showed a sixfold increase in mtROS levels, while 66cl4 cells showed less than a two-fold increase (Additional file 1: FigS6C). These results suggest that mitochondria in the metastatic 66cl4 cells work at maximum capacity.

Altogether, these data indicate that metastatic cells have poor mitochondrial quality leading to mitochondrial stress and mtDNA release in the cytosol.

The cGAS-STING pathway regulates IFN-I response in metastatic cancer cells

Our results show that the IFN-I response is constitutively active in the metastatic cancer cells in culture, while the IFN-I response is dampened when these metastatic cancer cells form a tumor. A better understanding of the mechanisms that activate this response is important to comprehend how this response could be reactivated in tumors as a therapeutic strategy. Cytosolic DNA is sensed by the cGAS-STING pathway, which is triggered in response to foreign or self-DNA and can activate the IFN response [41]. Transcriptome analysis [28] and qPCR validation showed that the metastatic 66cl4 cells had higher Sting mRNA than 67NR cells (Additional file 1: Fig.S7A). In line with this, STING protein level was also higher in 66cl4 (Additional file 1: Fig.S7B). Upon activation, STING recruits and phosphorylates TBK1 and IRF3 to induce the production of type I IFNs [42]. Chemical inhibition of cGAS or TBK1 led to significantly reduced production of the IRF3 target CXCL10 in 66cl4 cells (Fig. 5A-D), indicating that the cGAS-STING-TBK1 pathway is important for IFN-I expression in the metastatic mouse breast cancer cells. Also, in invasive human breast cancer cells MDAMB231, the protein level of STING and phosphorylated TBK1 was higher than in the noninvasive MDAMB453 cells (Additional file 1: Fig.S7C-D). Together, these results indicate that elevated IFN-I



Fig. 4 Mitochondrial DNA release into the cytosol in metastatic cell lines associates with mitochondrial stress. A Relative amount of total (A) and cytosolic (B) mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) in 67NR and 66cl4 cells, normalized to 18s. Bars represent mean \pm SEM (N = 3, each in triplicate, one sample t-test, ****p < 0.0001). C–D Representative histograms of MTG (C) and TMRE (D) in 67NR and 66cl4 cells. E TMRE/MTG ratio in 67NR and 66cl4 cells. Bars represented mean \pm SEM (N = 3, one sample t-test, *p < 0.05). F–G Representative histograms of MTG (C) and TMRE (D) in 67NR and 66cl4 cells. E TMRE/MTG ratio in 67NR and 66cl4 cells. Bars represented mean \pm SEM (N = 3, one sample t-test, *p < 0.05). F–G Representative histograms of MTG (C) and TMRE (D) in 67NR (F) and 66cl4 cells (G). Rotenone was used as a positive control. Black box represents the gating strategy to identify positive cells. H Bars represent mean \pm SEM of MitoSOX positive cells in 67NR and 66cl4 cells (N = 4, t-test, and ****p < 0.0001)

response in both mouse and human breast cancer cell cultures is associated with activation of the cGAS-STING pathway. The markedly dampened IFN-I in tumors formed from these invasive/metastatic cell lines suggest that the signaling in this pathway is disrupted in vivo to allow such cancer cells to form a metastatic tumor.

Lower IFN-I expression correlates with a poor prognosis in breast cancer patients

To examine if an active IFN-I response has a prognostic relevance in breast cancer patients, we performed a meta-analysis using the Kaplan–Meier plotter database [30] of gene expression in breast cancer biopsies.

We analysed whether the oppositely expressed transcripts encoding IFN-I-related genes correlated with prognosis monitored as relapse-free survival and overall survival. For this, we used data from aggressive triple negative breast cancer (TNBC) and HER2 enriched breast cancer patients, which were compared with the ER positive patient group [44–47]. TNBC and HER2 enriched subtypes are both characterized by the lack of estrogen and progesterone receptor expression, although only HER2 enriched subtype express human epidermal



Fig. 5 IFN-I expression in invasive cancer cells is dependent on cGAS-TBK1 signaling. A Representative CXCL10 and ERK1/2 immunoblot of protein extracts of 66cl4 cell line treated with and without cGAS inhibitor (RU521, 6 μ M, 24 h). B Quantification of A. Bars represented mean \pm SEM relative to ERK1/2 (N = 3, one sample t-test, **p < 0.01). C Representative CXCL10 immunoblot of protein extracts of 66cl4 cell lines treated with and without TBK1 inhibitors (BX795: 1 μ M, 5 μ M and MRT67307: 1 μ M, 5 μ M, 6 h). D Quantification of C. Bars represented mean \pm SEM relative to ERK1/2 (N = 3, ANOVA, Dunnett's multiple comparisons test, ****p < 0.001)



Fig. 6 Low IFN-I expression correlates with poor relapse-free survival in breast cancer patients. A-C Analysis of relationships between gene expression and relapse free survival (RFS) in breast cancer patients using the online tool KM plotter. High and low expression were defined as above and below median. Relationship between mean expression of IFN-I related genes (n = 11) in ER positive (**A**), TNBC (**B**) and HER2 enriched subtypes (**C**). HR, hazard ratio. **D** Dot plot showing a positive correlation between mRNA expression of *IF13* and *IF144* in METABRIC cohort (N=1904). **E** Dot plot showing a positive correlation mRNA expression of *IGCAS* and *CXCL10* in METABRIC cohort

growth factor 2 (HER2). In addition, TNBC and HER2 enriched are more aggressive subtypes compared to the ER positive [44, 48–51].

This analysis showed that lower expression of IFN-I related genes correlate with a reduced relapse-free survival in TNBC as well as HER2 positive patients but not in ER positive cancer patients (Fig. 6A-C). In addition, when we evaluated the overall survival, we found that lower levels of IFN-I related genes in tumor biopsies were unfavorable markers exclusively for TNBC patients (Additional file 1: Fig.S8A-C). We extended these results using the public dataset from the "Molecular taxonomy of breast cancer international consortium" (METABRIC) cohort [43], which facilitated analysis of mRNA expression data from 1904 patients. Here, we observed a strong correlation between several IFN-I genes. For instance, IFIT3 correlated with IFI44 (Fig. 6D), CXCL10, STAT1, IFIT1, IFI44L, ISG15, IRF9 and several cytotoxic T cell markers including CD8A, CD8B, CD28 (Additional file 2: Table S1). In addition, cGAS expression correlated significantly with the expression of several IFN-I induced genes (Fig. 6E and Additional file 3: Table S2). Together these results suggest that lower levels of IFN-I related genes in more aggressive cancer subtypes are associated with unfavourable prognosis.

Discussion

Although all cancer cells can form a tumor, metastatic cancer cells must endure unique adaptations that help them to undergo immune escape and spread to distant sites [52]. To identify these unique adaptations, we compared metastatic and non-metastatic breast cancer cells when grown in culture, and in the tumors these cells induce when injected in immune-competent mice. We found that the IFN-I response was oppositely regulated in metastatic and non-metastatic cells versus their corresponding tumors. While the IFN-I response was active in the metastatic cell lines when grown in culture, it was markedly dampened in the primary tumor. Interestingly, we also found that the IFN-I response was active in human breast cancer cells in culture, which is associated with an invasive phenotype. Further, the IFN-I response was not active in the non-metastatic cell lines, yet it was induced in the primary tumors. This adaptation may be fundamental to avoid the anti-tumor immune response and metastasis. It is well appreciated that dampened IFN-I signaling aids tumor progression [53]. IFN response can be activated in both cancer cells and immune cells inside the tumor; however, the function is different [54]. In cancer cells, the IFN-I response acts as an alarm system, alerting the immune system to kill the transformed cancer cells. In immune cells, IFN-I

response can act as an effector system that contributes to eliminating cancer cells via T cell priming and effector cytokine production [54, 55]. The selection of cancer cells in a growing tumor likely involves acquirement of mechanisms that downregulate anti-tumor immunity, including IFN signaling but how cancer cells turn off IFN-I response in the tumors remains incompletely understood. In any case, these findings further underscore potential therapeutic strategies involving reactivation of the IFN-I response to trigger anti-tumor immune reactions. The IFN-I response has long been a key contributor to effective antiviral responses. The induction of IFN-I signaling is essential for the immune system to eliminate cells infected with viruses and intracellular bacterial infections. During infection, the presence of foreign DNA in the cytosol leads to activation of cGAS and subsequent induction of the IFN-I response [53, 55, 56]. Here, we identified elevated levels of cytosolic DNA from micronuclei and mitochondria in metastatic cancer cells in sterile culture conditions. In murine metastatic and invasive human breast cancer cell lines, cytoplasmic DNA foci were often associated with cGAS. This suggests that micronuclei are ruptured and sensed by cGAS. Our data is supported by previous reports showing that disruption of the micronuclear envelope exposes self-DNA to the cytosol, followed by recruitment of cGAS and activation of cGAS-STING signaling [38, 57]. Our observation of mtDNA leakage is supported by our previous findings that show dysfunctional mitochondrial in metastatic cancer cells, characterized by high mtROS production, hyperpolarized mitochondria with higher proton leak, and lower respiratory capacity [58]. We therefore speculate that elevated levels of mitochondrial components and hyperpolarized mitochondria could be a compensatory mechanism to increase ATP production, but also result in mitochondrial damage and mtDNA release in the cytosol. Here we show that the IFN-I response is constitutively active in breast cancer cells with metastatic ability grown in culture, while an effective dampening of this response occurs when they grow as tumors. Likely, this downregulation is either due to stimulated removal of DNA from the cytosol or downregulation of the cGAS-STING signaling pathway in the cancer cells within the tumor. While IFN-I inducers are well-known, negative regulation of IFN-I signaling is poorly understood [59]. Nevertheless, it is well established that cytosolic DNA is degraded by autophagy [60-63]. Even if dampening of the IFN-I response involves elevated autophagy in the cancer cells of a tumor, it remains unknown which factors of the TME cause this effect. It is tempting to speculate that local nutrient restriction could stimulate autophagy in cancer cells of solid tumors. However, the ability to accurately quantify autophagic flux in biopsies is currently limited.

In human tumor biopsies, elevated IFN-I signaling correlates with induced T cell responses against tumor specific antigens [64, 65] and it may represent a mechanism that limits tumor development. In line with this, our METABRIC analysis of 1904 breast cancer patients showed that the expression of several interferoninduced genes correlates with several T cell markers.

Using KM plotter, we observed that reduced expression of the 11 oppositely expressed IFN-related genes predict poor prognosis in both TNBC and HER2 enriched aggressive breast cancer subtypes but not in ER positive subtypes. In the TME, IFN signaling is commonly induced by tumor-associated antigens or due to immunogenic cell death in response to chemotherapy and radiotherapy [66]. In TNBC and HER2-enriched breast cancers patients that undergo trastuzumab monotherapy or in combination with chemotherapy, high tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes were associated with a better prognosis in patients. In contrast, no association was observed in ER-positive patients [67-70]. This could be because CD8⁺ T cells can produce and respond to IFNs mediating antitumor responses [71]. While systemic IFN-I based therapies have been shown to increase the efficacy of the checkpoint inhibitors in TNBC, no predictive values were obtained in the ER-positive [68, 72] patients. This leads to an open question of whether inducing IFN-based immune therapy is beneficial to ER positive patients, which still needs to be addressed. Here, our results highlight the clinical significance of an elevated IFN-I response, supporting the therapeutic potential of increasing IFN-I response in patients where these responses are suppressed. One limitation of this type of data analysis, is the lack of evidence about which cells, immune or non-immune, contributes to the IFN-I response in the patient biopsies. Likely, reduction of IFN response could be either due to the downregulation of immune components that induce IFN-I signaling or due to the stimulated removal of the endogenous DAMPs in the cancer cells in the tumor as mentioned earlier in the discussion [73-75].

Currently, more than 370 (recruiting or active) clinical trials aiming to target IFN-I signaling in cancer patients are ongoing (www.clinicaltrials.gov). However, IFN-associated toxicity has been a significant obstacle for this strategy to be translated to the clinic. Recently, other approaches to activate IFN-I response have been explored including cGAMP-based nanoparticles. cGAMP, is a second messenger that is synthesized in response to cytosolic double stranded-DNA. These nanoparticles enhance the cytosolic delivery of cGAMP and trigger formation of an immune competant TME with enriched T cell infiltration [76]. Alternatively, tumors that are non-responsive to immune checkpoint inhibitors could be transformed into the immune competent tumors by using STING agonist-mediated T-cell priming and infiltration [12, 77-81]. Since STING agonists can redesign the TME to promote stronger antitumor T cell responses [22, 78], they are good candidates for combination with established immunotherapies. However, despite several completed and ongoing Phase II studies detecting signs of clinical activity for STING agonists, no Phase III studies have been registered yet. Even with the best-characterized STING agonist DMXAA, most of the trials with mono and combination therapy have failed due to low efficacy and toxicity issues [77]. These findings highlight the importance of identifying better therapeutic combinations and improving understanding of the underlaying mechanisms controlling this signaling in a complex tumor.

Conclusion

In this study, we utilized an immunocompetent mouse model of breast cancer to demonstrate that IFN-I signaling represents an important mechanism supporting tumor progression. Further research is needed to uncover the full repertoire of mechanisms that control this immunological switch and find novel strategies to efficiently target aggressive tumors, reduce the risk of metastasis and improve the survival of breast cancer patients.

٨	h	hr	~	i - +	in	nc	
۰.	v	יוט		au	IU	115	

Cell	Cellular
Met	Metabolic
Resp	Response
ncRNA	Noncoding RNA
med	Mediated
sig	Signalling
prod	Production
resp	Response
ext	External
Adapt	Adaptive
imm	Immune
som	Somatic
recomb	Recombination
rec	Receptors
Superfam	Superfamily
Ant	Antigen
proc	Process/processing
pres	Presentation
рер	Peptide
Rib Prot	Ribonucleoprotein
Spli	Splicing
Transesterif	Transesterification
React	Reaction
Ade	Adenosine
Sub	Subunit
Org	Organization
Nucelocytopl	Nucleocytoplasmic
End	Endogenous pathway
Mol	Molecule
Reac	Reactive

Spe	Species
Leuk	Leukocyte
Mig	Migration
inf	Inflammatory
cat	Catabolic
cGAS	Cyclic GMP-AMP synthase
cGAMP	Cyclic guanosine monophosphate–adenosine
	monophosphate
STING	Stimulator of interferon genes
CD45	Cluster of differentiation 45
IFIT3	Interferon-induced protein with tetratricopeptide
	repeats 3
IFIT1	Interferon-induced protein with tetratricopeptide
	repeats 1
ISG15	Interferon-stimulated gene 15
IRF3	Interferon regulatory factor 3
IRF7	Interferon regulatory factor 7
XAF1	XIAP-associated factor 1
IGTP	Interferon gamma induced GTPase
STAT1	Signal transducer and activator of transcription 1
OAS3	2'-5'-Oligoadenylate synthetase 3
GBP2	Guanylate binding protein 2
CXCL10	C-X-C motif chemokine ligand 10
Trim30d	Tripartite motif-containing 30D
IFF7	Interferon regulatory factor 7
H2-T22	Histocompatibility 2, T region locus 22
GBP3	Guanylate binding protein 3
CCL5	C–C motif chemokine ligand 5
H2-Q4	Histocompatibility 2, Q region locus 4
IFI44	Interferon induced protein 44
COX1	Cytochrome c oxidase subunit 1
COX2	Cytochrome c oxidase subunit II
Dloop1	Displacement loop1
Dloop2	Displacement loop1
TBK1	TANK binding kinase 1

Supplementary Information

The online version contains supplementary material available at https://doi.org/10.1186/s12964-023-01062-y.

Additional file 1. Supplementary figures S1 to S8 and supplementary methods.

Additional file 2. Correlation between IFN-I induced genes expression.

Additional file 3. Correlation between cGAS and IFN-I induced genes expression.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Ulrike Neckmann and Camilla Wolowczyk for providing access/inputs for the transcriptome data. Professor Kaisa Lehti and Dr. Andrew Single for reading and providing valuable insights for the manuscript, Proteomics and Modomics Experimental Core Facility (PROMEC), NTNU for proteomics, Membrane dynamics in tumorigenesis group (OUH) for access to imaging facilities.

Author contributions

AL, SBA, MV, U, ABA and FR performed experiments and analyzed data. NJK analyzed part of the proteomics data. MSG and GB designed and supervised the study. AL, SBA, MV, U, KP, MSG and GB interpreted data. AL, SBA, KP prepared the first draft. AL, MSG, and GB prepared the final manuscript. MV provided valuable insights for the final manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

Open access funding provided by Norwegian University of Science and Technology. This work was supported by grants from the Norwegian Cancer Society (project number #6846671 and #419654), Research Council of Norway (Centres of Excellence funding program, # 223255/F50), Central Norway Regional Health Authority (project number #90181900), PhD-grant to AL from NTNU, Faculty of Natural Sciences. Additional funding from Southern and Eastern Norwegian Health Authority (#2018043, MV), Tromsø Research Foundation and Trond Mohn Foundation (180°N project, MSG).

Availability of data and materials

The mass spectrometry proteomics data have been deposited to the ProteomeXchange Consortium via the PRIDE [24] partner repository with the dataset identifier PXD037288. All other data and materials mentioned in this article can be requested by email.

Declarations

Competing interest

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Ethics approval and consent to participate

The mice studies were approved by the National Animal Research Authorities and carried out according to the European Convention for the Protection of Vertebrates used for Scientific Purposes (FOTS ID 17895 and FOTS: 26021). All experiments were performed according to approved guidelines and regulations.

Consent for publication Not applicable.

Author details

¹Department of Biomedical Laboratory Science, Faculty of Natural Sciences, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway. ²Centre of Molecular Inflammation Research and Department of Cancer Research and Molecular Medicine, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway. ³Centre for Cancer Cell Reprogramming, Institute of Clinical Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo, Montebello, Oslo, Norway. ⁴Department of Molecular Cell Biology, Institute for Cancer Research, Oslo University Hospital, Montebello, Oslo, Norway. ⁵Institute for Cancer Research, Department of Tumor Biology, Oslo University Hospital, Montebello, Oslo, Norway. ⁶Department of Circulation and Medical Imaging, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway. ⁷Department of Clinical Medicine, Faculty of Health Science, UiT-The Arctic University of Norway, Tromsø, Norway.

Received: 27 October 2022 Accepted: 30 January 2023 Published online: 07 March 2023

References

- Pernot S, Evrard S, Khatib AM. The give-and-take interaction between the tumor microenvironment and immune cells regulating tumor progression and repression. Front Immunol. 2022;13: 850856.
- Lan HR, Du WL, Liu Y, Mao CS, Jin KT, Yang X. Role of immune regulatory cells in breast cancer: foe or friend? Int Immunopharmacol. 2021;96: 107627.
- Mao X, Xu J, Wang W, Liang C, Hua J, Liu J, et al. Crosstalk between cancerassociated fibroblasts and immune cells in the tumor microenvironment: new findings and future perspectives. Mol Cancer. 2021;20(1):131.
- Janssen LME, Ramsay EE, Logsdon CD, Overwijk WW. The immune system in cancer metastasis: friend or foe? J Immunother Cancer. 2017;5(1):79.
- Jin MZ, Jin WL. The updated landscape of tumor microenvironment and drug repurposing. Signal Transduct Target Ther. 2020;5(1):166.
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell. 2011;144(5):646–74.
- Kartikasari AER, Huertas CS, Mitchell A, Plebanski M. Tumor-induced inflammatory cytokines and the emerging diagnostic devices for cancer detection and prognosis. Front Oncol. 2021;11: 692142.
- Lan T, Chen L, Wei X. Inflammatory cytokines in cancer: comprehensive understanding and clinical progress in gene therapy. Cells. 2021;10(1):100.
- 9. Liu YT, Sun ZJ. Turning cold tumors into hot tumors by improving T-cell infiltration. Theranostics. 2021;11(11):5365–86.

- Katlinski KV, Gui J, Katlinskaya YV, Ortiz A, Chakraborty R, Bhattacharya S, et al. Inactivation of interferon receptor promotes the establishment of immune privileged tumor microenvironment. Cancer Cell. 2017;31(2):194–207.
- Hegde PS, Karanikas V, Evers S. The where, the when, and the how of immune monitoring for cancer immunotherapies in the era of checkpoint inhibition. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22(8):1865–74.
- Zhang J, Huang D, Saw PE, Song E. Turning cold tumors hot: from molecular mechanisms to clinical applications. Trends Immunol. 2022;43(7):523–45.
- Bonaventura P, Shekarian T, Alcazer V, Valladeau-Guilemond J, Valsesia-Wittmann S, Amigorena S, et al. Cold tumors: a therapeutic challenge for immunotherapy. Front Immunol. 2019;10:168.
- Galon J, Bruni D. Approaches to treat immune hot, altered and cold tumors with combination immunotherapies. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2019;18(3):197–218.
- 15. Yu R, Zhu B, Chen D. Type I interferon-mediated tumor immunity and its role in immunotherapy. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2022;79(3):191.
- Fenton SE, Saleiro D, Platanias LC. Type I and II interferons in the antitumor immune response. Cancers. 2021;13(5):1037.
- Boukhaled GM, Harding S, Brooks DG. Opposing roles of type I interferons in cancer immunity. Annu Rev Pathol. 2021;16:167–98.
- Lu C, Klement JD, Ibrahim ML, Xiao W, Redd PS, Nayak-Kapoor A, et al. Type I interferon suppresses tumor growth through activating the STAT3granzyme B pathway in tumor-infiltrating cytotoxic T lymphocytes. J Immunother Cancer. 2019;7(1):157.
- Bidwell BN, Slaney CY, Withana NP, Forster S, Cao Y, Loi S, et al. Silencing of Irf7 pathways in breast cancer cells promotes bone metastasis through immune escape. Nat Med. 2012;18(8):1224–31.
- Amouzegar A, Chelvanambi M, Filderman JN, Storkus WJ, Luke JJ. STING agonists as cancer therapeutics. Cancers. 2021;13(11):2695.
- Ohkuri T, Ghosh A, Kosaka A, Zhu J, Ikeura M, David M, et al. STING contributes to antiglioma immunity via triggering type I IFN signals in the tumor microenvironment. Cancer Immunol Res. 2014;2(12):1199–208.
- Corrales L, Glickman LH, McWhirter SM, Kanne DB, Sivick KE, Katibah GE, et al. Direct activation of STING in the tumor microenvironment leads to potent and systemic tumor regression and immunity. Cell Rep. 2015;11(7):1018–30.
- Chandra D, Quispe-Tintaya W, Jahangir A, Asafu-Adjei D, Ramos I, Sintim HO, et al. STING ligand c-di-GMP improves cancer vaccination against metastatic breast cancer. Cancer Immunol Res. 2014;2(9):901–10.
- Weiss JM, Guerin MV, Regnier F, Renault G, Galy-Fauroux I, Vimeux L, et al. The STING agonist DMXAA triggers a cooperation between T lymphocytes and myeloid cells that leads to tumor regression. Oncoimmunology. 2017;6(10): e1346765.
- Yin M, Hu J, Yuan Z, Luo G, Yao J, Wang R, et al. STING agonist enhances the efficacy of programmed death-ligand 1 monoclonal antibody in breast cancer immunotherapy by activating the interferon-beta signalling pathway. Cell Cycle. 2022;21(8):767–79.
- Whiteside TL. The tumor microenvironment and its role in promoting tumor growth. Oncogene. 2008;27(45):5904–12.
- Miller FR, Miller BE, Heppner GH. Characterization of metastatic heterogeneity among subpopulations of a single mouse mammary tumor: heterogeneity in phenotypic stability. Invasion Metastasis. 1983;3(1):22–31.
- Neckmann U, Wolowczyk C, Hall M, Almaas E, Ren J, Zhao S, et al. GREM1 is associated with metastasis and predicts poor prognosis in ER-negative breast cancer patients. Cell Commun Signal. 2019;17(1):140.
- Perez-Riverol Y, Bai J, Bandla C, Garcia-Seisdedos D, Hewapathirana S, Kamatchinathan S, et al. The PRIDE database resources in 2022: a hub for mass spectrometry-based proteomics evidences. Nucleic Acids Res. 2022;50(D1):D543-52.
- kmplot.com (2019) [Available from: https://kmplot.com/analysis/index. php?p=service&cancer=breast.
- Ghandi M, Huang FW, Jane-Valbuena J, Kryukov GV, Lo CC, McDonald ER 3rd, et al. Next-generation characterization of the cancer cell line encyclopedia. Nature. 2019;569(7757):503–8.
- cBioPortal. cBioPortal.org (2019) [Available from: http://www.cbioportal. org.
- Owen KL, Gearing LJ, Zanker DJ, Brockwell NK, Khoo WH, Roden DL, et al. Prostate cancer cell-intrinsic interferon signaling regulates dormancy and metastatic outgrowth in bone. EMBO Rep. 2020;21(6): e50162.

- Padovan E, Spagnoli GC, Ferrantini M, Heberer M. IFN-alpha2a induces IP-10/CXCL10 and MIG/CXCL9 production in monocyte-derived dendritic cells and enhances their capacity to attract and stimulate CD8+ effector T cells. J Leukoc Biol. 2002;71(4):669–76.
- Metzemaekers M, Vanheule V, Janssens R, Struyf S, Proost P. Overview of the mechanisms that may contribute to the non-redundant activities of interferon-inducible CXC chemokine receptor 3 ligands. Front Immunol. 2017;8:1970.
- Harapas CR, Idiiatullina E, Al-Azab M, Hrovat-Schaale K, Reygaerts T, Steiner A, et al. Organellar homeostasis and innate immune sensing. Nat Rev Immunol. 2022;22(9):535–49.
- Harding SM, Benci JL, Irianto J, Discher DE, Minn AJ, Greenberg RA. Mitotic progression following DNA damage enables pattern recognition within micronuclei. Nature. 2017;548(7668):466–70.
- Mackenzie KJ, Carroll P, Martin CA, Murina O, Fluteau A, Simpson DJ, et al. cGAS surveillance of micronuclei links genome instability to innate immunity. Nature. 2017;548(7668):461–5.
- von Nandelstadh P, Gucciardo E, Lohi J, Li R, Sugiyama N, Carpen O, et al. Actin-associated protein palladin promotes tumor cell invasion by linking extracellular matrix degradation to cell cytoskeleton. Mol Biol Cell. 2014;25(17):2556–70.
- Sugiyama N, Gucciardo E, Tatti O, Varjosalo M, Hyytiainen M, Gstaiger M, et al. EphA2 cleavage by MT1-MMP triggers single cancer cell invasion via homotypic cell repulsion. J Cell Biol. 2013;201(3):467–84.
- Jiang M, Chen P, Wang L, Li W, Chen B, Liu Y, et al. cGAS-STING, an important pathway in cancer immunotherapy. J Hematol Oncol. 2020;13(1):81.
- Zhang C, Shang G, Gui X, Zhang X, Bai XC, Chen ZJ. Structural basis of STING binding with and phosphorylation by TBK1. Nature. 2019;567(7748):394–8.
- Curtis C, Shah SP, Chin SF, Turashvili G, Rueda OM, Dunning MJ, et al. The genomic and transcriptomic architecture of 2,000 breast tumours reveals novel subgroups. Nature. 2012;486(7403):346–52.
- 44. Won KA, Spruck C. Triple-negative breast cancer therapy: current and future perspectives (Review). Int J Oncol. 2020;57(6):1245–61.
- Wang J, Xu B. Targeted therapeutic options and future perspectives for HER2-positive breast cancer. Signal Transduct Target Ther. 2019;4:34.
- Haffty BG, Yang Q, Reiss M, Kearney T, Higgins SA, Weidhaas J, et al. Locoregional relapse and distant metastasis in conservatively managed triple negative early-stage breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24(36):5652–7.
- Deepak KGK, Vempati R, Nagaraju GP, Dasari VR, Nagini S, Rao DN, et al. Tumor microenvironment: challenges and opportunities in targeting metastasis of triple negative breast cancer. Pharmacol Res. 2020;153:104683.
- Yarden Y. Biology of HER2 and its importance in breast cancer. Oncology. 2001;61(Suppl 2):1–13.
- Vaught DB, Stanford JC, Young C, Hicks DJ, Wheeler F, Rinehart C, et al. HER3 is required for HER2-induced preneoplastic changes to the breast epithelium and tumor formation. Cancer Res. 2012;72(10):2672–82.
- Turke AB, Song Y, Costa C, Cook R, Arteaga CL, Asara JM, et al. MEK inhibition leads to PI3K/AKT activation by relieving a negative feedback on ERBB receptors. Cancer Res. 2012;72(13):3228–37.
- Li X, Yang C, Wan H, Zhang G, Feng J, Zhang L, et al. Discovery and development of pyrotinib: a novel irreversible EGFR/HER2 dual tyrosine kinase inhibitor with favorable safety profiles for the treatment of breast cancer. Eur J Pharm Sci. 2017;110:51–61.
- Labani-Motlagh A, Ashja-Mahdavi M, Loskog A. The tumor microenvironment: a milieu hindering and obstructing antitumor immune responses. Front Immunol. 2020;11:940.
- Kawasaki T, Kawai T. Discrimination Between self and non-self-nucleic acids by the innate immune system. Int Rev Cell Mol Biol. 2019;344:1–30.
- Musella M, Galassi C, Manduca N, Sistigu A. The yin and yang of type I IFNs in cancer promotion and immune activation. Biology. 2021;10(9):856.
- Hopfner KP, Hornung V. Molecular mechanisms and cellular functions of cGAS-STING signalling. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2020;21(9):501–21.
- Zhao J, Xiao R, Zeng R, He E, Zhang A. Small molecules targeting cGAS-STING pathway for autoimmune disease. Eur J Med Chem. 2022;238: 114480.
- Zhang CZ, Spektor A, Cornils H, Francis JM, Jackson EK, Liu S, et al. Chromothripsis from DNA damage in micronuclei. Nature. 2015;522(7555):179–84.

- Wolowczyk C, Neckmann U, Aure MR, Hall M, Johannessen B, Zhao S, et al. NRF2 drives an oxidative stress response predictive of breast cancer. Free Radic Biol Med. 2022;184:170–84.
- Prabakaran T, Bodda C, Krapp C, Zhang BC, Christensen MH, Sun C, et al. Attenuation of cGAS-STING signaling is mediated by a p62/ SQSTM1-dependent autophagy pathway activated by TBK1. EMBO J. 2018;37(8):e97858.
- Rello-Varona S, Lissa D, Shen S, Niso-Santano M, Senovilla L, Marino G, et al. Autophagic removal of micronuclei. Cell Cycle. 2012;11(1):170–6.
- Yao M, Wu Y, Cao Y, Liu H, Ma N, Chai Y, et al. Autophagy-mediated clearance of free genomic DNA in the cytoplasm protects the growth and survival of cancer cells. Front Oncol. 2021;11: 667920.
- 62. Maluquer de Motes C. Autophagy takes the STING out of DNA sensing. Cell Mol Immunol. 2022;19(1):125–6.
- Han X, Chen H, Gong H, Tang X, Huang N, Xu W, et al. Autolysosomal degradation of cytosolic chromatin fragments antagonizes oxidative stress-induced senescence. J Biol Chem. 2020;295(14):4451–63.
- Fuertes MB, Kacha AK, Kline J, Woo SR, Kranz DM, Murphy KM, et al. Host type I IFN signals are required for antitumor CD8+ T cell responses through CD8alpha+ dendritic cells. J Exp Med. 2011;208(10):2005–16.
- Bertucci F, Ueno NT, Finetti P, Vermeulen P, Lucci A, Robertson FM, et al. Gene expression profiles of inflammatory breast cancer: correlation with response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy and metastasis-free survival. Ann Oncol. 2014;25(2):358–65.
- Krysko DV, Garg AD, Kaczmarek A, Krysko O, Agostinis P, Vandenabeele P. Immunogenic cell death and DAMPs in cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12(12):860–75.
- Salgado R, Denkert C, Demaria S, Sirtaine N, Klauschen F, Pruneri G, et al. The evaluation of tumor-infltrating lymphocytes (TILs) in breast cancer: recommendations by an International TILs Working Group 2014. Ann Oncol. 2015;26(2):259–71.
- Loi S, Michiels S, Salgado R, Sirtaine N, Jose V, Fumagalli D, et al. Tumor infiltrating lymphocytes are prognostic in triple negative breast cancer and predictive for trastuzumab benefit in early breast cancer: results from the FinHER trial. Ann Oncol. 2014;25(8):1544–50.
- Fu X, De Angelis C, Schiff R. Interferon signaling in estrogen receptor-positive breast cancer: a revitalized topic. Endocrinology. 2022;163(1):bqab235.
- 70. Dieci MV, Radosevic-Robin N, Fineberg S, van den Eynden G, Ternes N, Penault-Llorca F, et al. Update on tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) in breast cancer, including recommendations to assess TILs in residual disease after neoadjuvant therapy and in carcinoma in situ: a report of the International immuno-oncology biomarker working group on breast cancer. Semin Cancer Biol. 2018;52(Pt 2):16–25.
- Slaney CY, Kershaw MH, Darcy PK. Trafficking of T cells into tumors. Cancer Res. 2014;74(24):7168–74.
- Brockwell NK, Owen KL, Zanker D, Spurling A, Rautela J, Duivenvoorden HM, et al. Neoadjuvant interferons: critical for effective PD-1-based immunotherapy in TNBC. Cancer Immunol Res. 2017;5(10):871–84.
- Rock KL, Lai JJ, Kono H. Innate and adaptive immune responses to cell death. Immunol Rev. 2011;243(1):191–205.
- Green DR, Ferguson T, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Immunogenic and tolerogenic cell death. Nat Rev Immunol. 2009;9(5):353–63.
- Arimoto KI, Miyauchi S, Stoner SA, Fan JB, Zhang DE. Negative regulation of type I IFN signaling. J Leukoc Biol. 2018. https://doi.org/10.1002/JLB. 2MIR0817-342R.
- Shae D, Becker KW, Christov P, Yun DS, Lytton-Jean AKR, Sevimli S, et al. Endosomolytic polymersomes increase the activity of cyclic dinucleotide STING agonists to enhance cancer immunotherapy. Nat Nanotechnol. 2019;14(3):269–78.
- Le Naour J, Zitvogel L, Galluzzi L, Vacchelli E, Kroemer G. Trial watch: STING agonists in cancer therapy. Oncoimmunology. 2020;9(1):1777624.
- Flood BA, Higgs EF, Li S, Luke JJ, Gajewski TF. STING pathway agonism as a cancer therapeutic. Immunol Rev. 2019;290(1):24–38.
- Sceneay J, Goreczny GJ, Wilson K, Morrow S, DeCristo MJ, Ubellacker JM, et al. Interferon signaling is diminished with age and is associated with immune checkpoint blockade efficacy in triple-negative breast cancer. Cancer Discov. 2019;9(9):1208–27.
- Zheng J, Mo J, Zhu T, Zhuo W, Yi Y, Hu S, et al. Comprehensive elaboration of the cGAS-STING signaling axis in cancer development and immunotherapy. Mol Cancer. 2020;19(1):133.

 Sistigu A, Yamazaki T, Vacchelli E, Chaba K, Enot DP, Adam J, et al. Cancer cell-autonomous contribution of type l interferon signaling to the efficacy of chemotherapy. Nat Med. 2014;20(11):1301–9.

Publisher's Note

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Ready to submit your research? Choose BMC and benefit from:

- fast, convenient online submission
- thorough peer review by experienced researchers in your field
- rapid publication on acceptance
- support for research data, including large and complex data types
- gold Open Access which fosters wider collaboration and increased citations
- maximum visibility for your research: over 100M website views per year

At BMC, research is always in progress.

Learn more biomedcentral.com/submissions



Additional file



Fig. S1: Gene ontology analysis of RNA seq. data from metastatic and non-metastatic cell lines and primary tumors reveals dysregulation of multiple biological processes

A) Gene ontology (GO) analysis for biological processes (BP) of genes with increased expression in 66cl4 tumors versus 66cl4 cell line. **B)** Volcano plots depicting differentially expressed genes from 66cl4 tumors vs 66cl4 cells. Red points represent genes with Log2foldchange(log2FC) within the cut off (\pm 1.5) and adjusted *p*-value <0.05. **C)** GO (BP) functional enrichment analyses of genes highly expressed in 67NR tumor relative to 67NR cells. **D)** Gene ontology analysis for biological processes of genes with low expression in 67NR tumor vs 67NR cells.



Fig. S2: Strategy for comparison of gene expression in metastatic cell and non-metastatic cells in culture and in primary tumors

Venn diagram showing differentially expressed genes. Gene expression in the 66cl4 vs 67NR cells in culture and 66cl4 tumors vs 67NR tumors were compared. With a cutoff of log2FC ± 1.5 and *p*.adj: <0.05; 411 genes had higher expression and 390 had lower expression in 66cl4 compared to 67NR cells grown in culture. With similar cutoff in the primary tumors formed by 66cl4 and 67NR cells, 340 genes were low expressed, and 417 genes were highly expressed in 66cl4 tumors. Among the 390 low expressed genes in 66cl4 cells, 2 genes were highly expressed in the 66cl4 tumor. Among 411 genes that were highly expressed in 66cl4 cells, 11 were low expressed in the 66cl4 tumors compared to 67NR tumors. These 11 genes were highly expressed in 66cl4 cells, vs. 67NR cells) while in the 66cl4 tumors they were low expressed (vs 67NR tumors); **"oppositely expressed"**.



Fig. S3: IFN-I-related gene expression is suppressed in metastatic tumors.

A) Significantly upregulated IFN-I genes in 66cl4 cells vs. 67NR cells (N=3) and downregulated genes in 66cl4 (CD45-) vs 67NR (CD45-) population (N=5) sorted from the primary tumors of 66cl4 and 67NR. **B**) Significantly downregulated genes in 66cl4 (CD45+) vs 67NR (CD45+) population (N=5) sorted from the primary tumors of 66cl4 and 67NR. Bars represent means \pm SEM and each data point represents a single animal; (*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001 and ****p < 0.0001). Average expression levels of the selected genes as transcripts per million (TPMs). Bars represent means \pm SEM and each data point represents a single animal. Statistical significance was determined using Mann Whitney t-test, *p < 0.05; ** p < 0.005; *** p < 0.005 vs 67NR tumor.



Fig. S4: IFN-I proteins are constitutively expressed in metastatic cancer cells in culture but dampened when they form primary tumors

A) Principal Component Analysis of the proteins from 67NR (N=5) and 66cl4 (N=6) primary tumor lysates. B) Volcano plots depicting differentially expressed proteins in 66cl4 tumor (N=6) vs 67NR tumor (N=5). C) *Cxcl10* mRNA levels in 67NR and 66cl4 cell lines in culture (N=3). *Actb* was used as a housekeeping gene and the data was normalized to 67NR. Bars represent means \pm SEM (**p < 0.01, One sample t-test, N=3). D) Total protein stain of western blot membrane shown in Fig.2E. E) Total protein stain of western blot membrane shown in Fig.2E. E) Total protein stain of 66cl4 cell lines (N=4). G) CCL5 and IRF7 immunoblot of protein extracts from 67NR and 66cl4 tumors (N=5). H-I) Total protein stain of western blot membrane shown in F and G respectively.



Fig. S5: IFN-I expression correlates with the invasive phenotype in human breast cancer cell lines

A) *IFIT3* and *IFI44* mRNA expression in all cancer cell lines using the Expression 22Q2 Public database in Cancer Cell Line Encyclopedia, CCLE. Each dot represents a cell line and color code is based in their lineage. B) *IFIT3* and *IFI44* mRNA expression in breast cancer cell lines. C) *IFIT3* mRNA expression levels in MDAMB453 and MDAMB231 cell lines (N=2). *RNA18SN5* was used as a housekeeping gene, and the data are presented relative to the MDAMB453 cells. D) Representative IFIT3 immunoblot of protein extracts of the MDAMB453 and MDAMB231 cell lines (N=3-4). Total protein staining was used as loading control, and the square indicates the quantified area. E) Quantification of IFIT3 protein level. Bars represent mean \pm SEM relative to MDAMB453 (N=4, ****p<0.0001, One sample t-test).



Fig. S6: Metastatic cancer cells release mtDNA into the cytosol

Relative amount of total (A) and cytosolic (B) mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) in 67NR and 66cl4 cells, normalized to Tert. Bars represent mean \pm SEM (N=3, each in triplicate, t-test, **p < 0.0001, ****p < 0.0001). C) MitoSOX positive cells (%) in 67NR and 66cl4 cell in presence or absence of rotenone. Bars represent mean \pm SEM (N=4, one sample t-test, **p < 0.01, *p < 0.05).



Fig. S7 High levels of STING and pTBK1 are associated with metastatic ability in breast cancer cell lines.

A) *Sting* mRNA expression in 67NR and 66cl4 cell lines (N=3). *Actb* was used for normalization and fold change was calculated relative to 67NR. Bars represent mean \pm SEM (N=3, one sample t-test, **p < 0.01). B) STING immunoblot from 67NR and 66cl4 cell lines lysate. Total protein staining was used as loading control. C) STING protein levels in MDAMB453 and MDAMB231 cell lines. Bars represented mean \pm SEM relative to total protein staining (N≥3, one sample t-test, *p < 0.05). D) Representative STING and pTBK1(Ser172) immunoblot (N=5) from MDAMB453 and MDAMB231 cell lines. Total protein staining was used as loading control.



Fig S8: Low IFN-I expression correlates with poor overall survival in breast cancer patients.

A-C) Analysis of relationships between gene expression and overall survival (OS) in breast cancer patients using the online tool KM plotter. High and low expression were defined as above and below median. Relationship between mean expression of IFN-I related genes (n=11) in ER positive (**A**), TNBC (**B**) and HER2 enriched (**C**) subtypes. HR, hazard ratio.

Supplementary Methods

Cell lines and Cell culture

67NR and 66cl4 cells from the 4T1 model were obtained from Barbara Ann Karmanos Cancer Institute, Detroit, MI, USA. In addition to the 4T1 model, two different human breast cancer cell lines that are characterized as non-invasive (MDAMB453) and invasive (MDAMB231) were also used. The MDAMB cell lines both originate from metastases, yet the MDAMB453 is classified as non-invasive based on their Matrix Metallopeptidase 14 (MMP14) expression (1, 2) and is considered as tumorigenic only in semi-solid medium (ATCC). MDAMB453 and MDAMB231 were kindly provided by Dr. Kaisa Lehti. All cell lines were cultured in DMEM (Lonza, BioWhittaker, #BE12- 604F) supplemented with 10% fetal calf serum (Thermo Fischer Scientific,Gibco #10272-106), 2 mM L-Glutamine (Lonza Group, Cat #De-17-605E), and 50 U/ml 50 U/ mL penicillin-streptomycin (Thermo Fischer Scientific, Gibco, #15070-063). Cells were incubated at 37°C with 5% CO2.

Transcriptome analysis

As described previously, RNA was isolated from three passages of 67NR and 66cl4 in culture, four and seven primary tumors of 67NR and 66cl4, respectively. Detailed information about sample preparation and data analysis can be found in (3). The transcriptome data obtained by sequencing mRNA isolated from cells and primary breast tumors of 67NR and 66cl4 is accessible from NCBI (SUB6422687). The data from(3) was reanalyzed into further detail using RStudio version 4.1.2. Genes that had a total count less than 5 were filtered out using filterfun function in RStudio. Differential expression was then determined with DESeq2 using default settings(4). The presence of differentially expressed genes (DEGs) was determined by comparisons of groups: 66cl4 tumors vs 66cl4 cells ,67NR tumors vs 67NR cells, 66cl4 cells vs 67NR cells and 66cl4 tumor vs 67NR tumor using a significance threshold of p.adj < 0.05. The cut off Log2FoldChange of either (±1.5), or (± 1) and p.adj < 0.05 was used to define low expressed and high expressed genes. Volcano plots were drawn using the EnhancedVolcano R package (v 1.0.1). Heatmaps of expression data were plotted after log10 transformation and after z scoring the expression values using pheatmap package (v1.0.12). The hclust function in pheatmap package was used to performed hierarchical clustering. To evaluate common biological functions of results of DEGs, functional enrichment analyses of all significantly highly expressed genes and all significantly low expressed genes were performed to identify the biological processes involved. The bioconductor package clusterProfiler (5) was used to conduct gene ontology (GO) functional enrichment analyses for biological process (BP), for DEGs from different groups applicable. The plot was visualized using the ggplot2 package (v3.2.1). Analyses for DEGs were performed separately for highly expressed and low expressed genes. For CD45 positive and CD45 negative RNA sequencing, unpublished data was used: GEO NCBI. accession code: GSE211223 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo/info/linking.html).

Mice Experiments

The mice were injected with 1 x 10⁶ viable 66cl4 and 67NR cancer cells into the mammary fat pad. Mice injected with 67NR cells were sacrificed after 3 weeks, while mice injected with 66cl4 were sacrificed after 4 weeks. Tumors were resected and snap frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C. All experiments involving mice were conducted in accordance with the European Convention for the Protection of Vertebrates used for Scientific Purposes. The mice were housed at the Comparative Medicine Core Facility at NTNU, and the animal studies were approved by the Norwegian Food Safety Authorities (FOTS: 17895 and FOTS: 26021)

Sample preparation and MS analyses

Small pieces of 67NR and 66cl4 tumors were thawed briefly in lysis buffer and homogenized using 1.4 mm ceramic beads (Precellys, 03961-1-103) in reinforced tubes (KT03961-1-403.2) for 4 cycles á 40 sec homogenization, 2 min break. Lysis buffer: 8 M urea (Merck Millipore, #1084870500) with 4 % CHAPS, 100 mM DTT, (Sigma, #646563), 1x Complete® protease inhibitor (Roche, #1187350001) and 2x phosphatase inhibitor cocktail II (Sigma, #P5726) and III (Sigma, #P0044). Homogenized tissue samples were shaken before centrifugation (15 000 g, 20 min, 4°C). Protein concentration was measured at 595 nm using BioRad protein assay dye reagent (Bio-Rad, #500-0006).15µg of each were added to 130µl 100mM ammonium bicarbonate. Proteins were reduced and alkylated with DTT (12mM) for 30min at 55°C. Samples were further alkylated with iodoacetamide (36mM) for 30min at room temperature and dark. Proteins were digested with 250ng trypsin at 37°C overnight and further acidified in acetic acid (0.5%) and desalted using Oasis HLB C¹⁸ solid phase extraction according to manufacturer's instructions. After elution of peptides from C¹⁸, the samples were dried in speedvac and further dissolved in 18 µl 0.1% formic acid and LC-MS/MS were performed on a timsTOF Pro (Bruker Daltonics) connected to a nanoElute (Bruker Daltonics) HPLC. Peptides were separated using a Bruker15 (75µm*15cm) column with running buffers A (0.1% formic acid) and B (0.1% formic acid in acetonitrile) with a gradient from 0% B to 37%B for 100min. The timsTof instrument was operated in the DDA PASEF mode with 10 PASEF scans per acquisition cycle and accumulation and ramp times of 100 millisecond each. The 'target value' was set to 20,000 and dynamic exclusion was activated and set to 0.4 min. The quadrupole isolation width was set to 2 Th for m/z < 700 and 3 Th for m/z > 800.

Proteomics data analysis and bioinformatics analysis

Proteins were quantified by processing MS data using MaxQuant v.2.0.3.0 (6). The open workflow provided in FragPipe (7) was used to inspect the raw files to determine optimal search criteria and accordingly search parameters were set as follows: enzyme specified as trypsin with maximum two missed cleavages allowed; deamidation of asparagine/glutamine, oxidation of methionine, and protein N-terminal acetylation as variable modifications; precursor and fragment mass tolerance was set to 20

parts per million (PPM). These were imported in MaxQuant which uses m/z and retention time (RT) values to align each run against each other sample with a minute window match-between-run function and 20 mins overall sliding window using a clustering-based technique. These were further queried against the mouse proteome including isoforms downloaded from Uniprot (8) in 2021 along with MaxQuant's internal contaminants database using Andromeda built into MaxQuant. Both protein and peptide identifications false discovery rate (FDR) was set to 1%, only unique peptides with high confidence were used for final protein group identification. Peak abundances were extracted by integrating the area under the peak curve. Each protein group abundance was normalized by the total abundance of all identified peptides for each run and protein by calculated median summing all unique and razor peptide-ion abundances for each protein using label-free quantification (LFQ) algorithm (9) with minimum peptides \geq 1. LFQ values for all samples were log-transformed with base 2. A correlation heatmap using R package pheatmap (10) was created using these transformed LFO values and an outlier was removed. The rest of the values representing each condition were subjected to twosided Student's t-Tests (11) as implemented in R(12) in order to check the consistency of change. The amount of change was estimated by subtracting the median of these values representing each group (log2 median change). Directionality of the change is encoded within the sign of log2 median change whereby a negative sign reflecting decreased and a positive sign reflecting the increased expression of the respective protein group. Further, to estimate the false-discovery rate (FDR), the T-test p-values were corrected using the Benjamini-Hochberg procedure (13). Differentially expressed (DE) protein groups were identified at FDR<0.1 and absolute log2 median change >1.5. The DE quantified only in one group were checked if their coefficient-of-variation of log2medianchange was within 5%. The Uniprot accession IDs of these DE were mapped to a volcano-plot using R package ggplot2 (14). Volcano plots represented in the figures were drawn using the EnhancedVolcano R package (v 1.0.1), and the cut off was set to log2 median change ± 1.5 and the corrected T-test p-value of < 0.05. log2 median change is represented as log2FoldChange throughout the paper.Functional enrichment analyses of all differentially expressed proteins were performed similar as for the transcriptome data.

Quantitative real-time PCR

cDNA was synthesized from 500 ng total RNA by High-Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit (Invitrogen, #4368814). Quantitative real-time PCR (RT-PCR) was performed in 20 μ l reactions containing 10 μ l of 2X QuantiTect SYBR Green PCR master mix (Qiagen), 2 μ l 10X QuantiTect Primer Assay and 8 μ l of the sample containing 4 ng of cDNA. Primers are specified under Primer section. RT-PCR was performed on the StepOne plus system (Applied Biosystems) using the following cycling conditions: 95°C for 15 min, 40 cycles of 94°C for 15 sec, 55°C for 30 sec and 72°C for 30 sec. Relative gene expression levels were calculated with the 2^(- $\Delta\Delta$ CT) method. Transcripts were normalized to *Actb* for mouse and *RNA18SN5* for human cell lines.

Primers

QuantiTect Primer Assays were purchased from Qiagen: Mm_Actb_2_SG (QT01136772), Hs_IFIT3_1_SG (QT00100030), Mm_Cxcl10_1_SG (QT00093436), Mm_Tmem173_2_SG (QT01045618, for Sting). The following primers were purchased from Merck: mDloop1 Fw (AATCTACCATCCTCCGTGAAACC), Rev (TCAGTTTAGCTACCCCCAAGTTTAA); mDloop2 (CCCTTCCCCATTTGGTCT), Rev Fw (TGGTTTCACGGAGGATGG); mCOX1 Fw (GCCCCAGATATAGCATTCCC), Rev (GCCCCAGATATAGCATTCCC); m18SrRNA Fw (TAGAGGGACAAGTGGCGTTC), Rev (CGCTGAGCCAGTCAGTGT); mTert Fw (CTAGCTCATGTGTCAAGACCCTCTT), Rev (GCCAGCACGTTTCTCTCGTT); h18srRNA Fw (GTAACCCGTTGAACCCCATT), Rev (CCATCCAATCGGTAGTAGCG).

Immunoblotting

Protein concentration was measured at 595 nm using BioRad protein assay dye reagent (Bio-Rad, #500-0006). Equal amounts of proteins (50µg) were run on Invitrogen NuPAGE Bis-Tris protein gels, transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes using iBlot dry blotting system, blocked in Intercept (TBS) blocking buffer (Li-Cor, mixed 1:1 with TBS containing 0.1% Tween 20 (TBST), and probed with antibodies as listed under antibodies section. Membranes were scanned and analyzed using an Odyssey CLx Infrared Imaging System and Image Studio v3.1 and v5.2 (Li-Cor). For normalization we used either Revert 700 total protein stain (Li-Cor) or antibody against ERK1/2.

Antibodies

The following antibodies were diluted in Intercept blocking buffer/TBST-mix 1:1 and used for immunoblotting: CXCL10 (Abcam, #ab9938, 1:1000), CCl5/RANTES (E9S2K) (Cell Signaling Technology (CST), #36467,1:1000). IRF7 (CST), #72073,1:1000), pIRF3 (CST, #29047,1:1000), STING/TMEM173 (D2P2F) (CST, #13647, 1:1000), pTBK1-Ser172 (CST, #D52C2, 1:1000), ERK1/2 (CST, #9107S, 1:2000) or IFIT3 (E-10) (Santa Cruz Biotechnology #sc-393396,1:500). Proteins of interest were detected with near-infrared fluorescent secondary antibodies (Li-Cor; IRDye 800CW and IRDye 680CW diluted 1:10 000 and 1:20 000, respectively, in Intercept blocking buffer/TBS-mix 1:1 (no Tween)).

Immunofluorescence

Cells were grown on high precision cover glass (thickness 0.17 ± 0.005 mm; Marienfeld) until desired confluency, then fixed with ice cold methanol (10-15 min at -20 °C) and permeabilized with 0.05% saponin in PBS for 5 min at room temperature (RT). Cells were then stained with the following antibodies to detect cGAS and Lamin A: rabbit anti-human cGAS (D1D3G) (Cell Signaling #15102; 1:100), rabbit anti-mouse cGAS (D3080) (Cell Signaling #31659; 1:500), mouse anti-Lamin A (abcam #ab8980;1:100), donkey anti-mouse Alexa Fluor 568 (Molecular Probes #A10037; 1:500), and donkey

anti-rabbit Alexa Fluor 488 (Jackson #711605152; 1:500). Primary and secondary antibodies were diluted in PBS containing 0.05% saponin and incubated for 1-2 h at RT for primary and 30min-1h for secondary antibodies. After antibody staining, the samples were mounted on microscope slides (Menzel–Glaser) with Mowiol (Sigma Aldrich #81381) containing 10 µg/ml Hoechst 33342 (Invitrogen #H3570) and kept in the dark and in a cold room until imaged. For quantifications, cells were imaged on a Nikon ECLIPSE Ti2-E inverted microscope (Nikon Corp, Tokyo, Japan) equipped with a CSU-W1 dual spinning disc (50 µm pinholes & 50 µm pinholes with microlenses) confocal unit (Yokogawa Electric Corp, Tokyo, Japan), a Prime BSI sCMOS camera (Teledyne Photometrics, Tucson, AZ, US), a laser unit with 405/488/561/638nm lasers (120/100/100mW), and BrightLine single-band bandpass filters (447/60nm, 525/50nm, 600/52nm, 708/75nm). ROI were randomly selected and Zstacks with sectioning of 0.6 μ m were collected with a 40X Plan Apo λ objective (NA 0.95, Air). The total number of cells was assessed by segmentation of nuclei using NIS-Elements AR (Nikon) and then the fraction of micronucleated cells and cGAS positive micronuclei were scored. More than1000 cells were counted for each experiment. Representative images were taken at Zeiss LSM 780 confocal microscope a laser diode 405–430 CW (405 nm), a DPSS-561 10 (561 nm), and (Argon laser (488 nm). The objective used was a Zeiss plan-apochromat $\times 63/1.40$ oil DIC M27.

Analysis of mitochondrial membrane potential:

The cells were cultured until 80% confluency, and then stained with 200nM of tetramethylrhodamine, ethyl ester, perchlorate (TMRE, Invitrogen) and 300nM Mitotracker Green (MTG, Invitrogen) for 30 minutes at 37°C. The cells were harvested by trypsinization, and then stained with Fixable viability stain 780 (FVD, Invitrogen, 1:1000 in PBS) for 30 min on ice. The cells were washed twice and resuspended in FACS buffer (PBS with 2% FCS and 0.2 mM EDTA) and run on a BD LSR II flow cytometer in biological and technical triplicates recording 50,000 events per well. The fcs files were analyzed in FlowJo10.2 software. Cell gates were set after the exclusion of duplets and dead cells, followed by gating on TMRE and MTG positive cells. Mitochondrial abundance and mitochondrial membrane potential (MMP) was measured with median fluorescence intensity (MFI) of MTG and TMRE, respectively. The MFI of TMRE was normalized to MFI of MTG to determine the mitochondrial activity of the total mitochondria present within each cell population.

Detection of mitochondrial reactive oxygen species

The cells were cultured until 80% confluency, and then stained with 5µM of MitoSOX[™] Red mitochondrial superoxide indicator (Invitrogen) for 1 hour at 37°C. The cells were harvested by trypsinization, washed twice in PBS and stained with Fixable viability stain 780 (FVD, Invitrogen, 1:1000) for 30 mins on ice. The cells were washed twice and resuspended in FACS buffer (PBS with 2% FCS and 0.2 mM EDTA) and run on a BD LSR II flow cytometer in biological quadruplicates and technical triplicates recording 50,000 events per well. The fcs files were anlayzed in FlowJo 10.2

software. Cell gates were set after the exclusion of duplets and dead cells, followed by gating on MitoSOX positive cells. The percentage of cells positive for MitoSOX was used to determine the mitochondrial ROS within each cell population.

Detection of total and cytosolic mtDNA

The cells were cultured in 6-well plates until 80% confluency was achieved. For isolation of cytosolic DNA, cells were washed once in PBS, scraped and lysed on ice using 100 µl 0.1% NP-40, transferred to eppendorf tubes and incubated for 15-20 min on ice, and centrifuged at $16,000 \times \text{g}$ for 20 min at 4°C (15). The supernatants were transferred to new tubes and stored at -80°C until isolation of DNA. For isolation of total cellular DNA, the cells were harvested by trypsinization, centrifuged at $340 \times g$ for 5 min, the supernatants were removed and the pellets were stored at -80°C until isolation of total (nuclear, mitochondrial and cytosolic) DNA. All DNA samples were isolated by QIAamp DNA mini kit (#51306). To avoid clogging of the columns, we used only half of the sample material for the isolation procedures. For isolation of total DNA, the cell pellets were dissolved in 185 µl of PBS, the exact final volume was determined, half of this was removed and kept as backup while the remaining was adjusted up to 200 µl with PBS. The further protocol including proteinase K (20 µl), AL-lysis buffer (200 µl) and ethanol (200 μ l) was as described by the manufacturer, and the samples were eluted with 200 μ l water. For isolation of cytosolic DNA, the exact sample volumes were determined, half was removed and kept as backup while the remaining was adjusted up to 100 µl with 1% NP-40 lysis buffer. To get samples as comparable as possible to the samples used for isolation of total DNA, we added PBS (200 μ l), AL-lysis buffer (100 μ l) and ethanol (200 μ l) before proceeding as described by the manufacturer and eluting in 200 µl water. Quantitative PCR was performed on equal volumes of all DNA samples from both cell lines using primers specific for mitochondrial DNA (COX1, Dloop1, Dloop2) and nuclear DNA (18S rRNA and Tert) (primer sequences above under primer section). Using this extraction protocol, nuclear DNA was present only in very low amounts in the cytosolic fraction (CTvalues for 18S rRNA ranging from 29.8 - 31.4 and Tert from 29.8 to undetermined), indicating that nuclear rupture occurred at minimum. The relative abundance of both total and cytosolic mtDNA was calculated relative to the non-metastatic cell line 67NR (see explanation below).

Calculations used on qPCR data to determine content of mitochondrial DNA in total and cytosolic DNA

The following calculations were done, based on (16) with small adjustments:

For total DNA \rightarrow

 $\Delta CT_{tot} = CT$ (mitochondrial primer) – CT (nuclear primer = 18S rRNA or Tert) (to relate the amount of mitochondrial DNA in the total DNA to cell numbers)

Average ΔCT_{tot} = average of ΔCT_{tot} values obtained for the total DNA from your sample (67NR and 66cl4)

 $\Delta\Delta CT_{tot} = \Delta CT_{tot}$ (for your sample of interest; 67NR or 66cl4) - average ΔCT_{tot} 67NR (to evaluate if there is a difference in mitochondrial DNA per cell in total DNA from 66cl4 as compared to 67NR) Relative abundance of mitochondrial DNA in the total DNA sample = $2^{\Lambda(-\Delta\Delta CT_{tot})}$

For cytosolic DNA \rightarrow

Here the average ΔCT_{tot} for each cell type (see above) is included in the calculations.

 $\Delta CT_{cyt} = CT$ (mitochondrial primer; 67NR or 66cl4) – average ΔCT_{tot} (for 67NR or 66cl4) (the amount of mitochondrial DNA in cytosolic DNA from each cell line is related to the total amount of mitochondrial DNA per cell for that particular cell line)

Average ΔCT_{cyt} = average of ΔCT_{cyt} values obtained for the reference sample = 67NR

 $\Delta\Delta CT_{cyt} = \Delta CT$ (for your sample of interest; cyt DNA 67NR or 66cl4) – average ΔCT_{cyt} 67NR (to evaluate if there is a difference in mitochondrial DNA per cell in cytosolic DNA from 66cl4 as compared to 67NR)

Relative abundance of mitochondrial DNA in the cytosolic DNA sample = $2^{(-\Delta\Delta CT_{cyt})}$

Use of public databases

Kaplan-Meier plotter (17) is an online database that utilizes data from multiple cDNA microarrays for examining prognostic markers in several cancer types, including breast cancer (18, 19). Relapse-free survival (RFS) and overall survival (OS) of IFN-I markers were analyzed in estrogen receptor (ER) positive (ER positive subtype), ER-negative, progesterone receptor (PR)-negative and human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) negative (Triple negative breast cancer (TNBC) subtype and HER2 enriched subtype (ER negative, PR negative, Her2 positive) (20). A set off 11 IFN-I genes were analyzed using the mean expression of 11 different trancripts. Broad Institute Cancer Cell Line Encyclopedia (CCLE), (https://portals.broadinstitute.org/ccle) (21) was used for gene expression analysis in human breast cancer cell lines.cBioPortal (22) is an open access database that allows visualization and analysis of large-scale cancer genomics data sets(23, 24).Gene exepression (mRNA expression) data were used to identify the correlation between expression of various genes within the Molecular taxonomy of breast cancer international consortium (METABRIC) cohort (25-28).

REFERENCES

1. von Nandelstadh P, Gucciardo E, Lohi J, Li R, Sugiyama N, Carpen O, et al. Actin-associated protein palladin promotes tumor cell invasion by linking extracellular matrix degradation to cell cytoskeleton. Mol Biol Cell. 2014;25(17):2556-70.

2. Sugiyama N, Gucciardo E, Tatti O, Varjosalo M, Hyytiainen M, Gstaiger M, et al. EphA2 cleavage by MT1-MMP triggers single cancer cell invasion via homotypic cell repulsion. J Cell Biol. 2013;201(3):467-84.

3. Neckmann U, Wolowczyk C, Hall M, Almaas E, Ren J, Zhao S, et al. GREM1 is associated with metastasis and predicts poor prognosis in ER-negative breast cancer patients. Cell Commun Signal. 2019;17(1):140.

4. Love MI, Huber W, Anders S. Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNA-seq data with DESeq2. Genome Biol. 2014;15(12):550.

5. Yu G, Wang LG, Han Y, He QY. clusterProfiler: an R package for comparing biological themes among gene clusters. OMICS. 2012;16(5):284-7.

6. Tyanova S, Temu T, Cox J. The MaxQuant computational platform for mass spectrometrybased shotgun proteomics. Nat Protoc. 2016;11(12):2301-19.

7. Geiszler DJ, Kong AT, Avtonomov DM, Yu F, Leprevost FDV, Nesvizhskii AI. PTM-Shepherd: Analysis and Summarization of Post-Translational and Chemical Modifications From Open Search Results. Mol Cell Proteomics. 2021;20:100018.

8. UniProt. UniProtKB - H3BJL3 (H3BJL3_MOUSE): Uniprot; 2021 [Available from: (https://www.uniprot.org/proteomes/UP000000589.

9. Cox J, Hein MY, Luber CA, Paron I, Nagaraj N, Mann M. Accurate proteome-wide label-free quantification by delayed normalization and maximal peptide ratio extraction, termed MaxLFQ. Mol Cell Proteomics. 2014;13(9):2513-26.

10. pheatmap: Pretty Heatmaps [Available from: https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/pheatmap/index.html.

11. Student. The Probable Error of a Mean. Biometrika. 1908;6(1):1-25.

12. project R. The R Project for Statistical Computing [Available from: https://www.r-project.org/.

13. Hochberg YBaY. Controlling the False Discovery Rate: A Practical and Powerful Approach to Multiple Testing: Wiley for the Royal Statistical Society, Journal of the Royal Statistical Society. Series B (Methodological); 1995 [Available from: https://www.jstor.org/stable/2346101.

14. Wickham H. ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis: SpringerLink; 2009 [Available from: https://www.springer.com/gp/book/9780387981413.

15. Bronner DN, O'Riordan MX. Measurement of Mitochondrial DNA Release in Response to ER Stress. Bio Protoc. 2016;6(12).

16. Bryant JD, Lei Y, VanPortfliet JJ, Winters AD, West AP. Assessing Mitochondrial DNA Release into the Cytosol and Subsequent Activation of Innate Immune-related Pathways in Mammalian Cells. Curr Protoc. 2022;2(2):e372.

17.kmplot.com.2019[Availablefrom:https://kmplot.com/analysis/index.php?p=service&cancer=breast.from:

18. Lanczky A, Nagy A, Bottai G, Munkacsy G, Szabo A, Santarpia L, et al. miRpower: a web-tool to validate survival-associated miRNAs utilizing expression data from 2178 breast cancer patients. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2016;160(3):439-46.

19. Gyorffy B, Lanczky A, Eklund AC, Denkert C, Budczies J, Li Q, et al. An online survival analysis tool to rapidly assess the effect of 22,277 genes on breast cancer prognosis using microarray data of 1,809 patients. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2010;123(3):725-31.

20. Plotter K-M. Kaplan-Meier Plotter 2019 [Available from: https://kmplot.com/analysis/index.php?p=service.

21. Ghandi M, Huang FW, Jane-Valbuena J, Kryukov GV, Lo CC, McDonald ER, 3rd, et al. Nextgeneration characterization of the Cancer Cell Line Encyclopedia. Nature. 2019;569(7757):503-8. 22. cBioPortal. cBioPortal.org 2019 [Available from: http://www.cbioportal.org.

23. Cerami E, Gao J, Dogrusoz U, Gross BE, Sumer SO, Aksoy BA, et al. The cBio cancer genomics portal: an open platform for exploring multidimensional cancer genomics data. Cancer Discov. 2012;2(5):401-4.

24. Gao J, Aksoy BA, Dogrusoz U, Dresdner G, Gross B, Sumer SO, et al. Integrative analysis of complex cancer genomics and clinical profiles using the cBioPortal. Sci Signal. 2013;6(269):pl1.

25. Curtis C, Shah SP, Chin SF, Turashvili G, Rueda OM, Dunning MJ, et al. The genomic and transcriptomic architecture of 2,000 breast tumours reveals novel subgroups. Nature. 2012;486(7403):346-52.

26. Pereira B, Chin SF, Rueda OM, Vollan HK, Provenzano E, Bardwell HA, et al. The somatic mutation profiles of 2,433 breast cancers refines their genomic and transcriptomic landscapes. Nat Commun. 2016;7:11479.

 Rueda OM, Sammut SJ, Seoane JA, Chin SF, Caswell-Jin JL, Callari M, et al. Dynamics of breastcancer relapse reveal late-recurring ER-positive genomic subgroups. Nature. 2019;567(7748):399-404.
cbioportal. Metabric cohort: Cbioportal; 2021 [Available from: https://www.cbioportal.org/results.

Paper II

Local arginine restriction dampens IFN-I response via autophagy in breast cancer

Lamsal Apsana^{1,2}, Andersen Sonja Benedikte^{1,2}, Vietri Marina^{3,4}, Johansson Ida^{1,2}, Engedal Nikolai⁵, Bjørkøy Geir^{1,2}, Giambelluca Miriam S^{6,7‡}, Pettersen Kristine^{1,2‡}.

 Department of Biomedical Laboratory Science, Faculty of Natural Sciences, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway

2) Centre of Molecular Inflammation Research and Department of Cancer Research and Molecular Medicine, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway

 Centre for Cancer Cell Reprogramming, Institute of Clinical Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo, Montebello, Oslo, Norway

 Department of Molecular Cell Biology, Institute for Cancer Research, Oslo University Hospital, Montebello, Oslo, Norway

5) Institute for Cancer Research, Department of Tumor Biology, Oslo University Hospital, Montebello, Oslo, Norway

 Department of Circulation and Medical Imaging, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway.

7) Department of Clinical Medicine, Faculty of Health Science, UiT- The Arctic University of Norway

‡) corresponding authors:Kristine Pettersen

Phone: +47-73412192

E-mail address: kristine.pettersen@ntnu.no

Miriam Giambelluca

Phone: +47-72884316

E-mail address: miriam.giambelluca@ntnu.no

This paper is awaiting publication and is not included in NTNU Open

Paper III
A role of Arginase-1-expressing myeloid cells in cachexia

Lamsal Apsana^{1,2}, Andersen Sonja Benedikte^{1,2}, Nonstad Unni², Bjørkøy Geir^{1,2}, Pettersen Kristine^{1,2};

- 1) Department of Biomedical Laboratory Science, Faculty of Natural Sciences, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway
- Centre of Molecular Inflammation Research and Department of Cancer Research and Molecular Medicine, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway

[‡]) corresponding author
Kristine Pettersen
Phone: +47-73412192
E-mail address: kristine.pettersen@ntnu.no

This paper is awaiting publication and is not included in NTNU Open



ISBN 978-82-326-7080-2 (printed ver.) ISBN 978-82-326-7079-6 (electronic ver.) ISSN 1503-8181 (printed ver.) ISSN 2703-8084 (online ver.)

